
     Town of Camden  
        Select Board  

June 17, 2025 –  
French Conference Room 

 
Select Board meetings are  

 web streamed at: www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine 
For those wishing to participate remotely, please click the link below to join the zoom meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82053577680 
 

 
Call to Order  
 

1. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items  
 
2. Approval of Board Minutes –May 20, 2025 & June 3, 2025 

 
3. Presentation – Harbor Resiliency 

 
4. Select Board Reports   
 
5. Town Manager’s Report   
 
6. Action Items  

a) Set a Date for a Select Board Training and Goal Setting Workshop  
b) Approval of Agreement with Northeast Mobile Health Services for Emergency Medical 

Services 
c) Approval of Order for 39 Main Street – Dangerous Building 

 
7. Adjournment 

 

http://www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82053577680


 
Camden Select Board 1 
Minutes of Meeting 2 

May 20, 2025 3 
 4 

PRESENT: Vice Chair Christopher Nolan, Alison McKellar, Ken Gross, Town Manager Audra 5 
Caler. 6 
 7 
ABSENT: Susan Dorr and Tom Hedstrom 8 
 9 
Please go to  http://www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine to view the entire meeting 10 
or the video recording minute marks in these minutes to hear full discussion.  Please note 11 
MRS Title 1, §403 Record of meetings  only requires recording of attendance of members 12 
and actions of the Board.  The statute also states that video and audio recordings of public 13 
meetings satisfies the requirement, should any conflict arise between these minutes and 14 
the video record, the video record is considered the official public record.  15 
 16 
Vice Chair Nolan called the meeting to order. (Minute Mark 0:59) 17 
 18 
The Select Board meeting began with a tribute to three deceased community members: Ed 19 
Doudera, Tom Quantrell, and Marlene Libby, followed by a dedication of the town's annual 20 
report to Elaine Davis, a long-time resident for her decades of volunteer service 21 
 22 
1. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items –(Minute Mark 11:56) 23 
 No public comment 24 
 25 

McKellar moved, Gross seconded to approve both sets of minutes as written. The 26 
motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 27 

 28 
2. Public Hearings: (New Owners require a public hearing for first 5 years) 29 

(Minute Mark 12:58) 30 
  31 

a) Barren’s Restaurant at 2 Wayfarer Drive for a renewal Class A Restaurant Liquor 32 
License 33 

b) Camden Charcuterie at 56 Elm Street, Unit A for a new Class A Restaurant Liquor 34 
License 35 

c) Peter Ott’s (new owners) at 16 Bay View Landing for a new Class A Restaurant Liquor 36 
License 37 

d) Salt Wharf at 3 Wayfarer Drive for a renewal Class A Restaurant Liquor License 38 
e) Villager Café at 25 Mechanic Street for a new Class A Restaurant Liquor License 39 
 40 
Nolan opened for public hearing for any opponents and proponents. 41 
 42 
Dale Turk from Lincolnville introduced himself as the new owner of Peter Ott’s and hoping 43 
to take the business to the next level. 44 
 45 

 Gross moved; McKellar seconded to approve the liquor licenses listed above.  The 46 
motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 47 

 48 
4. Consent Agenda (Minute Mark 15:52) 49 

a)  Approval of renewal Victualer & Lodging Licenses:  Blue Barren, Camden Charcuterie, 50 
Camden Cone, Cedar Crest Inn, Fresh Restaurant, Harbor Dogs, Norumbega Inn, Paper 51 
Plane, Peter Ott’s, Salt Wharf, Swan House 52 

b) Approval of Camden Hills Regional High Schools March Thru Town on Monday, June 53 

http://www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine
https://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/1/title1sec403.html
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=49
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=718
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=774
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=941
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2nd at 5:30 pm 54 
 55 

Adopted 56 
 57 

5. Select Board Reports (Minute Mark 17:00) 58 
 No Reports  59 
 60 
6. Town Manager’s Report  (Minute Mark 17:10)  61 
 The Steamboat Landing reconstruction is now complete and is more storm-resilient, with 62 

new cement planks and floats in place. Town reports are available, including the dedication 63 
to Elaine Davis, and offer useful background for voting. The May newsletter provides brief 64 
summaries of all warrant articles for voter reference and is available on the 65 
communications page on the  town website and you can also contact Communications 66 
Coordinator Holly Anderson to sign up to receive the newsletters electronically. 67 
 68 

7) Discussion Items (Minute Mark 19:05) 69 
a) Sagamore Farm Solar Buyout & Expansion 70 
 Manager Caler noted in 2017, Camden entered a power purchase agreement with 71 

ReVision Energy for a solar array at Sagamore Farm. After about 6–7 years, the town 72 
now has the option to buy out the array, becoming its owner and using the generated 73 
electricity to offset municipal power costs. A group of residents has researched the 74 
buyout and is also exploring the potential expansion of the solar array to increase 75 
benefits to the town. 76 

 77 
 Paul Stancioff – Camden resident and part of CamdenCan recommends Camden buy 78 

out the Sagamore Farm solar array for ~$200K, offering a strong return and full 79 
payback in ~6 years through energy savings. They also suggest retiring renewable 80 
energy credits (RECs) to support local emissions reduction. Timely action is urged due 81 
to potential changes in federal incentives. 82 

 83 
 Select Board Vice Chair and Town Manager brought this forward to revisit the solar 84 

array buyout. While initial funding via the Tree Conservation Fund raised concerns, 85 
alternative funding (Energy Conservation Reserve Fund or unassigned balance) is 86 
viable. Expansion can be pursued later; the current focus is timely buyout approval by 87 
June 15 to secure terms. A detailed summary and financial memo will be prepared for 88 
public review by May 30, ahead of a potential June 3 vote. 89 

 90 
8. Action Items 91 

a) Daysailer Request to Permanently Switch License: Sloop Heritage to Sloop Inherit 92 
the Wind (Minute Mark 52:31) 93 

 Manager Caler explained that Jeff Beck, owner of Sloop Heritage, needed repairs 94 
done to his boat and temporarily operated Inherit the Wind under his existing license 95 
while those repairs were underway. The repairs turned out to be more complicated 96 
and expensive than expected, so he’s now reached an agreement with the owner of 97 
Inherit the Wind to permanently transfer his operating license to that vessel. 98 

 99 
 Harbormaster Pixley noted this vessel is the same size and type as the previous one, 100 

operated by the same person.  No new applicants are pending, and ordinance gives 101 
preference to existing license holders. The situation mirrors a past precedent with 102 
the Lazy Jack boats and that raised no controversy. 103 

 104 

https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=1018
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=1031
https://www.camdenmaine.gov/communications.php
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=1143
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=3151
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 McKellar moved, Gross seconded to approve the daysailer request to 105 
permanently switch license: Sloop Heritage to Sloop Inherit the Wind.  The 106 
motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 107 

 108 
b) Approval of new Police Cruiser (Minute Mark 55:44) 109 
 Chief Gagne requested Select Board approval to purchase a 2025 Ford SUV gas 110 

hybrid police cruiser for $47,358. The cruiser would replace a high-mileage 2019 111 
Dodge Charger and help modernize the fleet, which includes several older vehicles. 112 
The department has $60,000 in the cruiser reserve fund, built up over two years. 113 

 The hybrid was chosen for its fuel efficiency and reduced idling, essential for police 114 
operations. Fully electric options are not viable yet due to battery limitations. The 115 
cruiser is available immediately from a trusted dealer, and purchasing before July 1 116 
avoids potential price increases or delays. 117 

 118 
 Gross moved, McKellar seconded to approve the purchase of a 2025 Ford SUV 119 

gas hybrid police cruiser not to exceed $60,000 to be taken from the Police 120 
Cruiser Reserve Fund.  The motion passed on 3-0-0. 121 

 122 
c) Approval of 39 Main Street Dangerous Building Order (Video Recording Minute 123 

Mark 1:06:49) 124 
 39 Main Street Interim Order Update 125 
 Jeremy Martin reported the board on the Lacouture’s fulfilled the requirements 126 

(items A–H) from a prior interim order following two hearings. Most items, including 127 
insurance, structural and electrical assessments, DOT communication, and 128 
wastewater inspections, were completed satisfactorily. However, item H—proof of 129 
financial capacity—did not meet the specified format (e.g., no irrevocable letter of 130 
credit or construction bond), though some financial evidence was submitted. The 131 
board will now determine if all requirements were adequately met before discussing 132 
the next steps for the project’s timeline. progress on the Select Board’s interim order. 133 

 134 
 Amy and David Lacouture reported that the propane line runs under the sidewalk, 135 

not beneath the building, and is monitored by the JLP system. A review of the 136 
wastewater system confirmed the sewer lateral was replaced in 1997 and is 137 
functioning properly. She addressed and corrected earlier inaccurate claims about 138 
shared systems and safety risks, presenting evidence to dispute the buildings 139 
previously described level of danger. 140 

 141 
 Next Steps for the Lacouture’s for 39 Main Street Repairs 142 

Board discussion:  The Lacouture’s need to provide in writing an assessment plan 143 
from Thornton Tomasetti  contractor stating the current structural stability of the 144 
building and the urgency level of repairs needed, particularly for the eastern pier, 145 
increase the financial guarantee from $168,000 to $200,000 through First National 146 
Bank as required by the Select Board, submit complete engineering plans with 147 
sequencing and implementation details by July 1st, work with Sebago Technics and 148 
Thornton Tomasetti to develop a specific plan for dewatering and protecting the river 149 
during the temporary pier stabilization, apply for and obtain Zoning Board of 150 
Appeals variance due to substantial improvement requirements in the flood zone, 151 
obtain required permits from DEP and Army Corps of Engineers, including shoreline 152 
zoning and floodplain permits and submit erosion control plan following DEP 153 
requirements for the temporary repair work. 154 

 155 

https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=3343
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=4016
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=4016
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 156 
 McKellar moved, Gross seconded to table the Interim Order until June 17th 157 

Board meeting, based on all criteria is met from tonight’s Board discussion.  158 
The motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote.  159 

 160 
d) Confirmation of Alternate Code Enforcement Officer Andrew Lowe (Minute Mark 161 

3:33:33) 162 
 The alternate code enforcement officer and plumbing inspector will provide coverage 163 

when the Camden’s regular officers are unavailable. 164 
 165 
 Gross moved, McKellar seconded to confirm the Town Manager’s appointment 166 

of Andrew Lowe as Alternate Code Enforcement Officer and Plumbing 167 
Inspector.  The motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 168 

 169 
e) Approval of FY 26 Wastewater Budget (Minute Mark 3:35:32) 170 
 McKellar moved, Gross seconded to approve the FY 26 Wastewater Budget.  171 

The motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 172 
 173 
f) Approval of Wastewater Agreement w/ Rockport (Minute Mark 3:35:37) 174 
 McKellar moved, Gross seconded to approve the Wastewater Agreement with 175 

the Town of Rockport.  The motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 176 
 177 
9. Adjournment (Minute Mark 3:48:20) 178 
 Approximately 10:10 pm McKellar moved, Gross seconded to adjourn the meeting.  179 

The motion passed on a 3-0-0 vote. 180 
 181 

https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=12809
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=12809
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=12927
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=13060
https://youtu.be/V6YnsDUEhPQ?t=13693
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June 3, 2025 3 
 4 
PRESENT: Chair Susan Dorr, Vice Christopher Nolan, Alison McKellar, Ken Gross and Town 5 
Manager Audra Caler 6 
 7 
ABSENT: Tom Hedstrom 8 
 9 
Please go to  http://www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine to view the entire meeting 10 
or the video recording minute marks in these minutes to hear full discussion.  Please note 11 
MRS Title 1, §403 Record of meetings  only requires recording of attendance of members 12 
and actions of the Board.  The statute also states that video and audio recordings of public 13 
meetings satisfies the requirement, should any conflict arise between these minutes and 14 
the video record, the video record is considered the official public record.  15 
 16 
Chair Dorr called the meeting to order. 17 
 18 
1. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items: (Video Recording Minute Mark 0:24) 19 

No Public Comment 20 

2. Consent Agenda (Video Recording Minute Mark 0:32) 21 
a) Confirmation of new library trustee, Will Dailey of Camden 22 
b) Approval of renewal Victualer & Lodging Licenses: 40 Paper, Blackberry Inn, Camden 23 

Deli, Camden Windward House, Captain Swift Inn, Inn at Camden Place, Lyman Morse 24 
Boatbuilding, and Timbercliffe Cottage Inn 25 

 26 
 Nolan raised a question about Quarry Hill; it was on the consent agenda memo but not on 27 

the agenda.  It was determined that Quarry Hill was left on the consent agenda memo in 28 
error they are not due until October, they submitted a little early. 29 

 30 
 McKellar moved, Nolan seconded to approve the renewal victualer & lodging licenses 31 

except for Quarry Hill (Anderson Inn).  The motion passed on a 4-0-0 vote. 32 
  33 
3. Select Board Reports (Video Recording Minute Mark 4:36) 34 
 35 
 McKellar reported that the digging at the transfer station has begun to replace the YMCA's 36 

aging sewer line, which runs under the site and connects to Camden’s sewer system. The 37 
line was sagging and needed attention. It’s one of the longest private laterals in the area 38 
and may need replacement again in 20 years. 39 

 40 
 We went back to the consent agenda to confirm the new library trustee, Will Dailey.  41 

ADOPTED 42 
 43 
4. Town Manager’s Report (Video Recording Minute Mark 7:02) 44 

Town Manager provided some updates including the fire department received a $50K grant 45 
for paramedic training and will be inspected June 11; Hope Fire Department plans to 46 
launch a responder program by July 1. Public Works completed seawall repairs and is 47 
preparing for Rawson Ave. Bridge work. Parks & Recreation is installing a rope tow for the 48 
tubing hill; trail planning continues Ragged Mountain. Absentee voting ended June 5; 49 
voting day is June 10th at the public safety building from 8 am to 8 pm. The new pine tree 50 

http://www.youtube.com/TownofCamdenMaine
https://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/1/title1sec403.html
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=38
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=71
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=283
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=424
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license plates are being issued.  A Celebration of Life for our beloved town employee 51 
Marlene Libby is set for June 20th at the Snow Bowl, the town office will be closing at noon 52 
so that employees may attend.  Harbor work and expanded paid parking are underway; 60 53 
short-term rental licenses have been issued. 54 

5. Discussion Items (Video Recording Minute Mark 25:24) 55 
a) Update on Gould Street and Molyneaux Road Projects 56 

 The Board and Manager discussed updates on two major infrastructure projects: the 57 
Molyneaux Road sewer extension and the Gould Street improvements. The Molyneaux 58 
Road project is in the contractor mobilization phase with surveying of residents' septic 59 
systems underway, while Gould Street construction will begin at the end of the week and 60 
include new sidewalks, a crosswalk, and stormwater system upgrades 61 

 62 
6. Action Items (Video Recording Minute Mark 36:07) 63 

a) Sagamore Farm Solar Buyout  64 
 The select board discussed purchasing the Sagamore Farm Solar system, with Jeremy 65 

Martin reporting that a qualified person was willing to perform the inspection for a 66 
reasonable price. McKellar raised concerns about making the inspection a contingency 67 
part of the purchase agreement, noting that the system was being sold "as is" with all 68 
faults. Town Attorney Kelly explained that the town manager would have discretion to 69 
reject the deal if the inspection revealed significant issues. 70 

 71 
 Gross moved, McKellar seconded to move forward and approve the purchase and 72 

sale agreement for the Sagamore Farm Solar buyout without a contingency 73 
inspection.  The motion passed on a 4-0-0 vote. 74 

 75 
b) Curtis Island MOA (Video Recording Minute Mark 53:57) 76 
 The Board discussed a memorandum of agreement with the Curtis Island Lighthouse 77 

Foundation for a $150,000 roof repair project at the lightkeeper's house, with Rockport 78 
Building Partners as contractors. The foundation will raise funds and transfer them to 79 
the town, who will pay the contractor. The agreement includes a 6-month deadline for 80 
entering a contract once funds are available, though the actual work can extend beyond 81 
this period. The foundation requested to see Exhibit A, which will specify the scope of 82 
work and materials, before signing the agreement, and the Town Attorney and Town 83 
Manager will be providing Exhibit A along with the contractor. 84 

 85 
 Gross moved, Nolan seconded to move forward to approve the memorandum of 86 

agreement with Curtis Island Lighthouse Foundation pending the addition of 87 
Exhibit A, the Foundation will be paying Rockport Building Partners LLC to repair 88 
the Lightkeeper House, and the estimated cost is $150,000.  The motion passed 89 
on a 4-0-0 vote. 90 

 91 
c) Approval of FY26 Snow Bowl Budget (Video Recording Minute Mark 1:10:29) 92 
 Jeff Nathan reported a record $1.3 million in revenue last season, though season pass 93 

sales reached only 83% of the target. For FY26, he projected a 5% increase to $1.35 94 
million and requested a $236,000 town subsidy. Key budget items include an 8% 95 
increase in personnel costs, $80,000 for maintenance, $20,000 for new rental 96 
equipment (offset by lower tuning costs), and plans to replace the rental trailer ($10,000 97 
for demolition, $50,000 for new construction, with additional funding needed). 98 

https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=1530
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=2272
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=3222
https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=4236
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 Pricing proposals include a $6 increase in adult season passes, a 20% discount for 99 
Camden residents, and 15% early bird discounts based on prior year sales trends. Day 100 
ticket prices would also rise, but online rates would remain equal to or lower than in-101 
person prices to encourage digital sales and reduce expenses. 102 

 103 
 The Board supported the proposed budget and fee structure, recognizing the $174,000 104 

in community value from the family season pass. Nathan emphasized improving access 105 
through a proposed income-based pricing model and better administration of 106 
scholarship programs. They also discussed equipment affordability as a barrier and 107 
ways to address it. 108 

 109 
 A revenue discrepancy was clarified by Nathan resulting from previously unaccounted 110 

revenue sources. The Board reviewed the Snow Bowl’s transition from an enterprise 111 
fund to a special revenue fund and discussed the challenge of balancing operations with 112 
public benefit. Both Nathan and the Town Manager suggested restructuring full-time 113 
staff allocations between the general fund and Snow Bowl to enhance year-round use. 114 
The  115 

  116 
 Nolan moved, McKellar seconded to approve the FY26 Snow Bowl Budget.  The 117 

motion passed on a 4-0-0 vote. 118 
 119 

 120 
7. Adjournment (Video Recording Minute Mark 1:43:07) 121 
 McKellar moved, Nolan seconded to adjourn.  The motion passed on a 4-0-0 vote. 122 

 123 
 124 
 125 

https://youtu.be/smFSEYqkVNk?t=6193


 

 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
To: Select Board 

From: Jeremy P. Martin, Planning and Development Director 

Date: June 12, 2025 

Re: Harbor Resiliency Project 
 

 

 

Following the devasting storms of December 2023 and January 2024, the town transitioned grants that we 
had initially received to develop resilient plans for the public landing to a broader more comprehensive 
harbor-wide resiliency plan. The grant funding came from a Climate Action Grant from the State’s 
Community Resilience Partnership and the Department of Marine Resources Shore and Habor Planning 
Grant Program. The project included a vulnerability assessment of the entire inner harbor as well as the 
development of an alternative analysis took-kit that can be used to address these vulnerabilities, and to 
make harbor properties more resilient to sea level rise, storm surge and flooding. 

 
Following many months of work that included numerous stakeholder and community meetings the 
project has been completed, and the final report has been issued. The final report and links to the 
videos of the meetings are posted on the town’s website and can be accessed at the following link:  
Harbor Resiliency Planning Project 

 

Blake Sanborn, Camden resident and Landscape Architect at Richardson and Associates, the lead 
consultant for the project will present a brief summary of the project and the project’s deliverables. 

https://www.camdenmaine.gov/departments/planning___code_enforcement/harbor_resiliency_planning_project.php


 

Memo 
To: Camden Select Board 

Cc: Camden Department Heads  

From: Town Manager – Audra Caler 

Date: June 17, 2025 

Re: 2025 Town Meeting Results: Implementation & Next Steps  

  
 
The purpose of this memo is to summarize implementation/next steps of all warrant articles approved by 
voters at the 2025 Annual Town Meeting.   
 
Article 3: Zoning Code Amendment (Chapter 290)  – Allow Boden Cottage to increase the number of beds in 
their residential treatment facility from 12 to 18. 
 
Implementation: Changes take effect immediately and will be reflected in Camden’s Code of Ordinances (in 
eCode 360) by the end of the month.   
 
Article 4: Zoning Code Amendment (Chapter 290) – Clarifies that an Accessory Apartment must meet a 
minimum size of one-hundred and ninety square feet, as per the Maine Technical Building Codes and 
Standards Board. 
 
Implementation: Changes take effect immediately and will be reflected in Camden’s Code of Ordinances (in 
eCode 360) by the end of the month. 
 
Article 5: Pesticides and Herbicides Code Amendment (Chapter 194) – Revises requirements for notice 
licensed applicators must provide when applying pesticides, and excludes Phosphorus (P205) free fertilization 
applications that meet or exceed ANSI (American National Standards Institute), which permit organic 
applications.  
 
Implementation: Changes take effect immediately and will be reflected in Camden’s Code of Ordinances (in 
eCode 360) by the end of the month. 
 
Article 6: Acceptance of deed from the “Pleasant Ridge Homeowners Association” for the stormwater 
detention pond and surrounding greenspace. 
 



 
Implementation: Town Attorney is preparing a deed and will work with the Please Ridge HOA to transfer the 
property to Town ownership. 
 
Article 7: Removal of the Montgomery Dam and spillway.  Authorizes the town to remove the Montgomery 
Dam and spillway, as per the recommendation of the Megunticook River Citizens Advisory Committee, on the 
conditions that the project is funded with only non-property tax based revenue sources and any portion of the 
project that impacts Harbor Park is subject to the approval of the Library Board of Trustees. 
 
Implementation: Currently finalizing design packets through the current NFWF grant, which is scheduled to be 
complete by June 30th.  A small group from the Town and Library Board of Trustees should be convened to work 
through final design details for both the dam removal and seawall adaptation.  The Town is currently  waiting 
on decisions for two construction grants.  We area also waiting to receive notification if we have been invited 
to submit a final proposal to NFWF for the construction phase. 
 
Article 8: Authorizes the purchase of a fire truck to replace Engine 5, with the first payment due in FY28. 
 
Implementation: The Fire Chief is working with the vendor to put in an order for a replacement to Engine 5.  
Payment will not be due until delivery in FY28. 
 
Article 9: Appropriates $350,000 to replace the gable end wall (window wall) of the Snow Bowl lodge. 
 
Implementation: The Parks & Recreation Director (SB General Manager) is working with the Town’s Architect 
on specifications for the replacement of the window wall and have contacted three window manufactures for 
quotes.  Will reach out to contractors to determine the final price and a schedule to complete the work.  
 
Article 10: Approves the acceptance of a quitclaim deed to obtain ownership of 58 Elm Street, otherwise 
known as the Elm Street School. 
Article 11: Should Article 10 be approved, authorizes the Select Board to enter into a Lease agreement with 
the Children’s House Montessori School with a three years notice. 
 
Implementation: Currently working the Children’s House Montessori School to draft a lease agreement.  We 
are expecting the agreement to be ready for Select Board approval at the July 8th meeting. 
 
Article 12: Approves the acceptance of a permanent easement from the Mountainside Community 
Cooperative at 53 Mountainside Park, for the Town to have access and install public sewer infrastructure 
including a pump station building with a wet well and a generator. 
 
Implementation: The Town Attorney is currently preparing a deed and other supporting documents, and we 
will be working the Mountainside Community Cooperative to finalize the agreement.   
 
Article 13: Approves the acceptance of a quitclaim deed for 21 Cobb Hill Road and lot 102 of tax map 115, for 
$30,000. 
 
Implementation: I have reached out to the property owner to organize the payment and transfer of the 
property.  The Town Attorney will prepare the deed and supporting paperwork. 
 



 
Article 14: Sets October 15 and April 15 as the due dates for taxes, and fixes the interest rate on unpaid taxes 
at 8%. 
Article 15: Allows for pre-payment of taxes, but does not require the Town to pay interest on pre-paid taxes.   
Article 16: Authorizes the Select Board to accept gifts and grants. 
Article 17: Authorizes the Select Board to sell tax acquired property with the exception of the Tannery. 
Article 18: Authorizes the Select Board and Town Manager to dispose of personal property pursuant to the 
Town’s Purchasing Regulations. 
Article 19: Authorizes the Select Board to transfer no more than 10% of the unexpended balances from any 
budgetary category to another. 
 
Implementation: Articles 14-19 are annual procedural items.  Amending the Charter to include these as 
financial procedures may be worth consideration so that voters do not need to approve them on an annual 
basis. 
 
Article 20: Authorizes the appropriation of $236,000 from the General Fund to subsidize operations of the 
Camden Snow Bowl. 
 
Implementation: The Snowl Bowl Special Revenue Fund will begin FY26 with $236,000, which allows the fee 
schedule adopted in May of 2025 to go into effect. 
 
Article 21: Appropriates funds from non-property tax revenue sources to be used to reduce the property tax 
commitment. 
 
Implementation: The Select Board will need to authorize the borrowing approved by voters for the public 
safety building renovations, purchase of public works trucks, and the town office HVAC replacement. 
 
Final decisions will need to be made on the use of TIF funds for public restrooms and/or renovations of the 
former chamber of commerce building.   
 
Article 22: Approval of the FY24 Municipal Budget.  Voters will be asked to approve the bottom-line number 
recommended by the Select Board.  The recommendations of the both the Select Board and Budget 
Committee will appear on the ballot. 
 
Implementation: Ongoing throughout FY26. 



 

Serving since 1847.            Atlantic Engine Company No. 2                    “We come to save.” 

Camden Fire & Rescue 

31 Washington Street 
PO Box 1207                                           
Camden, Maine 04843                           
207.236.7950                                         
cfarley@camdenmaine.gov 

 
 
To: Camden Select Board 
 
From: Chris Farley, Fire Chief 
 
Date: June 13, 2025 
 
Reference: Emergency Medical Services 
 
Earlier this week we met with North East Mobile Health Services (NEMHS) Chief Executive Officer Rick 
Petrie and Rockport base manager Cory Major along with Hope Town Administrator Samantha Mank and 
Lincolnville Town Administrator David Kinney. We reviewed the proposed Agreement By and Between 
Inhabitants of the Town of Camden and NEMHS for Emergency Medical Services. Our consensus is that 
the Agreement will meet the needs of Camden, Hope and Lincolnville in the delivery of emergency 
medical services. This agreement includes the proposal as discussed during the FY26 budget process for 
Camden Fire and NEMHS to work collaboratively in the delivery of these services. With the approval of 
the Agreement, NEMHS will begin housing an ambulance at the Camden Public Safety Building beginning 
July 1, 2025. The Operational Plan is in progress with a meeting scheduled for June 18, 2025 with a 
representative of the Knox County Regional Communications Center to finalize that aspect of the plan.  
 
We recommend the Select Board authorize the Town Manager to sign the agreement with NEMHS. 
 
Additional good news with Emergency Medical Services, we learned this week that Firefighter/EMTs 
Andrew Skrivanich and Noah Carlson have been accepted to the Paramedic education program at 
United Training Center in Lewiston. They will begin this education process in September 2025. We will be 
able to utilize the $50,000 EMS Sustainability Grant from the Maine Office of EMS to cover the expenses 
of this education. Having two additional Paramedics employed by the Town of Camden will improve our 
ability to provide emergency medical services. Once they have completed their training, we will have 3 
Paramedics employed. These are significant strides in improving the services the Camden Fire 
Department provides for the residents and visitors of our community. We appreciate the widespread 
community support in making these enhancements.  



 
 
 
 
 

 
Agreement 

By and Between Inhabitants of the Town of Camden 

And 
North East Mobile Health Services 

For 
Emergency Medical Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2  

Preamble 
This Agreement entered into on the 1st day of July, 2025 by and between the Inhabitants of the Town 
of Camden, Maine, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of Maine, located in 
the County of Knox, State of Maine (hereinafter known as the “TOWN”) and North East Mobile Health 
Services, a Maine business corporation with a mailing address of 9 Willey Rd , Saco, Maine 04072, 
located in the County of York, State of Maine (hereinafter known as “NEMHS”) with a base location in 
Rockport, Maine. 

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN wishes to continue to engage NEMHS to provide emergency medical and 
transport services to the TOWN in association with the towns of Hope and Lincolnville (hereinafter 
referred to as the “three-towns”); and 

 
WHEREAS, NEMHS wishes to provide the aforementioned services; 

 
NOW, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained in this Agreement, it is hereby 
agreed as follows: 

 
Section I. General Conditions 

 
A. Term 

This Agreement shall be in force for a period of three (3) years commencing on July 1, 
2025 and ending on June 30, 2028, unless earlier terminated by either party in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement. The TOWN may elect to renew this Agreement for an 
additional period of one or more years provided that (a) the parties are able to agree on a 
contract price for the renewal term, and (b) the TOWN provides NEMHS with written notice 
of its election to renew at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the then current 
contract term. 

 
B. Service 

Commencing at 12:01 a.m. on July 1, 2025, and continuing on for the duration of this 
Agreement, NEMHS agrees to provide Emergency Medical Services (EMS) within the 
territorial limits of the TOWN whenever requested, for the entire term of the Agreement. All 
services provided by NEMHS shall be consistent with prevailing professional standards in 
the emergency medical services community in Mid-Coast Maine and as established by the 
Maine Office of Emergency Medical Services (“Maine EMS”) as well as those specified in this 
agreement. Transportation of patients will be to the hospital deemed most appropriate 
based on the needs of the patient and consistent with Maine EMS protocols. Whenever 
practical and reasonable to do so, the patient’s choice of hospitals will be honored. 

 
Section II. Emergency Medical Services and Performance Requirements 

A. Ambulance Service 

NEMHS shall provide Advanced Life Support and Basic Life Support (ALS & BLS-Paramedic) 
emergency ambulance services at the request of the Town twenty-four (24) hours daily, 
seven (7) days a week. 

 
Basic Life Support is defined as calls dispatched with the “ALPHA” (A), “BRAVO” (B), and 
“OMEGA” (O) determinant codes and Advanced Life Support is defined as calls dispatched 
with the “ECHO” (E), “DELTA” (D), and “CHARLIE” (C), determinant codes. 
All persons needing service shall be served without regard to place of residence, financial 
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condition, medical insurance coverage or type of ailment or injury suffered. 
 

B. Other Services 

NEMHS shall also provide the following services and training as required: 
(1) First Aid Training 
(2) Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Training 
(3) Stop the Bleed Training 

 
C. Response Level 

NEMHS shall or shall cause an immediate response for emergency medical services with a 
paramedic staffed vehicle for 95% of ALS calls as defined above. Response Level will be 
measured by combining the response level for all three towns. 

 
As per Section VIII NEMHS shall have mutual aid agreements in place in the event NEMHS 
cannot immediately respond to any call for emergency service. 

D. Penalties for Insufficient Response Levels 

NEMHS will pay the following penalties for failure to meet the response level performance 
standards identified in section II. C. within the quarterly reporting period. The following 
penalties are a total quarterly amount to be paid to the three towns as a whole. When a 
penalty is assessed, a review Committee made up of the Administrator from each town and 
the NEMHS CEO or their designees will determine how the penalty will be divided to each 
town. 

 
Paramedic 
Response Rate 

Penalty 

95% - 93% $5,000 
92% - 89% $10,000 
88% - 84% $15,000 
83% - 79% $20,000 
78% - 74% $25,000 
73% - 68% $30,000 
67% - 62% $35,000 
61% - 56% $40,000 
55% -50% $45,000 
Less than 50% $50,000 

E. Average Response Time Performance Requirements 

"Response Time" is defined as the total time from when the call is dispatched by Knox County 
Regional Communication Center to NEMHS to the time NEMHS’s ambulance arrives at the 
incident. Average Response time for the TOWN will be Twelve (12) minutes. 

 
F. Response Time Penalties 

If NEMHS fails to meet response time performance standards within the quarterly 
reporting period and the Review Committee does not grant an exception to the delay, 
NEMHS shall pay the following penalties to the town in which the response time was not met: 
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Average Response 

Time (Minutes) 

Penalty 

12:01 to 12:30 $2,500 

12:31 to 13:00 $5,000 

13:01 to 13:30 $7,000 

13:31 to 14:00 $8,000 

14:01 to 14:30 $9,000 

Greater than 14:30 $10,000 

Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit any remedies, including termination, 
provided for in this Agreement with respect to any nonperformance, breach or default 
by NEMHS. 

 
If mitigating circumstances arise that contribute to high average response times NEMHS 
can request the Review Committee to determine whether there were acceptable 
mitigating circumstances that caused or significantly contributed to a high average 
response time. If the Committee approves the mitigating circumstances, the call shall not 
be included when averaging quarterly response times. Mitigating circumstances 
include, but are not limited to, severe weather conditions, disasters, or unusual periods 
of very high demand upon the system due to, for example, multiple casualty incidents. 
Mitigating circumstances also include the wrong address provided to NEMHS by KRCC or 
unavoidable delay caused by unreported road construction. 

 
G. Appeal of Response Level and Response Time Penalties 

Within thirty (30) days of receipt, NEMHS may request, in writing, reconsideration of 
penalties set forth in Section II.D. and response time penalties set forth in Section II.F. 

The Review Committee, in their discretion can either deny review, uphold the response 
time penalties, or overturn or change the penalties after review. The ruling by the Review 
Committee shall be final. 

 
H. Special Events 

 
NEMHS shall cooperate with the Towns in developing and implementing operations 
plans for special events. 

 
I. Ambulance Standby 

At the request of the Emergency Operation Directors for the three towns, NEMHS will 
provide standby service at a disaster, major fire incident, special weapons and tactics 
(SWAT) operation or other emergency incident at no cost. 

 
If an incident requires more standby ambulance units than it can provide, NEMHS shall 
call for additional ambulances including, when necessary, from other ambulance service 
providers in the region. 
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J. Disaster Planning 

NEMHS shall actively participate in disaster planning and exercises as requested by the 
three towns. 

 
Section III. Fees and Contract Price 

A. Fees 

NEMHS agrees that it will charge a reasonable fee consistent with local industry 
standards for EMS services rendered within the TOWN and that it will bill the patient, or 
such other person as may be responsible for the patient. NEMHS further agrees that it 
will bill the patient’s third-party payor(s), if any, including Medicare, MaineCare, private 
insurance or any other payor. The TOWN shall not be responsible for any payment or 
collection of a patient’s bill. 

 
B. Contract Price 

The Town of Camden has agreed to enter into shared staffing model to assist in the 
delivery of Emergency Medical Services in an attempt to control costs and develop a more 
efficient regionalization model. The Agreement between the TOWN and NEMHS for this 
shared staffing model is a separate document and reference in this contract. 

In consideration for the services rendered to the TOWN pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement, in keeping with the terms of the shared staffing agreement, NEMHS shall 
charge and the TOWN agrees to pay an annual subsidy (contract price) to NEMHS as 
follows: 

12-hour per day, 7 days per week shared staffing model 
 

 
Town 

 
Census 

2025-26 
NEMHS 
Contract 

2026-27 
NEMHS 
Contract 

2027-28 
NEMHS 
Contract 

Camden 5232 $447,087.93 $464,971.44 $483,570.30 
Lincolnville 2,312 $197,566.27 $205,468.92 $213,687.68 
Hope 1698 $145,098.49 $150,902.43 $156,938.53 

Total 9,242 $789,752.80 $821,342.79 $854,196.51 
 

24-hour per day, 7 days per week shared staffing model 
 

 
Town 

 
Census 

2025-26 
NEMHS 
Contract 

2026-27 
NEMHS 
Contract 

2027-28 
NEMHS 
Contract 

Camden 5232 $365,143.56 $379,749.30 $394,939.27 
Lincolnville 2,312 $161,355.49 $167,809.71 $174,522.10 
Hope 1698 $118,504.16 $123,244.33 $128,174.10 

Total 9,242 $645,003.21 $670,803.34 $697,635.47 
 
  
 Fees will be based on the staffing model that is in place at the beginning of the quarter. 
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Payments of the contract price may be made in equal quarterly payments that shall be 
due and payable on July 30th, October 30th, January 30th and April 30th of each year. 

 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the parties agree 
that the contract price is payable by the TOWN from appropriations made each year at 
the Town Meeting. In the event that an insufficient amount to fund NEMHS under this 
Agreement is appropriated at the TOWN MEETING or REFERENDUM, this Agreement 
may be terminated by the Select Board without further obligation on behalf of the TOWN. 
In such event the Select Board shall certify in writing to NEMHS that sufficient funds are 
not available to fund the TOWN’S obligation under this Agreement, and such certification 
shall be binding and conclusive with respect to both parties. In the event that sufficient 
funds are not available, NEMHS, in its discretion, may discontinue providing services 
under this Agreement within sixty (60) days following certification of insufficient funds 
by the TOWN. 

Section IV. Agreement Administration, Reporting & Monitoring 

A. Representatives 

The TOWN shall at all times under this Agreement act through its Town 
Manager/Administrator, as designated by the Select Board, and NEMHS shall at all times 
act through its Chief/CEO or Deputy Chief/COO or such other officer identified to the 
TOWN by NEMHS as having sufficient authority. 

B. Reporting, response time, mutual aid, and paramedic response 

1. Town officials will work with NEMHS officials to obtain effective data reports from Knox 
Regional Communications Center (KRCC) on which to base reports from NEMHS to the 
towns. 

2. General response times are decreasingly considered a factor in patient outcome, being 
replaced by specific time-dependent condition review mechanisms and other measures. 

3. Nonetheless, response times have been a local focus of performance and should be 
maintained as previously utilized for reporting and penalty assessment for the extent of the 
contract years with the following provisions: 

a. The data collection, reporting and penalty assessment mechanisms herein reflect 
the structure previously adopted such that the data collected and reported 
captures both the reported time that NEMHS is notified and the time a NEMHS unit 
arrives on the scene. Nevertheless, the time from when a NEMHS unit is enroute to 
the time the NEMHS unit arrives on scene will continue to be reported for historical 
comparison purposes. 

b. NEMHS shall maintain Maine EMS and KRCC data sources capable 90th percentile 
and 95th percentile response time reporting, and response reporting by the 
emergency medical dispatch (EMD) coding system currently in use, except that 
“Omega” calls which are generally community paramedic or other non-emergency 
calls, shall be considered Basic Life Support (BLS). These should include at least the 
following call tracking characteristics: 

i. The time that the 9-1-1 call is received. (if easily reportable from KRCC) 
ii. The time that NEMHS was notified. 

iii. The time that NEMHS was enroute. 
iv. The time that NEMHS arrived on scene. 
v. The time that patient contact is made – as reasonably possible under the 

circumstances. 
vi. The time that NEMHS began transporting 

vii. The time that NEMHS arrived at the hospital or other destination. 
viii. A list of calls exceeding 95th percentile. 
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c. NEMHS will continue to report on Paramedic coverage on advanced life support 
calls, using current definitions, except for Omega calls as redefined above in 
subsection 3 and in Section II(A). 

d. NEMHS, with their Medical Director, and conferring with Town, shall establish a 
set of data collection/reporting mechanisms that augment, and eventually become 
primary reporting tools, including consideration of: 

i. Data reporting participation in GAMUT. 
ii. Participation in the CARES registry. 

iii. A mechanism for patient satisfaction measurement and reporting. 
iv. A mechanism for notification, routing, responding to, and reporting 

complaints. 
v. Maintain bundled advanced life support quality reporting, including but 

not limited to: 
• Aspirin administration for chest pain. 
• 12-Lead ECG for chest pain. 
• STEMI and code-stroke notifications. 
• On scene times with stroke. 
• Sepsis fluid administration. 

e. During the contract period, NEMHS shall perform a gap analysis and draft an action 
plan seeking accreditation by a nationally recognized ambulance service 
accrediting agency such as the Commission for the Accreditation of Ambulance 
Services or similar agency or organization acceptable to the Town. 

 
4. NEMHS will provide the following quarterly reports to the Town and the Review 

Committee by the end of the month, one month after each quarter (October, January, April 
and July) 

a. NEMHS shall report quarterly on Response Level of ALS calls for each town. 
Compliance will be measured by combining response levels for all three towns 
and taking into account the criteria and requirements referenced above. 

b. NEMHS shall report quarterly on Average Response Times for each town. 
Notwithstanding this requirement, NEMHS shall develop a mechanism to replace 
mean average reporting with 90th percentile-based reporting and penalties. This 
mechanism should emphasize mitigation incentives over penalties and should 
reflect zone-based and patient-condition-based considerations over general 
response times.  

c. NEMHS will report on the use or provision of mutual aid, any training 
activities conducted for TOWN employees and/or volunteers and any major 
upgrades to communications and/or equipment. 

d. Upon request, NEMHS will provide an update regarding EMS performance to 
the TOWN at a Select Board meeting. NEMHS shall also submit an annual 
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report of all EMS activities within the TOWN for inclusion in the Annual Town 
Report. 

e. In addition, any serious incident, such as a death during a response, while on 
scene or during a transport, will be reported by NEMHS to the Town’s 
Representative within 24 hours. 

C. Review Committee  

1. A review Committee will be formed made up of the Town Administrator and Fire Chief or their 
designee when applicable from each participating Town, as well as the NEMHS CEO and Base 
supervisor.  

2.  The review Committee will review Response Level and Response Time performance 
quarterly and evaluate whether changes are necessary. The review committee 
understand that topics discussed in these meetings may be confidential and protected. 
Any Protected Health Information that may be discussed must only be used for the 
purpose of these meetings and may not be used, discussed or disseminated outside of 
the meetings. 

D. Operational Supervision – Rockport Base Supervision will include: 

1. Effective lines of communication with the Town, Town and or County public safety 
officials, and other officials that allows access to base supervisory and NEMHS 
administration officials as appropriate to need. 

 
2. A dedicated Base Manager/Supervisor who is qualified as a paramedic and who has 

supervisory experience. Furthermore: 
a. Said Base Manager/Supervisor shall maintain regular communications with 

Town Public Safety, Knox Regional Communications Center (KRCC) and other 
officials to maintain effective operations and resolve issues that may arise in a 
timely manner. 

b. Said Base Manager/Supervisor will be a full-time position and have on duty 
availability. 

c. Contact information for the Base Manager/Supervisor shall be provided to 
county dispatch and Public Safety officials. 

d. NEMHS will further designate a back-up, who may be a service administrator 
and who is on-call only when the Base Manager is temporarily unavailable. 

e. NEMHS will further consult with Town fire chiefs, or other designated Town 
officials, and local NEMHS medical director on the hiring or designation of the 
Base Manager/Supervisor. NEMHS has ultimate decision making on hiring 
the Base Manager. 

3. NEMHS will further designate a Medical Director for the Rockport Base Operation, 
who will: 

i. Oversee the clinical performance quality review process. 
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ii. Participate in the regular training linked to the quality review process. 
iii. Participate in regular meetings with town and state/regional EMS officials as 

required by NEMHS and these contracts.  
 

E. Operations and Processes 

1. Leadership Communications 
a. The NEMHS Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or Chief Operating Officer (COO), or 

designee during a prolonged absence, will respond to contacts from Town 
managers/administrators within a reasonably immediate timeframe and, when the 
inquiry involves a determination or investigation of information requiring a matter 
of days or more, will report on progress periodically and will acknowledge in 
writing when the CEO or COO considers the inquiry to be resolved. 

b. The Rockport Base Manager/supervisor, or designee during vacation, illness or 
similar duty- relief absence, will respond to contacts from town officials in the 
same manner as subsection 1(A) above of this Section E. 

c. The Town managers, or their designee during a prolonged absence, will respond to 
contacts from NEMHS CEO or COO in the same manner as defined in 1(A) above. 

d. The Rockport Base Manager/supervisor will contact or meet with designated Town 
on an individual or group basis at least once per month to discuss the status of 
EMS response and to plan initiatives or operational details of mutual interest. 

2. Reporting 
a. Response time reports will include mean averages (as a basis for any penalties 

assessed as is current practice), 90th percentile response, and 95th percentile 
response. These reports will be discussed at the quarterly EMS Performance 
Committee meeting. 

b. Calls exceeding the 95th percentile response time will be reviewed by NEMHS 
quality review process and NEMHS will make recommendations for mitigation. 
These calls will then be brought to the quarterly EMS Performance Committee 
meeting with said report or recommendations on actions taken or needed to 
mitigate such response issues. 

c. Calls on which a Paramedic was required to be in attendance, but was not, will be 
reviewed by the NEMHS quality review process and recommendations will be made 
by NEMHS for mitigation. These will then be brought to the quarterly EMS 
Performance Committee meeting with said report or recommendations on actions 
taken or needed to mitigate such response issues. 

3. Communications 
a. NEMHS will establish effective standard operating guidelines for: 

i. Use of MedComm and KCRR in call dispatch and tracking. 
ii. Use of MedComm in managing interfacility transport requests. 

iii. Use of the “I am Responding” application in Knox County. 
4. Assistance with three-town First Responder Service 

a. NEMHS agrees to participate and assist, as needed, with the continued operation 
and development of the first responder service; and to assist with developing 
standard operating procedures around how the 2 services will integrate 
around items such as; 

i. Dispatch Procedures and Protocols. 
ii. Integration of Clinical Care. 

iii. Education and Quality Improvement. 
iv. Use and replacement of clinical disposables used for patient care. 
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Section V. Personnel 
A. Certification of Personnel 

NEMHS represents that all ambulance personnel have successfully completed authorized 
training courses at their respective license levels and are duly licensed to practice by 
Maine EMS. 

 
All personnel are required to maintain current certification in cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation through the successful completion of American Heart Association CPR 
training programs, and to successfully complete either an AVOC (Ambulance Vehicle 
Operators Course) or an approved EVOC (Emergency Vehicle Operators Course). 

 
Paramedics are required to successfully complete an American Heart Association course 
in Advanced Cardiac Life Support. 

 
B. Employee Training & Professional Development 

Though not required of all personnel, NEMHS regularly makes available a number of 
nationally recognized programs such as PHTLS (Prehospital Trauma Life Support), 
AMLS (Advanced Medical Life Support), PEPP (Pediatric Education for Prehospital 
Professionals) and the Maine EMS PIFT (Paramedic Inter-Facility Transport) program 
to its personnel. Such programs are integral parts of NEMHS’S comprehensive 
program of continuing education. 

 
C. Ambulance Driver Training 

In addition to the foregoing, all personnel who operate NEMHS vehicles must meet the 
standards of both NEMHS and its insurance carrier. Driving records of all NEMHS 
applicants are reviewed prior to hire and driving records of all personnel are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis by NEMHS’s insurance carrier to ensure that personnel 
have not received violations or been involved in accidents that would render them 
ineligible to drive NEMHS vehicles under current NEMHS and insurance carrier 
standards. 

 
NEMHS shall provide Ambulance Driver training to all Town Firefighters as requested. 

D. Incident Command System 

NEMHS shall train all its employees assigned to any part of the three-town service area 
on the National Incident Management System (NIMS) within ninety (90) days of the 
Agreement effective date. All employees working in the field will be trained on NIMS IS 
700, NIMS IS 800, NIMS ICS 100 and NIMS ICS 200. Supervisors and managers shall 
also be trained in ICS 300. NEMHS shall provide the TOWN with written verification 
that the training is completed. 

 
NEMHS shall conduct continuing training as needed to maintain proficiency for all 
employees. 

 
Section VI. Communications 

A. Communications with Ambulances 

NEMHS shall maintain twenty-four (24) hours daily, seven (7) days a week direct 
communication between its ambulances at any location within their service area and 
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the Knox County dispatch center. 
 

B. Telephone and Radio Recording 

All telephone lines on which calls for service can be received shall be continuously 
recorded when in use with a time and date stamp. Telephone line recordings shall be 
maintained for one hundred eighty (180) days. 

 
All radio communications are to be recorded with a date and time stamp and 
maintained for one hundred eighty (180) days. 

The TOWN is authorized to have copies of any telephone and radio communications for 
incidents in which Knox County Communications resources are dispatched or should 
have been dispatched in accordance with this Agreement. 

 
C. Two-Way Communications 

NEMHS will, at its own expense, provide for two-way radio communications between its 
units, Knox County Dispatch and the Fire Departments of the three Towns. 

 
If Knox County Dispatch changes two-way radio frequencies during the term of this 
Agreement, the NEMHS is responsible for making necessary modifications at its own 
expense to maintain communications. 

 
D. System Upgrades 

The NEMHS shall cooperate with the TOWN and Knox County Dispatch during planning 
and implementing upgrades and enhancements to communications systems. 

 
Section VII. Quality Assurance 

A. Rules and Standards for Quality Improvement 

State and local rules, regulations and standards relating to the operation of ambulances 
shall be met at all times. NEMHS shall follow the Maine State Emergency Medical 
Service (EMS) Protocols / Guidelines / Operating Procedures established by Maine EMS. 

B. Customer Services 

NEMHS will ensure high quality and safe customer service in all aspects of service 
delivery and performance. 

1. Patient Surveys 
NEMHS shall randomly conduct patient satisfaction surveys on at least 5 
percent of all patients transported in a given contract year. Surveys must be 
evenly spaced throughout the year. An annual report shall be provided to the 
TOWN within thirty (30) days of the end of each year. 

The TOWN shall pre-approve the survey form and reserves the right to review 
completed individual surveys received by NEMHS. 

 
2. Inquiries and Complaints 

NEMHS shall provide prompt written responses and follow-up to inquiries and 
complaints. Such responses shall be subject to the limitations imposed by 
patient confidentiality restrictions. 
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By the 15th day of each calendar month, NEMHS shall provide the TOWN with 
a list of all complaints received regarding services provided and their 
respective dispositions. Copies of such complaints will be made available to the 
TOWN upon request. 

 
Any complaint received by the TOWN shall be forwarded to NEMHS for action 
and NEMHS shall advise the disposition of the incident to the TOWN within 
twenty-one (21) days of receipt. 

 
C. Protection of Patient Information. 

Each Party agrees to comply with the Health Information Technology for Economic and 
Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH ACT”), the Administrative Simplification 
Provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 
(“HIPAA”) and any current and future regulations promulgated under the HITECH Act 
or HIPAA, including without limitation the federal privacy regulations contained in 45 
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, the federal security standards contained in 45 C.F.R. Parts 
160, 162 and 164, and the federal standards for electronic transactions contained in 45 
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 162, all as amended from time to time and collectively referred to 
herein as the “HIPAA Requirements.” Each Party agrees not to use or further disclose 
any “Protected Health Information,” including “Electronic Protected Health 
Information,” as such terms are defined in the HIPAA Requirements, other than as 
permitted by the HIPAA requirements and the terms of this Agreement. Each Party will 
make its internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of 
Protected Health Information available to the Secretary of Health and Human Services 
to the extent required for determining compliance with the HIPAA Requirements. 

 
Section VIII Mutual Aid 

 
A. Mutual Aid 

NEMHS shall obtain mutual aid from outside sources as may be necessary to ensure 
NEMHS’ ability to provide appropriate EMS coverage under those circumstances when 
NEMHS is unable to do so with its own vehicles and staff. In these circumstances where 
NEMHS utilizes mutual aid, NEMHS shall be responsible for bearing all associated costs. 

 
NEMHS will only utilize mutual aid assistance from services that are duly licensed and 
authorized by Maine EMS to provide emergency medical services. 

 
NEMHS shall be responsible for setting a rate to provide mutual aid to neighboring 
communities as requested. 

Section IX. Liability 

A. Hold Harmless 

No liability shall attach to the TOWN for entering into this Agreement or because of any 
act or omission of NEMHS except as expressly provided herein. 

 
B. Third Party Claims 

The contract and relationship between the parties, whether or not specified 
contractually, may expose the TOWN to third party liability claims in connection with 
the exercise of its government functions. It is recognized that undertaking referral, 
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dispatch and related functions by the TOWN as anticipated by this Agreement may result 
in a claim or the finding of a special relationship between the TOWN and a third-party 
requesting emergency assistance or other ambulance service which may give rise to 
TOWN or NEMHS liability. All insurance coverage and the promise of indemnification 
by NEMHS shall specifically include liability and indemnification protection for any and 
all third-party claims, direct or indirect, against the TOWN, and their officers, agents and 
employees except where such third-party claims are related to TOWN negligence or 
willful misconduct. 

This Agreement shall not be construed to provide any benefits to any third 
parties. Specifically, and without limiting the foregoing, this Agreement shall not create 
or be construed as creating an exception to the Public Duty Doctrine. 

C. Action by NEMHS Employees 

NEMHS assumes potential liability for actions brought by its own employees against 
NEMHS. Solely for the purpose of this indemnification and defense, NEMHS waives any 
immunity under Maine State workers compensation laws, Title 39-A. 

 
Section X. Insurance 

A. Indemnification 

NEMHS shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the TOWN and its officers, 
employees and agents from and against all claims, damages, losses and expenses 
arising out of or resulting from the negligent performance of work or by intentional 
misconduct of NEMHS, its officers, employees or agents under this Agreement. This 
hold harmless and indemnity agreement shall survive expiration or termination of this 
Agreement and shall include indemnity against all costs, expenses and/or liabilities 
incurred in connection with any such injury, loss or damage or in defense of any claim 
or claims on account thereof. 

B. General Liability 

NEMHS shall keep in effect at all times commercial general liability insurance and 
automotive liability insurance policies, each in an amount not less than $2,000,000. 
Worker compensation liability insurance in at least the statutory amount, as amended 
from time to time (including occupational disease provisions for all employees); and 
EMT and paramedic professional liability insurance coverage in an amount no less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate. 

 
All such insurance policies shall name the TOWN, its officers, employees and agents as 
additional insureds, except that for the purpose of Worker’s compensation insurance, 
NEMHS may provide a written waiver of subrogation rights against the TOWN. NEMHS, 
prior to the commencement of work under this Agreement shall deliver to the TOWN 
certificates evidencing such insurance coverages, which certificates shall state that 
NEMHS must provide written notice to the TOWN at least thirty (30) days prior to 
cancellation, non-renewal, material modification or expiration of any policies, evidenced 
by return receipt of United States Certified Mail. Replacement certificates shall be 
delivered to the TOWN prior to the effective date of cancellation, termination, material 
modification or expiration of any such insurance policy. 

 



14  

NEMHS shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has obtained all 
insurance coverages required under this section and all such insurance certificates have 
been delivered to and approved by the TOWN. If at any time insurance coverage for 
NEMHS, as required herein, is suspended or terminated, NEMHS shall immediately notify 
the TOWN, and NEMHS shall immediately request mutual aid which must be approved 
by the TOWN, and NEMHS shall pay any cost incurred by the TOWN for said mutual aid. 
If insurance coverage for NEMHS is not reinstated within forty-eight (48) hours, the 
TOWN may immediately terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion. 

 
NEMHS and its employees and agents, during the performance of this Agreement, act as 
independent contractors in all respects and not as officers or employees of the TOWN. 
NEMHS and its employees and agents, during the performance of this Agreement shall 
not hold themselves out as employees of the TOWN. Any personnel needed to fulfill the 
obligations of this Agreement shall be employed by NEMHS which shall be wholly 
responsible for complying with applicable state and federal laws, including, but not 
limited to Worker’s compensation and minimum wage. As an independent contractor, 
NEMHS is also responsible for maintaining its equipment in a safe, operable and legal 
condition. 

 
Section XI. Compliance with Agreement 

A. Non-Compliance with Agreement (Violation) 

The TOWN may issue Notices of Contract Violation and assess liquidated damages for 
failure of NEMHS to comply with a term or condition of this Agreement. Section XI 
liquidated damages do not apply to response time or Response Level liquidated damages. 
Response time liquidated damages are set forth solely in Section II.N. above. 

B. Liquidated Damages 

In the event the NEMHS fails to meet its service and/or quality obligations under Sections 
IV, V, VI, VII, VIII or X, the itemized liquidated damages shall apply. Liquidated damages 
established herein have been determined based on the estimated damages that will 
occur to the TOWN in the event NEMHS fails to comply with the contractual conditions. 
The TOWN and the citizens it serve require qualified and timely ambulance services and 
it will be difficult, if not impossible, to precisely prove the amount of damages when such 
services are not provided consistent with the terms of this Agreement. NEMHS agrees 
and recognizes that the liquidated damage amounts specified herein are a reasonable 
estimate of the damages the TOWN will incur. Nothing in this Section shall be construed 
to limit any remedies, including termination, provided for herein with respect to any 
nonperformance, breach, or default by NEMHS. 

 
Liquidated Damages shall be: 

1. First Violation: Notice of Contract Violation and/or Liquidated Damages up to 
$1,000. 

2. Second Violation: Liquidated Damages not to exceed $3,000 
3. Three or More Violations: Liquidated Damages not to exceed $5,000 for each 

violation. 
 

Depending on the nature of the violation, liquidated damages shall be assessed on a daily 
basis for each and every violation. 
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All liquidated damages shall be paid to the TOWN within thirty (30) days after the 
written Notice of Contract Violation issued by the TOWN unless a "Request for Hearing" 
is made. For each additional thirty (30) days for which the liquidated damages are 
unpaid, an additional 100% shall be added to the original damage amount. 

 
No penalty, in part or in whole, paid to the town, will exceed the total subsidy paid by the 
town. This will include penalties for Response Times and Response Level, Section II.D. 
and II.F. as well as Liquidated Damages listed above. 

 
C. Hearing 

The TOWN shall issue a Notice of Contract Violation or liquidated damages which shall 
be served upon NEMHS either in person or by certified mail. The notice shall set a 
hearing date and time at which NEMHS's authorized representative may appear in 
person before the EMS Performance Committee to show cause why the Notice of Contract 
Violation, or liquidated damages should not occur. The EMS Performance Committee shall 
issue a written decision within five (5) business days after the hearing. This decision shall 
be final and binding upon NEMHS. 

 
Section XII. Termination 

 
A. Termination Without Cause 

Neither NEMHS nor the TOWN may terminate this Agreement without cause. 
 

B. Termination for Material Breach 

The TOWN shall notify NEMHS in writing of any failure to meet performance standards. Said 
notice shall set forth in detail the nature of the performance failure so that NEMHS can assess the 
alleged failure and make a reasonable effort to remedy the performance failure. NEMHS, upon 
receipt of a notice alleging a performance failure, shall have thirty (30) days to cure the 
performance deficiency. The TOWN agrees to work with NEMHS in curing the failure if 
requested to do so by NEMHS. In the event that NEMHS fails to cure the performance failure, the 
TOWN may elect to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to NEMHS as set forth below. 

 
This Agreement may be terminated by either party for non-performance upon ninety (90) 
days written notice to the other party. 

 
C. Non-performance 

By NEMHS shall include any material breach of the Agreement including the following: a) 
failure to meet established performance standards; b) failure to maintain State-required 
licenses and certifications; c) failure to reasonably meet established response time 
specifications, or d) failure to meet other agreed upon performance standards in a manner 
that is satisfactory to the EMS Performance Committee, when so recommended by the 
TOWN’S EMS Performance Committee representative(s) and approved by the Select Board of 
the TOWN. 
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Section XIII. Miscellaneous Provisions 

A. Applicable Law 

This Agreement is to be performed under the laws of the State of Maine. For any dispute, 
controversy or claim arising out the terms or conditions of this Agreement, the Parties 
shall resolve the dispute, controversy or claim by Arbitration through a single Arbiter, 
pursuant to the Commercial Rules of the American Arbitration Association, which shall 
be conducted in Knox County, Maine. The prevailing party, as determined by the 
Arbiter, shall be awarded reasonable attorney fees, cost and expenses. 

B. Compliance with Law 

The parties shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations, 
(including but not limited to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute) now or hereafter 
existing, in particular: Title 32, Chapter 2-B: Maine Emergency Medical Services Act 
of 1982. Pertaining to emergency medical care, transportation services and 
ambulance rules and regulations. 

 
C. Non-Discrimination 

The parties shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local non- 
discrimination laws. 

 
D. Consumer Protection 

Unfair, fraudulent or deceptive practices by the parties are prohibited. Conduct of 
business in a manner unfair or unsafe to the public or persons requiring ambulance 
services is prohibited. 

E. Savings Clause 

If any provision of this Agreement is made invalid or unenforceable, such action shall 
not invalidate the entire Agreement. The provisions not made invalid or 
unenforceable shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
F. Provisions to Add a New Local Government 

Participation in, what is currently, the t h r e e  town Cooperative is open to other 
local government units in Knox and Waldo County providing EMS services provided 
(1) the EMS Performance Committee approves the participation of additional 
governmental units, (2) expansion of service for the additional governmental units 
will not unreasonable affect the ability of NEMHS to meet its performance metrics 
and other obligations under the terms of this agreement, (3) the local governmental 
unit executes an agreement similar in scope and service to this Agreement, (4) 
notice is provided to the Town of Camden prior to the execution of said additional 
Agreements and thereafter NEMH shall obtain written permission from the Town, 
provided however, said permission shall not be unreasonably withheld, and (5) any 
new local government agrees to join the t h r e e  town cooperative which includes 
entering to the plan. 
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G. Force Majeure 

The Parties shall be excused for the period of any delay in or impossibility of the 
performance of any obligations hereunder, when prevented from doing so by any cause 
or causes beyond a Party’s control, which shall include, without limitation: any labor 
disputes, civil commotion, war, nuclear disturbances, hostilities, sabotage, terroristic 
acts, governmental regulations or controls, fire, accident or other casualty, interruption 
in the supply of any utilities or fuel, inability to obtain any material or services, or 
through acts of God. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES hereto have caused this Agreement to be 
executed on the day and year set forth herein above. 

 
TOWN OF CAMDEN 

 
BY: 

 
ITS: 

 
DATE: 

 
NORTH EAST MOBILE HEALTH SERVICES 

 
BY: 

 
IT’S: Chief Executive Officer 

DATE: 



 

MEMORANDUM 
To: Select Board 

From: Jeremy P. Martin, Planning and Development Director 

Date: June 12, 2025 

Re: 39 Main Street – Continuation of Public Hearing - Dangerous Building  
  

 
BACKGROUND and OVERVIEW 
In accordance with the 2nd interim order, the Lacoutures have provided new and additional information 
and those documents are included in the Select Board packet.  For your reference, a copy of the 2nd 
Interim Order is also included in the packet.   
 
To address the requirements of the 2nd Interim Order, the Lacoutures have provided a letter from The 
First addressing financial capacity.  Additionally, they have provided an implementation plan prepared 
by their general contractor, Higgins and Son’s, as well as an erosion/sedimentation control plan 
prepared by Ford Enterprises.  Higgins and Ford will be working together to implement the structural 
repairs.    The 2nd Interim Order also required the submittal of “final stamped” engineering plans.  Those 
plans, prepared by the engineering firm, Thorton Tomasetti, have been received and are also included.  
Also included is a submittal prepared by Sebago Techincs that was submitted to the US Army Corps 
of Engineers on behalf of the Lacoutures.    
 
As you will recall, the 2nd Interim Order also contemplated an “immediate” repair of one of the failed 
posts.  After meeting onsite with the Lacoutures, their contractor, engineers (civil and structural) and a 
representative from the Maine Department of Environmental Protection on Wednesday June 11th, it 
was determined that they will not be proceeding with the “immediate” repair of the one post but will 
instead mobilize once and complete all structural repairs at the same time.    The meeting was 
productive and provided needed clarity for all parties regarding permitting with the Maine DEP.   Based 
on the existing conditions, and proposed plans, the Maine DEP has determined that a Permit-by-Rule 
(PBR) is required.  Sebago Technics is currently working on the PBR.    Finally, included with your 
packet is a letter form Thorton Tomasetti regarding the need for an “immediate” repair.   As stated 
above an “immediate” emergency repair is not contemplated at this time, but the Order required a letter 
to be submitted regarding “immediate” repairs and I am providing it as evidence of the Lacoutures 
working to provide all requisite materials contained in the Order.    
 
NEXT STEPS  
The next phase of the hearing is for your acceptance of the materials that have been submitted and, 
possible, final deliberation, which may include acceptance of the remediation plan and a final Order, 
based on the materials submitted.  The Order may include additional conditions and/or deadlines for 
the completion of work.  As stated previously, the Board can provide for Town intervention if the owners 
fail to remediate within the timeframe and/or conditions stipulated in a new Order.     
 













 
Ford Enterprises 

267 Camden Road 
Hope, Maine, 04847 

(207)323-2755 
fordslc@gmail.com 

  
         
         6/4/25 
39 Main Street, Camden 
 

Scope of work to draft a erosion control/dewatering plan related to 
dewatering/deflecting the existing river on the North side of the property, especially 
related to working on the (5) piers on the North side of the building, closest to the water.  
Physical work to include putting 3/4" crushed stone on slippery dirt (riverbed) surfaces, 
supplying and installing a sandbag cofferdam to deflect the water around the (5) existing 
piers on the north side of the building). Build small sump to pump out of into a dirtbag 
dewater device within a sandbag/haybale/erosion control sock/filter fabric sedimentation 
area).  Clean existing ledge of debris, Put 7mm poly under bags and wrap bags to deflect 
water around piers on North side of the building. Keep a eye on pump and dam for 7 
days. Remove everything once work below is complete. 
 

Please note this price does not include permitting. Also assumes there will be a 
temporary stair access set up to gain access from the Street level walking through the first 
floor of the building. Also assuming dam gate below work area will be open as much as 
possible to keep water level as low as possible during the work. Variables to this price 
would be if we had to take additional steps to prepare for a rain event while the dam is set 
up, including possibly removing part of the dam to accommodate more water drain 
through, etc. Also please keep in mind that cofferdams are never 100% watertight, it will 
definitely deflect the water around the work area for the most part, but additional steps 
may have to be taken by others (the GC or whoever) to possibly spend extra time to prep 
for concrete, pump little pockets of water that collect in random areas, etc. 
 
 
         Sincerely, 
 
         Dan Ford 
         Owner 
         Ford Enterprises 
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GR GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

GR-1 AS USED IN THESE GENERAL NOTES:
"DRAWINGS" MEANS THE LATEST STRUCTURAL DESIGN DRAWINGS, UON.  
“CONTRACT DOCUMENTS” IS DEFINED AS THE DESIGN DRAWINGS
“SER” IS DEFINED AS THE STRUCTURAL ENGINEER OF RECORD FOR THE STRUCTURE IN ITS FINAL CONDITION. 
“MEP” INCLUDES, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, PLUMBING, FIRE PROTECTION.
“CONTRACTOR” IS DEFINED TO INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING: GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS, 
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AND THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS, STRUCTURAL STEEL FABRICATOR OR STRUCTURAL STEEL ERECTOR.  
“STRUCTURE IN ITS FINAL CONDITION” MEANS ALL STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS SHOWN ON THE STRUCTURAL CONTRACT DOCUMENTS ARE 
INSTALLED AND COMPLETELY CONNECTED AND INSPECTED WITH NO OUTSTANDING NON-COMPLIANCE ISSUES.
“DELEGATED DESIGN” MEANS A SCOPE OF WORK THAT MEETS PERFORMANCE CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
AND IS TO BE COMPLETED BY THE CONTRACTOR’S LICENSED ENGINEER.
“SERVICE LEVEL” LOADS ARE DEFINED AS NOMINAL OR UNFACTORED LOADS TO BE COMBINED USING ALLOWABLE STRESS LOAD 
COMBINATIONS
“STRENGTH LEVEL” LOADS ARE DEFINED AS FACTORED LOADS TO BE COMBINED USING STRENGTH DESIGN LOAD COMBINATIONS

GR-2 THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COORDINATION OF THE STRUCTURAL WORK WITH CIVIL DOCUMENTS AND ANY OTHER APPLICABLE 
TRADES.  

GR-3 THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE STABILITY OF THE STRUCTURE UNTIL THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE STRUCTURE REACHES ITS FINAL 
CONDITION.

GR-4 THE CONTRACTOR IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DESIGN, INSTALLATION, AND REMOVAL OF TEMPORARY BRACING AND CONSTRUCTION 
SUPPORTS, FOR NEW AND EXISTING STRUCTURES, AS NECESSARY TO COMPLETE THE PROJECT.  NO PORTION OF THE PROJECT WHILE UNDER 
CONSTRUCTION IS INTENDED TO BE STABLE IN THE ABSENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR’S TEMPORARY SUPPORTS AND BRACES.  CONTRACTOR 
SHALL RETAIN A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE STATE OF MAINE TO DESIGN TEMPORARY BRACING AND CONSTRUCTION 
SUPPORTS AS NECESSARY.  THE DESIGN OF THE TEMPORARY SHORING SYSTEM SHALL CONSIDER THE GRAVITY AND LATERAL STABILITY OF 
THE EXISTING STRUCTURE FOR ALL LOADS IMPOSED ON IT DURING CONSTRUCTION

GR-5 LATERAL LOAD RESISTANCE AND STABILITY OF THE STRUCTURE IN ITS FINAL CONDITION IS PROVIDED BY WOOD BRACING BETWEEN LEVEL 1 
AND TOP OF PIERS.

GR-6 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL EXISTING DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS AND COORDINATE WITH THE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS, 
ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS, DRAWINGS FROM OTHER CONSULTANTS, PROJECT SHOP DRAWINGS AND FIELD CONDITIONS.

GR-7 IN CASES OF CONFLICT BETWEEN DRAWINGS AND OTHER DISCIPLINES OR EXISTING CONDITIONS, CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE DESIGN 
PROFESSIONALS AND OBTAIN CLARIFICATION PRIOR TO BIDDING AND PROCEEDING WITH WORK.  

GR-8 APPLY DETAILS, SECTIONS, AND NOTES ON THE DRAWINGS WHERE CONDITIONS ARE SIMILAR TO THOSE INDICATED BY DETAIL, DETAIL TITLE OR
NOTE.

GR-9 ONLY USE DIMENSIONS INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.  DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS.

GR-10 ASSUME EQUAL SPACING BETWEEN ESTABLISHED DIMENSIONS, IF NOT INDICATED ON DRAWINGS.

GR-11 CENTERLINES OF COLUMNS AND FOUNDATIONS COINCIDE WITH GRID LINE INTERSECTIONS, UON.

GR-12 CENTERLINES OF FRAMING MEMBERS COINCIDE WITH COLUMN CENTERLINES, UON.

GR-13 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT EXISTING FACILITIES, STRUCTURES AND UTILITIES FROM DAMAGE.

GR-14 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT CONSTRUCTION LOADS DO NOT EXCEED THE CAPACITY OF THE STRUCTURE AT THE TIME THE LOAD IS 
APPLIED.

GR-15 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE THE BOTTOM OF BASE PLATE ELEVATIONS WITH THE AS-BUILT TOP OF SUPPORT ELEVATIONS.

GR-16 ELEVATIONS INDICATED ARE THESE DRAWINGS ARE BASED ON OF THE FIRST FLOOR ELEVATION OF 31.5' IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEMA 
ELEVATION CERTIFICATE DATED 29 MAY 2025 BY GARTLEY & DORSKY ENEGINEERING.  ALL ELEVATIONS BELOW THE FIRST FLOOR ARE BASED ON 
FIELD MEASUREMENTS AND SHALL BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR. 

CD CODES AND DESIGN CRITERIA

CD-1 PERFORM ALL CONSTRUCTION IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE BUILDING AND DESIGN CODES REFERENCED WITHIN THESE DOCUMENTS. THE 
PROJECT DOCUMENTS REFER TO THE FOLLOWING CODES AND STANDARDS, UON:

MAINE UNIFORM BUILDING AND ENERGY CODE
INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE (IEBC), 2021 EDITION
ASCE 7-16 MINIMUM DESIGN LOADS FOR BUILDINGS AND OTHER STRUCTURES

STRUCTURAL CONCRETE:
"BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS FOR STRUCTURAL CONCRETE"
THE AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE (ACI 318-19)

STRUCTURAL STEEL:
"SPECIFICATION FOR STRUCTURAL STEEL BUILDINGS”, (AISC 360-16) CONFORMING TO THE PROVISIONS OF LOAD RESISTANCE FACTOR DESIGN, 
BY THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL CONSTRUCTION (AISC-LRFD)

WOOD:
"NATIONAL DESIGN SPECIFICATION FOR WOOD CONSTRUCTION"
AMERICAN NATIONAL STANDARDS INSTITUTE / AMERICAN WOOD COUNCIL (ANSI/AWC NDS-2018)

CD-2 THIS WORK IS CLASSIFIED AS A REPAIR IN ACCORDANCE WITH IEBC CHAPTERS 4 (REPAIRS) AND 12 (HISTORIC BUILDINGS). THE BUILDING IS
LISTED ON THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES AS PART OF THE CAMDEN GREAT FIRE HISTORIC DISTRICT. 

DE DEMOLITION

DE-1 THE CONTRACTOR IS FULLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE MEANS AND METHODS OF DEMOLITION AND THE INTEGRITY AND STABILITY OF THE EXISTING 
STRUCTURE DURING DEMOLITION UNTIL THE WORK IS COMPLETED. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SHORING IN REQUIRED LOCATIONS 
WHERE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN WILL BE AFFECTED BY DEMOLITION.  CONTRACTOR SHALL RETAIN A PROFESSIONAL 
ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE STATE WHERE THE PROJECT IS LOCATED TO DESIGN SHORING.

DE-2 THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPAIRS TO ANY STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS WHICH ARE TO REMAIN AND THAT HAVE BEEN DAMAGED 
DURING THE DEMOLITION PROCESS TO THE COMPLETE SATISFACTION OF THE OWNER.  THE REPAIRS SHALL BE AT NO EXPENSE TO THE 
OWNER. ALL REPAIR WORK SHALL BE DESIGNED BY A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER LICENSED IN THE STATE WHERE THE PROJECT IS 
LOCATED AND SUBMITTED TO THE SER FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL PRIOR TO COMMENCING REPAIR WORK.

DE-3 ALL EXISTING FRAMING IS INDICATED FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND IS TO BE FIELD VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR.  VERIFY THE EXACT EXTENT 
OF DEMOLITION AT THE SITE.  DETERMINE THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF DEMOLITION THAT WILL BE NECESSARY BY COMPARING THE CONTRACT 
DOCUMENTS WITH THE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION.  IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE DESIGN PROFESSIONALS OF ANY INCONSISTENCIES.

DE-4 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL USE THESE STRUCTURAL CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND IN THE EVENT OF CONFLICTS WITH FIELD VERIFIED 
CONDITIONS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE DESIGN PROFESSIONALS.

DE-5 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL USE QUALIFIED, EXPERIENCED PERSONNEL FOR DEMOLITION AND REMOVAL OPERATIONS.  PERFORM DEMOLITION 
AND REMOVAL OPERATIONS IN A CAREFUL AND ORDERLY MANNER TO PREVENT HAZARDS TO PERSONS, DAMAGE TO PROPERTY, AND THE 
SPREADING OF DUST AND DEBRIS.

DE-6 DO NOT PERMIT PORTIONS OF THE STRUCTURE TO FALL NOR DEBRIS TO DROP EXCEPT BY METHODS WHICH WILL INSURE INTEGRITY OF THE 
STRUCTURE.

DE-7 PRIOR TO THE START OF WORK, VERIFY THAT THE SCOPE OF DEMOLITION INDICATED ON THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS SHALL NOT DAMAGE, CUT 
OR DISRUPT SERVICE OF ANY MECHANICAL SYSTEM, ELECTRICAL SYSTEM OR UTILITY EMBEDDED IN THE EXISTING STRUCTURE.

DE-8 DO NOT REMOVE MORE OF THE EXISTING STRUCTURE THAN INDICATED ON CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  DO NOT DAMAGE, MAR, CUT OR DEFACE 
THE REMAINING STRUCTURE OR MATERIALS TO BE REUSED.

DE-9 THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INCLUDE IN HIS BID THE COST OF REMOVING DEMOLISHED MATERIALS FROM THE SITE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL 
APPLICABLE LAWS, CODES, AND REGULATIONS.

SU SUBMITTALS 

SU-1 THE FOLLOWING ITEMS REQUIRE SUBMITTALS FOR STRUCTURAL REVIEW.  THE SER WILL RETURN THE SHOP DRAWING ITEMS WITHIN TEN WORKING 
DAYS AFTER HAVING RECEIVED THE ELECTRONIC SHOP DRAWING.

CONCRETE REINFORCEMENT LAYOUT
CONCRETE MIX DESIGNS
STRUCTURAL STEEL
STRUCTURAL STEEL CONNECTIONS
WOOD FRAMING AND FASTENERS

SU-2 THE CONTRACTOR IS TO REVIEW EACH SUBMITTAL PRIOR TO FORWARDING TO DESIGN PROFESSIONALS.  THE CONTRACTOR IS TO STAMP EACH 
SUBMITTAL VERIFYING THAT THE FOLLOWING IS ADDRESSED:

1. THE SHOP DRAWING IS REQUESTED
2. THE SHOP DRAWING IS BASED ON THE LATEST DESIGN.
3. THE DESIGN PROFESSIONALS’ COMMENTS FROM ANY PREVIOUS SUBMITTALS ARE ADDRESSED.
4. THE WORK IS COORDINATED AMONG ALL CONSTRUCTION TRADES.
5. REVISIONS FROM PREVIOUS SUBMITTALS ARE CLEARLY MARKED BY CIRCLING OR CLOUDS.
6. SUBMITTAL IS COMPLETE.
7. SUBMITTAL DOES NOT INCLUDE SUBSTITUTION REQUEST 
8. SUBMITTAL SHALL INCLUDE A STAMP INDICATING PROJECT NAME AND LOCATION, SUBMITTAL NUMBER.  

THE SER SHALL RETURN, WITHOUT COMMENT, SUBMITTALS WHICH THE CONTRACTOR HAS NOT STAMPED OR WHICH DO NOT MEET THE ABOVE 
REQUIREMENTS.  THE SER’S REVIEW OF SUBMITTALS SHALL BE FOR GENERAL CONFORMANCE WITH THE DESIGN INTENT.  NO WORK SHALL BE 
STARTED WITHOUT SUCH REVIEW.

FN FOUNDATIONS

FN-1 THE FOUNDATION DESIGN IS BASED ON A PRESUMPTIVE LOAD-BEARING CAPACITY OF 4,000 PSF IN ACCORDANCE WITH IBC TABLE 1806.2 FOR 
SEDIMENTARY AND FOLIATED ROCK.

FN-2  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO ADEQUATELY PROTECT ALL EXCAVATION. 

FN-3 ALL NEW PIERS SHALL BEARING DIRECTLY ON LEDGE.

CM CONCRETE MATERIALS

CM-1 CONCRETE SHALL BE NORMALWEIGHT, UON.  CONCRETE SHALL MEET MAINEDOT CLASS LP REQUIREMENTS WITH A MINIMUM 5,000 PSI 
COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH (f'c) AT 28-DAY AGE W/ CORROSION INHIBITOR.  

AIR ENTRAINMENT: 5%-8%
MAX AGGREGATE SIZE: 3/4"
MAX W/C: 0.42
SLUMP: 6"

CONCRETE EARLY COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE ESTABLISHED AND COORDINATED BY THE CONTRACTOR 
AND SUBMITTED TO THE SER FOR REVIEW.

CM-2 PROVIDE NORMALWEIGHT CONCRETE WITH CURED DENSITY OF 145 +/- 5 PCF, AND AGGREGATE CONFORMING TO ASTM C33, UON.  

CM-3 THE USE OF CALCIUM CHLORIDE AND OTHER CHLORIDE CONTAINING AGENTS IS PROHIBITED.  THE USE OF RECYCLED CONCRETE IS PROHIBITED. 
PLACEMENT WITHIN AND CONTACT BETWEEN ALUMINUM ITEMS, INCLUDING ALUMINUM CONDUIT, AND CONCRETE IS PROHIBITED.

CM-4 ALL CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE WILL EXPERIENCE DIFFERING VARIATIONS OF CRACKING.  ANY ELEMENT EXPOSED TO DIRECT WEATHER AND/OR 
TEMPERATURE VARIATIONS DURING CONSTRUCTION OR IN THE FINAL CONDITION IS TO BE TREATED AND REGULARLY MAINTAINED TO PREVENT 
PROPAGATION OF CRACKS AND WATER PENETRATION. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DEVELOP A REGULAR MAINTENANCE PROGRAM AND SUBMIT IT TO 
THE OWNER.

RE CONCRETE REINFORCEMENT

RE-1 ALL CONCRETE SHALL INCLUDE REINFORCEMENT.  IF REINFORCEMENT IS NOT SPECIFICALLY INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS VERIFY WITH THE SER.

RE-2 REINFORCEMENT SHALL CONFORM TO THE FOLLOWING STANDARDS AND MATERIAL PROPERTIES UON:

DEFORMED BARS: ASTM A615 GRADE 60
WELDED WIRE REINFORCEMENT ASTM A1064 

RE-3 DETAIL REINFORCEMENT BASED ON THE PROJECT REQUIREMENTS, ACI-318 AND ACI-315, UON.

RE-4 WHERE A 90-DEG, 135 –DEG OR 180-DEG HOOK IS GRAPHICALLY INDICATED, PROVIDE CORRESPONDING ACI STANDARD HOOKS UON.

RE-5 DOWELS SHALL MATCH SIZE AND SPACING OF MAIN REINFORCEMENT UON.

RE-6 REINFORCEMENT SHALL HAVE CONCRETE PROTECTION (CLEAR COVER) PER ACI 318 UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.

RE-7 LAP REINFORCEMENT ONLY AT LOCATIONS AS SPECIFICALLY DETAILED ON THE DRAWINGS EXCEPT REINFORCEMENT MARKED AS CONTINUOUS CAN 
BE SPLICED AT LOCATIONS DETERMINED BY CONTRACTOR USING TENSION LAP SPLICES (LTS). SEE LAP SPLICE AND EMBEDMENT SCHEDULE. 

RE-8 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ALL LAP SPLICES ARE TO BE TENSION LAP SPLICES PER LAP SPLICE AND EMBEDMENT SCHEDULE.  

RE-9 PROVIDE MECHANICAL SPLICES FOR BARS LARGER THAN #11 OR WHERE INDICATED.  PROVIDE TENSILE, PRE-QUALIFIED, WELDED OR THREADED 
MECHANICAL SPLICES UON.

SS STRUCTURAL STEEL

SS-1 STEEL MATERIALS SHALL CONFORM TO THE FOLLOWING MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS:

HOLLOW STRUCTURAL SECTIONS: ASTM A500 GR B, MINIMUM YIELD STRENGTH 42 KSI

SS-2 CONNECTION MATERIAL SHALL CONFORM TO THE FOLLOWING MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS:

ANGLES: ASTM A572, A529, OR A36 MINIMUM YIELD STRENGTH 36 KSI
PLATES: ASTM A572, A529, OR A36 MINIMUM YIELD STRENGTH 36 KSI
BOLTS: ASTM F3125 GRADES A325  AND F1852
NUTS: ASTM A563
WASHERS: ASTM F436
ANCHOR RODS: ASTM F1554 GRADE 36
WELD ELECTRODES: MINIMUM TENSILE STRENGTH 70 KSI FOR 50 KSI STEEL MATERIALS

SS-3 ALL STEEL MEMBERS AND CONNECTIONS MATERIALS, PROVIDE HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED FINISH.

SS-4 APPLY THE FOLLOWING PAINT TO EXISTING STEEL MEMBERS (OR APPROVED EQUAL):

PRIMER: INTERNATIONAL PC-DEVOE 167 "PREPRIME", 1-1.5 MILS, PREPARE PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS
PAINT: INTERNATIONAL PC-DEVOE 235 "BAR RUST", 4-8 MILS (2 COATS)

WD WOOD FRAMING

WD-1 LUMBER SHALL CONFORM TO THE NATIONAL DESIGN SPECIFICATION FOR WOOD CONSTRUCTION (NDS) EDITION 2018 AS REFERENCE BY IBC.  ALL 
LUMBER SHALL BE PRESERVATIE TREATED (PT) LUMBER IN ACCORDANCE WITH NOTE WD-2 BELOW.

WD-2 PRESERVATIVE TREATED (PT) LUMBER: NO. 2 GRADE OR BETTERN SOUTHERN PINE (SP OR SYP) TREATED WITH MIRCONIZED COPPER AZOLE (MCA) OR 
ALKALINE COPPER QUATERNARY (ACQ).  MCA & ACQ PRESERVATIVE CONTENT: 0.15 PCF.  USE ONLY HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED OR STAINLESS STEEL 
NAILS AND FASTENERS, OR COATED FASTENERS APPROVED FOR USE IN PT LUMBER AND EXTERIOR APPLICATIONS.

WD-3 PRESERVATIVE TREATED (PT) LUMBER: NO. 2 GRADE OR BETTER SOUTHERN PINE (SP OR SYP) TREATED WITH MICRONIZED COPPER AZOLE (MCA) OR 
ALKALINE COPPER QUATERNARY (ACQ).  MCA & ACQ PRESERVATIVE CONTENT: 0.15 PCF.  USE ONLY HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED OR STAINLESS STEEL 
NAILS AND FASTENERS, OR COATED FASTENERS APPROVED FOR USE IN PT LUMBER AND EXTERIOR APPLICATIONS.

WD-4 ALL WOOD FRAMING CONNECTION HARDWARE (JOIST HANGERS, POST BASES, SHEARWALL HOLDOWNS, ETC TO BE MANUFACTURED BY SIMPSON 
STRONG-TIE, OR APPROVED EQUAL (SUBMIT DATA).  ALL CONNECTION HARDWARE SHALL BE GALVANIZED G185 (ZMAX) OR STAINLESS STEEL.  USE 
FASTENERS OF SAME MATERIAL & COATING AS CONNECTOR AS SPECIFIED BY MANUFACTURER.  REFER TO MANUFACTURER'S LITERATURE FOR 
PROPER CONNECTOR HANDLING AND INSTALLATION GUIDELINES.

WD-5 FASTENERS USED WITH PT LUMBER AND EXTERIOR EXPOSED FRAMING (OTHER THAN THOSE IN SIMPSON STRONG-TIE OR EQUAL CONNECTORS) 
SHALL BE HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED INCLUDING NUTS AND WASHERS (ASTM A153).

WD-6 APPLY PRESERVATIVE TREATMENT TO ALL FIELD CUT MEMBERS, INCLUDING DRILLED HOLES FOR THROUGH BOLTS:

PRODUCT: TENINO COPPER NAPTHENATE (2% METAL) IN CONFORMANCE WITH AWPA STANDARD M-4 SECTION 7.1.1.
APPLICATION: APPLY IN ACCORDNACE WITH MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.

WD-7 DRILLED HOLES FOR THROUGH BOLTS TO HAVE A DIAMETER 1/16" GREATER THAN THE BOLT DIAMETER.

WD-8 PRE-DRILL HOLES FOR LAG SCREWS IN ACCORDANCE WITH NDS.  THE CLEARANCE HOLE FOR THE SHANK SHALL HAVE THE SAME DIAMETER AS THE 
SHANK, AND THE SAME DEPTH OF PENETRATION AS THE LENGTH OF THE UNTHREADED SHANK.  THE LEAD HOLE FOR THE THREADED PORTION SHALL
HAVE A DIAMETER EQUAL TO 60% TO 70% OF THE SHANK DIAMETER FOR G = 0.55.  
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ABBREVIATION DESCRIPTION

ADDL ADDITIONAL

ADJ ADJACENT

ALT ALTERNATE

APPRX APPROXIMATE

ARCH ARCHITECT OR ARCHITECTURAL

B/ BOTTOM OF

B/B BACK TO BACK

BAL BALANCE

BLDG BUILDING

BLK BLOCK

BLKG BLOCKING

BM BEAM

BOT BOTTOM

BRDG BRIDGING

BRG BEARING

BTWN BETWEEN

C COMPRESSION

C/C CENTER TO CENTER

CIP CAST-IN-PLACE

CJP COMPLETE JOINT PENETRATION

CL CENTER LINE

CLR CLEAR OR CLEARANCE

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

COL COLUMN

COMP COMPRESSION

CONC CONCRETE

CONN CONNECTION(S)

CONST CONSTRUCTION

CONT CONTINUOUS

db REINFORCING BAR DIAMETER

DBL DOUBLE

DCW DEMAND CRITICAL WELD

DEG DEGREE(S)

DET DETAIL

DIA DIAMETER

DIAG DIAGONAL

DIM(S) DIMENSION(S)

DL DEAD LOAD

DWG(S) DRAWING(S)

DWL DOWEL(S)

EA EACH

ECC ECCENTRICITY

EE EACH END

EF EACH FACE

EL ELEVATION

ELEC ELECTRICAL

ENGR ENGINEER

EOD EDGE OF DECK

EOS EDGE OF SLAB

EQ EQUAL

EQUIP EQUIPMENT

EW EACH WAY

EXP EXPANSION

EXST EXISTING

EXT EXTERIOR

F/F FACE TO FACE

FIN FINISH(ED)

FLR FLOOR

FND FOUNDATION

FP FIREPROOF(ING)

FS FAR SIDE

FTG FOOTING

GA GAGE, GAUGE

GALV GALVANIZED

GB GRADE BEAM

GEN GENERAL

GR GRADE

HK HOOK

HORIZ HORIZONTAL

HP HIGH POINT

HT HEIGHT

ID INSIDE DIAMETER

IF INSIDE FACE

INFO INFORMATION

INT INTERIOR

INTRM INTERMEDIATE

JST(S) JOIST(S)

JT JOINT

K KIPS (1,000 POUNDS)

KLF KIP PER LINEAR FOOT

KSF KIP PER SQUARE FOOT

LL LIVE LOAD

ABBREVIATION DESCRIPTION

LLH LONG LEG HORIZONTAL

LLV LONG LEG VERTICAL

LONG LONGITUDINAL

LP LOW POINT

LW LIGHTWEIGHT

LWC LIGHTWEIGHT CONCRETE

M MOMENT

MATL MATERIAL

MAX MAXIMUM

MC MOMENT CONNECTION(S)

MECH MECHANICAL

MEP MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, PLUMBING,
FIRE PROTECTION

MEZZ MEZZANINE

MFR MANUFACTURER

MID MIDDLE

MIN MINIMUM

MISC MISCELLANEOUS

NIC NOT IN CONTRACT

NO NUMBER

NOM NOMINAL

NS NEAR SIDE

NTS NOT TO SCALE

NW NORMAL WEIGHT

NWC NORMALWEIGHT CONCRETE

OC ON CENTER

OD OUTSIDE DIAMETER

OF OUTSIDE FACE

OH OPPOSITE HAND

OPNG(S) OPENING(S)

OPP OPPOSITE

OSL OUTSTANDING LEG

PC PIECE

PCY POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD

PERP PERPENDICULAR

PG PLATE GIRDER

PJP PARTIAL JOINT PENETRATION

PL PLATE

PRC PRECAST

PRLL PARALLEL

PSF POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT

PSI POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH

PT PRESERVATIVE TREATED

RAD RADIUS

REF REFERENCE

REINF REINFORCE(D) (ING) OR (MENT)

REQD REQUIRED

S&T SHRINKAGE AND TEMPERATURE

SCHED SCHEDULE(D)

SDL SUPERIMPOSED DEAD LOAD

SECT SECTION

SER STRUCTURAL ENGINEER OF RECORD

SF SQUARE FOOT (FEET)

SFRS SEISMIC FORCE RESISTING SYSTEM

SHT SHEET

SIM SIMILAR

SOG SLAB ON GRADE

SP SPACE

SPEC(S) SPECIFICATION(S)

STD STANDARD

STL STEEL

STR STRUCTURE

STRCTL STRUCTURAL

SYM SYMMETRICAL

T TENSION

T&B TOP AND BOTTOM

T/ TOP OF

TEMP TEMPERATURE OR TEMPORARY

TEN TENSION

THK THICK OR THICKNESS

TYP TYPICAL

UON UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

V SHEAR

VERT VERTICAL

VIF VERIFY IN FIELD

W/ WITH

W/O WITHOUT

WD WOOD

WP WORK POINT

WPFG WATERPROOFING

WS WATERSTOP

WWR WELDED WIRE REINFORCEMENT
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NOTES:

1.  (E) ON PLAN INDICATES EXISTING CONSTRUCTION NOT TO BE REMOVED.
2.  (D) ON PLAN INDICATES TO DEMOLISH/REMOVE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION
3.  (R&S) ON PLAN INDICATES REMOVE AND SALVAGE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION FOR REUSE.
4.  GC TO PROVIDE TEMPORARY SUPPORT OF STRUCTURE BEFORE REMOVING EXISTING CONSTRUCTION.
     ALL TEMPORARY SHORING TO REMAIN IN PLACE UNTIL THE PERMANENT STRUCTURE IS FULLY INSTALLED.
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1.  (E) ON PLAN INDICATES EXISTING CONSTRUCTION NOT TO BE REMOVED.
2.  (D) ON PLAN INDICATES REMOVE EXISTING CONSTRUCTION
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SCALE:  1/4" = 1'-0"
1

FOUNDATION DEMOLITION PLAN
SCALE:  1/4" = 1'-0"

2
LEVEL 1 DEMOLITION PLAN

SCALE:
3

3D VIEW - DEMO

N
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SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"
1

A-LINE FRAMING DEMO ELEVATION
SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"

2
B-LINE FRAMING DEMO ELEVATION

SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"
3

C-LINE FRAMING DEMO ELEVATION
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(N)4x6 TIE
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S300
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APPROX EXTENTS OF 
BUILDING ABOVE, 
NOT IN SCOPE

S300

2

SIM

SHEET NOTES:

1. (N) INDICATES NEW CONSTRUCTION

2. (R) INDICATES TO REINSTALL REMOVED EXISTING CONSTRUCTION. SOME 

3. ALL NEW CONC PIERS TO MATCH SHAPE AND TOP OF PIER ELEVATION OF (E) CONC PIERS.

4. ALL NEW PIER FOUNDATIONS TO BEAR ON NATIVE BEDROCK.   
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FRAMING REPAIR

ELEVATIONS

39 MAIN STREET

STRUCTURAL

REPAIRS

CAMDEN, MAINE

05/12/25

S201CF

25014925

ZTC

SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"
1

1/2-LINE FRAMING ELEVATION
SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"

2
3/3.1/3.2-LINE FRAMING ELEVATION

SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"
3

4/4.1/4.2-LINE FRAMING ELEVATION
SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"

4
5/5.1-LINE FRAMING ELEVATION

SCALE:  3/8" = 1'-0"
5

6-LINE FRAMING ELEVATION

NO. ISSUES/REVISIONS DATE



T/ROCK
EL V.I.F.

T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

POST ABOVE 
(SEE PLAN)

Ld

#8 VERT DOWELS TO MATCH PIER 
VERT REINF. ANCHOR TO ROCK 
W/ HILTI HIT-RE 500 V3 (OR 
APPROVED EQUAL) W/ 12" EMBED

(3)#4 TIES AT TOP 
AND BALANCE AT 
12" O.C.

(6)#8 VERT

1

15

L6x3 1/2x5/16 W/ (2) 3/4"Ø ANCHOR 
BOLTS W/ 12" EMBED BOTH 
SIDES, LOCATE ANGLES ALONG 
GRIDS A, B, OR C

1 1/2" 1 1/2"

6" 6"

2 
1/

2"
2 

1/
2"

SECTION A-A

A A

COL

#8 VERT

#3 TIE

(2) 3/8"Ø x 2 1/2" LAG SCREWS. 
PROVIDE 4" LONG LAG SCREWS 
WHERE TIES ARE ATTACHED TO 
ANGLE ASSEMBLY

MIN (TYP)
2" COVER

GC TO VERIFY GEOMETRY IN 
FIELD AND MATCH EXISTING AT 
ALL LOCATIONS

T/ROCK
EL V.I.F.

T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

POST ABOVE 
(SEE PLAN)

Ld

#8 VERT DOWELS TO MATCH PIER 
VERT REINF. ANCHOR TO ROCK 
W/ HILTI HIT-RE 500 V3 (OR 
APPROVED EQUAL) W/ 12" EMBED

(3)#3 TIES AT TOP 
AND BALANCE AT 
12" O.C.

(20)#8 VERT

SEE PLAN

3" 1' - 4" 1' - 4" 3"

L6x3 1/2x5/16 W/ (2) 3/4"Ø 
ANCHOR BOLTS W/ 12" EMBED 
BOTH SIDES, LOCATE ANGLES 
ALONG GRIDS A, B, OR C

DASHED LINE REPRESENTS APPROX 
GEOMETRY AT GRID C6.  GC TO 
VERIFY GEOMETRY IN FIELD.

B

#8 VERT

#3 TIE

A A

SECTION A-A

MIN (TYP)
2" COVER

(N) P6STD 
STEEL COL 

(N) 3/8" STEEL 
CAP PL

(E) WOOD 
GIRDER 

1 1/2" 4 1/2" 4 1/2" 1 1/2"

1 
3/

4"
3"

1 
3/

4"

6 
1/

2"

1' - 0"

(2) 3/8"Ø x 2 1/2" LAG 
SCREWS EA SIDE

A A

SECTION A-A

B

(N) P6STD 
STEEL COL 

(N) CONC PIER

(4) 5/8"Ø ANCHOR 
RODS W/ 9" EMBED 
AND 6" PROJ 

4 1/2"1 1/2" 4 1/2" 1 1/2"

ø1
' -

 0
"

3/4" PL

B

(N) P6STD STEEL 
COL

(E) W6 STEEL 
GIRDER

(N) 3/8 CAP PL

PL 3/8

6 
1/

2"
1 

1/
2"

SECTION A-A

4"

3 1/4" 3 1/4"

6

6

C

C

6

6 1/2"

1'
 -

 0
"A A

B B

2 1/2"

2 
1/

2"

SECTION B-B

4 
1/

2"

3 1/2"

8"

6"

(N) P6STD

(N) P6STD

(E) WOOD 
GIRDER

(2) 5/8"Ø A325 
BOLTS IN STD 
HOLES

(E) 2x WOOD 
JOISTS

PL 3/8

PL 3/8

1 
1/

2"

1 
1/

2"
1 

1/
2"

1 
1/

2"

1 3/4"

1 1/2" 1 1/2"

1 3/4"

5"

STIFFENER 
PL 3/8 BELOW

(N) STIFFENER 
PL 3/8 

(E) 6x WOOD POST 

1/2"Ø BOLTS @ 16" O.C. 
STAGGERED AT WEB

(N) 5/8"Ø BOLTS 
EA SIDE 

(N) L6x4x5/16 LLV, TYP EA 
SIDE. SEE DETAIL 4/S301

2X6 BRACE w/(2) 3/8"Ø x 2 
1/2" LONG LAG SCREWS

(E) WOOD DECKING

(E) 2x WOOD JOIST

(E) 6x WOOD GIRDER

1 1/2" 1 1/2"

C

(2) 3/8"Ø x 2 1/2" LONG 
LAG SCREWS, EA SIDE 
OF POST

1 1/2" 2 1/2" 1 1/2"

SIMPSON HGA10-KT 
CLIP EA SIDE 

(N)4x6 BRACE

(N) 5/8"Ø THROUGH 
BOLT, TYP

3 1/4"
1 1/4"

3 
1/

4"
1 

1/
4"

(N) P6STD COL

1/
4"

3 
1/

2"

PL 3/8, TYP

PL 1/4, TYP

4"
4"

3 1/2" 4" 4" 3 1/2"

1/4

1/4
TYP

1/4

TOP &
UNDERSIDE

OF PL

A A

SECTION A-A

6

3 
1/

2"
3 

1/
2"

7/
8"

7/
8"1/
4"

2 
7/

8"
2 

7/
8"

1/
4"

3 
1/

2"
1/

2"
1/

2"

NOTE: PLATE IS SYMMETRIC ABOUT BOTH AXES

CL 
COL

CL 
COL

(N) 2X TIE THROUGH
BOLTED TO OUTSIDE OF 
PLATE AND THROUGH 
FULL ASSEMBLY

(N) P6STD 
STEEL COL 

(N) CONC PIER

(4) 3/4"Ø ANCHOR 
RODS W/ 9" EMBED 
AND 6" PROJ 

6

C

6

±11" ±2' - 3"

±
1'

 - 
3"

±
1'

 - 
11

"

1/4
TYP

1/4

2"
2"

5 
1/

2"

2" 2"

A A

3/4" PL

1/4
TYP

(N) CONC PIER

(N) 4X6 BRACE

6 1/4"1 1/4"

3 
1/

4"
1 

1/
4"

1/4

1/4
TYP

6 
1/

2"

5 1/2"5 1/2"

2 3/4"

2 
7/

8"
2 

7/
8"

(N) 2X TIE

(N) 4X6 BRACE, 
SHIM AS REQD

(N) 2X BRACE

(N) 2X BRACE

1/4

1/4

(N) 2X TIE

PL 3/8 TYP

PLATE ASSEMBLY SHALL BE SHOP 
FABRICATED BASED ON ALL EXISTING 
CONDITIONS MEASURED IN THE FIELD.  
ASSEMBLY SHALL BE HOT-DIPPED 
GALVANIZED AFTER ALL FABRIACTION IS 
COMPLETE.  FIELD WELDING IS NOT 
PERMITTED.
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REPAIR DETAILS I

39 MAIN STREET

STRUCTURAL

REPAIRS

CAMDEN, MAINE

05/12/25

S300CF

25014925

ZTC

SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"
1

TYPICAL (N) TAPERED PIER ELEVATION
SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"

2
(N) PIER AT GRID B4 (SIM AT C6)

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
6

(N) STEEL COL CONNECTION TO (E) WOOD GIRDER AT B6
SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"

4

(N) STEEL COL POST BASE TO
(N) CONC PIER AT GRID B6

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
7

(N) STEEL COL CONNECTION TO (E) W6 GIRDER
SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"

5

(N) STABILITY BRACING AT (E) W6 STEEL BEAM
BEARING ON (E) WOOD COL

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
8

(N) BRACE CONNECTION AT COL B6

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
3

(N) STEEL COL POST BASE TO (N) CONC PIER AT GRID C6
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T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

(E) POST

(N) REINF 
CONC PIER

(E) CONC RETAINING WALL

(E) TIE

(E) DECKING AND 
FLOOR JOISTS

(E) 6X8

(E) 4X8

(E) 6X10 1/4 
GIRDER

(N) 6X6 TIE
EA SIDE OF POST

(N) 2X10 EA SIDE
OF BRACE INSTALLED TIGHT 
TO UNDERSIDE OF (E) BEAMS

T/LEVEL 1
0'-0"

±1' - 7 1/4"

(N) 6X6 BRACE

(2) 5/8"Ø THROUGH 
BOLT, TYP

2"
3"

2" 2"
3"

(E) 2X BRACE

2

S301

7

SIM

(E) WOOD POST 

(2) 3/8"Ø x 2 1/2" LONG 
LAG SCREWS, EA SIDE

(E) WOOD 
GIRDER 

(E) SHIMS, REMOVE 
AND REPLACE AS 
NECESSARY

EQ EQ

±1 1/2" 3" ±1 1/2"

2 3/4"

(N) L6x4x5/16 
LLV, TYP

5/8"Ø THROUGH BOLT

(N) 4x6 BRACE ALONG GRIDS 
1-6 WHERE APPLICABLE

2 3/4"

(E) OR (N) 4x6 BRACE

(2) 1/2"Ø x 7" LONG LAG 
SCREW CENTERED ON 
BRACE AND SPACED 3 1/2" 
(1" EDGE DISTANCE)

(N) CONC PIER

M
IN3"

(N) WOOD POST

(N) CONC PIER

(N) 2X TIE, TYP

(2) 3/8"Ø x 3" LAG SCREWS 
STAGGERED AND SPACED SIM 
TO DETAIL 1/S300

(N) CONC PIER

2X TIE

(N) L6x3 1/2 AND 3/4"Ø 
ANCHOR BOLTS, SEE 
DETAIL 1/S300 (TYP)

3"1 1/2" 1 1/2"

1 
1/

2"

2 
1/

2"
1 

1/
2"

(N) OR (E) 4x6 BRACE TYP

(2) 1/2"Ø x 7" LONG LAG 
SCREW CENTERED ON 
BRACE AND SPACED 3 1/2" 
(1" EDGE DISTANCE)

(E) WOOD GIRDER

(E) WOOD JOIST

(E) WOOD DECK

(E) OR (N) 2x BRACE 

(E) WOOD GIRDER

(N) 5/8"Ø THROUGH 
BOLT, TYP

MIN

3"

(E) WOOD JOISTS

NOTE: SIM DETAIL AT BRACE CONNECTION AT POST BASE AND POST MID-HEIGHT 

EQ
EQ

T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

(N) REINF 
CONC PIER

(E) STONE 
RETAINING WALL

(N) TIE

(E) DECKING AND 
FLOOR JOISTS

(E) 6X8

(E) 4X8

(N) 6X6 POST

T/LEVEL 1
0'-0"

±1' - 7 1/4"

(E) POST

(E) 6X9 3/4

(N) 4X6 BRACE, 
TYP

(N) 6X6 BEAM

PROVIDE BLOCKING TIGHT 
TO UNDERSIDE OF BEAMS

3.2 2

S301

6

S301

8

TYP

S301

7

TYP

TYP

T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

(N) REINF 
CONC PIER

T/LEVEL 1
0'-0"

(N) POST

REINSTALL (E) 2X8 JOISTS

(N) 4X6 BRACE, 
TYP

6

(N) 6X12

(N) 6X6 BRACE

(8) 5/16"Ø RSS PHEINOX 
SCREWS EA 2X10

(N) 2X10 EA SIDE 
OF BRACE

(N) SIMPSON H 
CLIPS, TYP

(N) SIMPSON A35 
CLIPS EA SIDE, TYP

(N) 2X SILL

(N) SIMPSON A35 
CLIPS EA SIDE, TYP

(N) SIMPSON A35 
CLIPS EA SIDE, TYP

(E) W6 STEEL GIRDER

(E) WOOD 
GIRDER

(E) 2x WOOD 
JOISTS

DOUBLE 2X NAILER BOLTED 
TO WEB OF WIDE FLANGE

1/2"Ø BOLTS @ 16" 
O.C. STAGGERED 
AT WEB

(2) 3/8"Øx 3" LONG 
LAG SCREWS

2"

1 
1/

2"

2 
1/

2"

1 
1/

2"

T/MUD LINE
EL V.I.F.

(N) REINF 
CONC PIER

T/LEVEL 1
0'-0"

(E) 2x8 JOIST

B
(E) WOOD DECKING

(N) OR (E) 4X6 BRACE 

(N) 2X TIE (TYP)

2 
3/

4"

2 
3/

4"

(E) WOOD GIRDER, 
SEE PLAN

(N) 4X6 BRACE, 
ALTERNATE SIDES OF 
WOOD POST, TYP

(N) 5/8"Ø THROUGH 
BOLT, TYP

(N) 4X6 BRACE, TYP

(N) 12" LONG 6X6 
BETWEEN BRACES

(N) 4X6 BRACE, TYP

(N) P6 
STEEL COL 

(E) WOOD BEAM

(E) WOOD 
GIRDER 

(2) 3/4"Ø THREADED 
STUDS SHOP 
WELDED TO P6 COL

6

(R) 2X8 DECK 
JOISTS

2"
5 

1/
4"

2"

5"

(N) 2X10
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REPAIR DETAILS II

39 MAIN STREET

STRUCTURAL

REPAIRS

CAMDEN, MAINE

05/12/25

S301CF

25014925

ZTC

SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"
2

DETAIL AT (N) SUPPORT ALONG LINE 1

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
6

TYP (E) WOOD COL CONNECTION TO (E) WOOD GIRDER
SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"

7
TYP 4X6 WOOD BRACE CONNECTION TO BASE OF WOOD COL

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
8

TYP WOOD CHEVRON BRACE CONNECTION TO GIRDER
SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"

10
TYP WOOD BRACE THROUGH BOLT CONNECTION

SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"
1

DETAIL AT (N) SUPPORT ALONG LINE A BETWEEN 3.2 AND 2

SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"
4

SECTION AT DECK ALONG LINE A

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
11

2X6 BRACE CONNECTION TO (E) W6
BETWEEN LINES 4.1 AND 6

SCALE:  3/4" = 1'-0"
3

TYPICAL DETAIL AT BRACING ALONG GRIDS 1-6

NO. ISSUES/REVISIONS DATE

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
9

TYP CONNECTION AT BRACE INTERSECTION

SCALE:  1 1/2" = 1'-0"
5

(N) DECK SUPPORT CONNECTION
TO P6 COL AT B6



   
    

 
75 John Roberts Road - Suite 4A, South Portland, ME  04106 ▪ sebagotechnics.com 
100% Employee-Owned ▪ Offices in Bridgton, Sanford, and Bath ▪ 207.200.2100 

 
 
May 19, 2025 
250339 
 
 
 
Therese Carpenter 
Senior Project Manager 
U.S Army Corps of Engineers 
New England Office 
 
 
 
39 Main Street, Camden Maine 
Emergency Maintenance to pile supporting structures 
 
Dear Therese. 
 
On behalf of our client, Amy LaCouture, Sebago Technics Inc. submits the attached application 
materials for your review and approval.  The proposed project is located at 39 Main Street in 
Camden, also identified in the Town Assessors database as Parcel Number 120281000000.  As 
you may recall from our previous phone conversation the supporting piles under the existing 
structure are highly compromised and the building has been deemed unsafe by the Town Code 
Enforcement Officer. The applicant has contracted with Thornton Tomasetti to design the 
structural repairs. 
 
The proposed project site is a two story building that is partially suspended over the Megunticook 
River near the Montgomery Dam in Camden.  The structure is listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places as part of the Camden Great Fire Historic District.  The Town has deemed the 
structure unsafe and if the piles are not repaired the building will need to be torn down, therefore 
the applicant has no alternative but to replace the piers or the building will need to be removed.   
 
The applicant has contracted with Thornton Tomasetti to assess and provide the structural repair 
plan for the site and Higgins & Sons, LLC (Milton Higgins) to complete the work.  The piles will be 
replaced by building cribs beside each of the original piers.  The building will be jacked up, the 
old piers removed, with the building being supported by the cribbing until the new pier can be 
poured and secured in place.  The dam will be drained and the standing water will be drained 
from the gate, with the gate remaining open until the piers are fully replaced. 
 
Included with this submission are the following documents: 

• Signed application form 
• Location map 
• Aerial exhibit showing the structure and resource 
• Review request letters to the Maine Tribes 



 
 

• The National Register of Historic Places record 
• IPaC 
• Interim Order and Decision of the Town regarding the state of the building 
• Structural Plan set of the proposed project work 

 
I appreciate your attention to this project.  Should you need any additional information or have 
any questions please contact me by phone 207-200-2065 or by e-mail 
rgabryszewski@sebagotechnics.com.  
 
Sincerely, 
SEBAGO TECHNICS, INC. 
 

 
 
Rebecca Gabryszewski 
Entitlements Manager  
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Historic Function, continued.

INDUSTRY/ Manufacturing Facility 
HEALTH CARE/ Medical Business/Office 
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MATERIALS, continued

Foundation:

Walls:

Roof:

STONE/ Granite 
WOOD/ (Pilings)

WOOD / Weatherboard 
WOOD / Shingle 
GLASS 
TERRA Cotta 
STUCCO

ASPHALT
SYNTHETICS / Rubber

DESCRIPTION 

Narrative Description
The Camden Great Fire Historic District is located in the town of Camden, Knox County, Maine on 

Penobscot Bay. The district lies along the west side of Camden Harbor, with the Camden Hills rising 
behind it to the north and west. The Megunticook River runs under the district at its north end, so that 
the district ends at the bridge, and the last buildings on the east side of the district are actually built on 
the bridge and over the river or its catch basin. The Camden Great Fire District connects a National 
Register Historic District on its north end to one on its south end. Just north of the bridge lies the High 
Street Historic District (NR: 88001843. 99001186), including Harbor Park, the Camden Public Library, 
the Amphitheater, and 60 historical houses and summer cottages along “the Road to Belfast” (Route 1). 
Just south of the Great Fire District lies the Chestnut Street Historic District (NR: 91000325), including 
the Village Green, the U. S. Post Office, two churches, a store, a school, and 80 historical houses and 
summer cottages along Chestnut Street, running south toward Rockport, and on five side streets, one 
of which runs down to the harbor on Dillingham’s Point.

The Camden Great Fire Historic District is an irregular, angled, late nineteenth century commercial 
streetscape of 2.26 acres. It contains the brick, Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera House (NR: 
86003539), fifteen substantial, brick, commercial buildings, and seven smaller, frame commercial 
buildings. It stands in the center of the small coastal town, beside the harbor, and retains the scale and 
density of a prosperous, 19"’ century New England commercial district.

Most of the buildings in the Great Fire District were built in 1893, immediately following the fire that 
swept through the town on the night of November 10,1892. The buildings reflect the enthusiastic 
community spirit and community planning that were the automatic response of this small Maine town. 
The town selectmen required that piermanent buildings built in the district after the fire must be made



NPS FORM 10«00-a (M»)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Pieces 

Continuation Sheet
CAMDEN GREAT FIRE HISTORIC DISTRICT
Section number 7 Page 3

KNOX COUNTY. MAINE

of brick, but the seven buildings that are built over the Megunticook River, its falls, and its catch basin 
are modest, frame, vernacular structures. Wooden buildings are easier to change than brick, and so the 
wooden buildings over the river have seen more changes than the brick buildings.

The two-, three-, and four-story brick buildings represent the work of four local architects and four 
architects from otiier parts of New Engiand. They include fine examples of commercial vernacular 
architecture with Richardson Romanesque and Renaissance Revival details and a dramatic Second 
Empire building. The builders of the more modest, frame buildings are unknown, but one of them gave 
Greek Revival details, typical for Maine, to the two buildings that make up the Camden Grist Mill.

As one enters the center of Camden from the southwest on Route 1, one passes large, frame 
houses built by sea captains and captains of industry during the 19*^ century, serving today as bed and 
breakfast establishments. A few, small, frame, vernacular buildings precede the Great Fire District 
which begins wiUi the grand, Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera House on the north side of Elm 
Street (Route 1), across from the Village Green. The Opera House is included in the Great Fire District 
to emphasize the themes that the district represents: the historic fire, the community planning, and ttie 
period of significance that reflects in part the immediate rebuilding and gives a certain similarity of 
architectural styles.

The Camden Opera House is followed by a city block, also across from the Village Green, whidi 
contains a row of five brick, commercial buildings, two of which have arched windows of the 
Romanesque style, two of which have large oriel windows cantilevered out on the second story 
suggesting the Queen Anne style, and all of which have decorative. Renaissance Revival cornices 
corbeled out bek>w their various roof lines.

At the center of town five roads come together like the spokes of a wheel: (clockwise) Elm Stre^ 
(Route 1), Mechanic Street, Main Street (Route 1), Bay View Street, and Chestnut Street. The Camden 
Great Fire Historic District skips Mechanic Street because, although its buildings burned to the ground, 
they have all been replaced and remodeled several times and no longer convey the same period of 
significance as the Great Fire District. The district does not go down Bay View Street or up Chestnut 
Street, because the buildings on those streets did not burn in the Great Fire of 1892.

The district skips over Cappy’s Chowder House, at No. 1 Main Street, and the Village Restaurant, at 
No.7 Main Street, because they did not bum in the Great Fire, and they have been extensively 
remodeled. The district then continues up both sides of Main Street to the Megunticook River Bridge.

The buildings on the west side of Main Street begin with a dramatic, trapezoid-shaped. Second 
Empire, brick building and include four Renaissance Revival, brick buildings and the large, non­
contributing Masonic Temple, which was severely altered in 1984 to become the Lord Camden Inn. At 
the end of the row a small, frame building, with a Colonial Revival facade added around 1970, perdies 
on vrood pilings over the Megunticook River.
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Directly across the street, the frame Lily. Lupin and Fern Emporium, at 43 Main Street, is not 
included in the district because the original fish market was enlarged and remodeled In 1997.
Continuing south on the east side of Main Street is a small, frame building with a front facing gable; two 
taller, frame, buildings with flat roofs; the two. 2 !4-story, frame. Greek Revival buildings with front-facing 
gables that make up the Camden Grist Mill and the Grist Mill Store, a narrow two-story passageway wifii 
a flat roof; a large, two-story, frame and stucco Commercial building with a parapet roof; and then three, 
substantial, two-story, brick Renaissance Revival buildings with common walls and cast iron storeffonte. 
Finally, a tall. Queen Anne inspired, narrow, four-story, brick building with two bays of oriel windows 
running up the second, third, and fourth stories ends the row of buildings at the pedestrian walkway that 
leads down to the Public Landing.

The Camden Great Fire Historic District of 22 contributing and one non-contributing commerdai 
buildings possesses uniformity in chronology, in architecture, and in scale. In addition to the history of 
the distrid, these typical examples of late 19*^ century architecture make the Camden Great Fire 
Historic District eligible to be listed in the National Register of Historic Places. The contributing and non­
contributing resources are described more thoroughly below.

WEST SIDE

1. Camden Opera House, 29 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing.
Richardson Romanesque
Architect: Elmer I. Thomas. Lewiston Contractor/Mason: W. A. Libby & Co.

The Camden Opera House is a large. 3 >i-story. red brick Richardson Romanesque building with a 
flat hipped roof. The roof has a large hip dormer in the center of the front facade and two large hip 
dormers on the east side of the low pitched hip roof. A wide cornice of blonde bricks deo)rates the Elm 
Street and Washington Street facades and is corbeled out at the top.

The front facade on Elm Street (Route 1) consists of three wide bays. On the first floor, the center 
bay is a massive. Richardson Romanesque arched entry with the recessed doors leading to the opera 
house. The arch is articulated with several rows of small bricks and decorative, beaded, terra cotta. A 
glass storefront with a recessed center door stands on either side of the massive arch. A narrow, 
granite belt course runs across the front and east side of the building between the first and second 
stories forming window sills for the windows on the second story. The windows on the second story are 
arranged In three bays: the bays on the ends contain three windows each, and the bay in the center 
contains one wider window. All have flat lintels. The wide window in the center bay. between the large 
metal flag poles, is recessed on each side to form a bay window. The windows on the third story have 
hooded, arched. Romanesque surrounds. The center bay contains a single window surrounded by a 
deep, hooded arch of bricks, whereas the two side bays contain three windows each, surrounded by a 
wide, hooded arch.
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The east side of the building presents an asymmetrical pattern of fenestration. The first story 
contains eleven Irregular bays: the first bay at the southeast comer is a glass storefront window; it is 
followed by four bays of small, high windows with granite sills; then a door at the top of four granite 
steps tht provide access to the upper stories; next is a storefront with a door recessed in the center and 
a cast Iron lintel over the entire storefront; then a recessed door, finally, three bays of tall, arched 
openings, two containing windows, while the one in the middle contains a door with a fanlight. The 
second story contains nine irregular bays of windows with granite lintels and granite sills formed by the 
granite belt course between the first and second stories. The third story contains eight irregular bays of 
windows with granite sills and hooded, arched surrounds.

The west side of the building has six randomly spaced double-hung windows on the first floor with 
granite sills and lintels; six randomly spaced windows and one double glass door on the second story, 
with granite sills and lintels; and eight randomly spaced windows with granite sills and hooded arched 
surrounds on the third story. Two large metal fire escapes run across the second and third stories and 
down to the ground. Two arched windows and a door are located on the basement level where the 
ground falls away at the back of the west side.

The bad( of the opera house contains two irregularly spaced, large arched windows with granite 
sills on the ground (basement) level; two irregularly spaced, small arched windows with granite sills on 
the first story; and one small window near the center of the attic or fourth floor. Othenvise, the back of 
the opera house is solid brick, overlooking a small, paved parking lot.

When the Camden Opera House was new in 1894, it was the largest building In Knox County. As 
businessmen had begun building ‘on a more generous and magnificent scale than before,” and as the 
Masonic Temple Association undertook the creation of “one of the finest structures in this part of the 
state,” civic leaders lead by Judge Reuel Robinson, Mayor William V. Lane, W. R. Gill, Isaac Coombs, 
and W. D. Knowiton promoted a bond issue to pay for the new town hall. Conservative citizens opposed 
the bond issue and fought it in the State Legislature and all the way to the State Supreme Court. But 
optimism and progress prevailed, and the Camden Village Corporation hired architect Elmer I. Thomas 
of Lewiston to design the building. Thomas was at the height of his meteoric career, designing major 
commercial blcx:ks, schools, and churches throughout the state. He designed many Renaissance 
Revival buildings and worked in the Shingle Style, but the Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera 
House was perhaps one of his finest designs. He died of typhoid, three years later, at the age of 33.’

The three-and-a-half-story Camden Opera House contained two storefronts on Elm Street, a 
storefront and a room for the new steam fire engine on Washington Street, a lock-up and a police court 
behind the Washington Street store, a hall large enough to seat 800 and a banquet room on the second 
floor, and the offices of the Camden Business Men’s Association and the Camden Board of Trade on 
the third floor. The storefronts on Elm were occupied by the Post Office and Shaw and Beverage 
Furniture Store. Shaw and Beverage became Prince’s Furniture Store, and when the Post Office moved 
to Chestnut Street in 1915, the vacant store was leased to James Sawyer who opened a dry goods 
store and sold ladies' and children’s ready-to-wear clothing.^
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Today, the first floor of the Opera House is occupied entirely by town offices. The Camden Opera 
House was listed on the National Register of Historic Races In 1986, and Is induded in the Camden 
Great Fire Historic District because the old opera house burned in the Great Fire of 1892, and this new 
opera house reflects the community spirit and optimism that led to the rebuilding of most of the 
business district in 1893, immediately following the fire.’

2. William A. French Block, 21 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing.
Renaissance Revival Mason: Willard S. Giles
Architect: James S. Lee. Boston Contractors: W. E. Schwartz and H. C. Small

The William A. French Block is a four-story, red brick cube with a flat roof and Renaissance Revival 
details in the brickwork. The bottom half of the building appears darker and heavier, because the two 
lower stories are of common bond bricks in red mortar, and the two upper stories are of Flemish bond 
(light stretchers and dark headers) in white mortar. The French Block stands on the comer of 
Washington Street and Elm Street (Route 1). and from across Elm Street the two street fronts appear to 
be mirror images of each other. The bricks on each facade project and recede to form four-story-tall 
arches surrounding a wide bay at each corner and three narrow, four-story-tall arches in the center of 
each facade. The wide bays contain two double-hung windows on the second, third, and fourth stories; 
and the three narrow bays contain one double-hung window on the second, third, and fourth stories.
The windows all have granite sills, and the windows on the second and third stories have flat topped 
segmental arches, while those on the fourth story are arched on top. The brick arches project slightly to 
form a hood around the top of each bay. There is a decorative cornice of corbeled brickwork, including 
dentils, under the eaves on all four sides of the French Block. A belt course of red terra cotta divides the 
second and third stories, just below the third-story window sills.

On the first story on Elm Street, two storefronts have a recessed entrance to the upper stories 
between them. The storefront on the comer of Elm and Washington Streets is smaller (equal to one 
large, double bay of the upper stories) and has its entrance recessed under the comer, supported by a 
square brick pier. The original cast iron storefront has been replaced with smaller v^'ndows with brick 
walls below them. The other storefront, on the east end of the Elm Street facade, was originally two 
storefronts: a grocery store below two small bays of the upper stories and a candy store below the large 
double bay near the comer. Each storefront had a large plate glass window, and the two doors were 
recessed in the middle. Today those storefronts have been remodeled into one storefront for a bank. 
The entrance and an ATM machine are recessed in the center between tall, triple windows. Transom 
windows are set in wooden frames, paneled to resemble a cast iron storefront.

On the Washington Street side, the first story contains the comer entrance, the remodeled 
storefront window and two windows and two doors. The east side of the French Block shares a 
common wall with the William R. Gill Block. The rear of the French Block faces an alley and contains 
five bays of windows on the second, third, and fourth stories, as well as a door and three windows on 
the first story.
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William A. French was an importer of china and president of the Massachusetts National Bank In 
Boston. In 1888 William Schwartz built a summer cottage for him on Melvin Heights. After the Great 
Fire. French led a syndicate of investors who financed the construction of the largo, brick block, known 
as the French Block. The three stores on the first floor included the Rose Bros. Pharmacy on the 
comer, W. V. Farnsworth’s grocery store in the middle, and F. G. Mixer’s candy store on the east. 
Rose’s Pharmacy became Chandler’s Pharmacy around 1897, and it was very popular for years. Mr. 
Chandler had a telegraph service, and he posted World Series baseball scores and World War I war 
bulletins in his window. In the 1930s the comer became the Carr>den Drug Co., a Rexall Pharmacy. 
Today the comer storefront is the Maine Coast Photo Shop, and the other two storefronts have been 
combined into the First National Bank of Oamariscotta. The upper stories contain offices.*

3. William R. Gill Block, 15 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing
Queen Anne/Renaissance Revival Masons: Libby & Josselyn, Lewiston
Architect Edwin E. Lewis. Gardiner Contractor W. E. Schwartz

The William R. Gill Block is a three-story, red brick commercial building with a flat roof and a large 
oriel window with a flared hip roof cantilevered out on the west half of the second story. The oriel 
window and the decorative details in the brickwork suggest the Queen Anne style of architecture. The 
cast iron storefront on the first story has a large piate glass window filling the east side and entrances to 
the upper stories and the shop recessed on the west side. Three brick pilasters run up the second and 
third stories of the Elm Street facade with the two bays of windows between them. The pilasters are 
corbeled out at the top to form capitals, and a brick cornice is corbeled out under the eaves across the 
entire front. The windows have granite sills. The windows on the second story have flat lintels, and 
those on the third story have arched tops. The Gill Block shares a common wall with the French Block 
on the west, and it shares a common wall with the Bisbee Block on the east.

William R. Gill, derk of the Mt. Battle Milt and a town selectman and tax assessor, built the Gill 
Block and had the Wm. R. Gill Boot and Shoe Store on the first floor. The second floor was offices and 
the third floor was a hall. Gill sold the building to the Dr. D. P. Ordway Plaster Co. in 1903. The Dr. D. P. 
Ordway Plaster Co. manufactured patent medicines and home remedy plasters for arthritis, indigestion, 
and foot corns. It had moved its factory to Tannery Lane in Camden in 1902.15 Elm Street became its 
store. It employed 100 people, and its mail-order business became so large that the Camden Post 
Office was upgraded to a first-class post office in 1909. Frank Morrow had a jewelry store on the first 
floor from the late 1920s through the 1940s. Today the first floor Is occupied by the Stonewall Krtchen 
Company Store.®

4. William F. Bisbee Block, 11 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing 

Queen Anne/Renaissance Revival
Architect/Contractor: Cyrus P. Brown Mason; Willard S. Giles
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The William F. Bisbee Block is a two-story, roman-brick building with a flat roof and a Queen Anne 
oriel window with a flared hip roof projecting in the center of the second story. At the eaves corbeled 
buff brick form a decorative cornice with dentils. The cast iron storefront on the first floor has an 
entrance to the shop recessed on the left (west) side, and an entrance to the second floor recessed on 
the right (east) side. The storefront has a large bay window in the center. The bay window no longer has 
a cast iron frame; it has a narrow metal frame and sits on a low brick wall. But there is a cast iron lintel 
across the entire front facade, just above the storefront.

The Bisbee Block has three bays of windows on the second story: the large oriel window with a 
flaired hip roof in the center, and a double-hung window with a granite sill and a flat lintel on either side 
of the oriel window. The Bisbee Block shares a common wall with the Gill Block on the west, and it 
shares a common wall with the Curtis Block on the east.

Dr. Walter F. Bisbee was a dentist and the son of Deplura H. Bisbee. one of the founders of Bisbee, 
Marble & Co., makers of blasting powder for the quarries. Or. Bisbee built his artistic building so that he 
and his partner. Dr. Miller, could have their dental office on the second floor, looking out from the large 
plate glass bay window. F. J. Wiley, the tailor, occupied the shop on the first floor. Dr. Bisbee also had 
an office for the Bisbee Powder Co. The powder company no longer manufactured powder, but it sold 
powder. In 1892, Dr. Bisbee had converted his powder mill on the Megunticook River to a woolen mill 
named the Mt. Battie Manufacturing Company. Today the first floor is occupied by the Stitchery 
Square.®

5. John H. Curtis Block, 5 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing.
Renaissance Revival Mason: Willard S. Giles
Architect: Edwin E. Lewis (Gardiner)Contractors: W. E. Schwartz and H. C. Small

The red brick John H. Curtis Block is three stories tall and has a flat roof. It shares a common wall 
with the shorter Bisbee Block to the west, and the Carleton & Pascal Co. Block to the east. The Curtis 
Block was the first brick building to be completed after the fire, and it appears that the architect and 
contractors worked closely with the builders of the Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block to the east, to make the 
two buildings appear to be one. Both buildings are of the same mottled red brick and have a uniform, 
straight, flat, roof lino. Corbeled bricks form a wide cornice under the eaves with corbeled dentils below 
the comice across the front facade of both buildings. Four brick pilasters mn up the facade, dividing the 
two buildings into three nearly equal wide bays. The pilaster between the buildings is wider than the 
other pilasters. The Curtis Block contains two of the bays; each of those bays contain two sets of 
double-hung windows with granite sills and slightly rounded headers. A projecting brick belt course runs 
between the second and third stories across both buildings and, with the pilasters, divides the upper 
stories of the two buildings into six large, horizontal rectangles.

The original cast iron storefront has been replaced with large plate glass windows set in narrow 
aluminum frames resting on low brick walls. The glass front door is recessed in the center, between tfie 
large storefront windows. A large, blank wooden panel runs across the width of the Curtis Block just
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above the storefront windows overlapping the bottom edge of the brick facade. A wooden sign in the 
center says: “Earthbound," the name of the current occupant, in large letters. The Curtis Block was the 
first to be completed after the fire. John H. Curtis had operated a hardware store at this location since 
1838. His son, John C. Curtis, was his partner for many years, and it was John C. who rebuilt the store, 
and sold hardware on the double-sized first floor. The second floor contained a storeroom for Curtis 
Hardware and a barber. Curtis Hardware was a Camden institution. Each spring Curtis Hardware 
sponsored an "Ice-Out Contest, ’awarding a fishing pole to the person who guessed the exact date and 
time the last piece of ice floated out of Lake Megunticook, over the dam at the Rsh Hatdiery. Russell 
Hall, of Boston, purchased Curtis Hardware in 1949 and operated It under the same name. In 1976 
Jack Clinton purchased Curtis Hardware from Hall and operated it until it closed in 1994. Today the first 
story is occupied by "Earth Bound." a women’s clothing store.^

6. Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block, 1 Elm Street, 1893. Contributing.
Renaissance Revival
Architect/Contractor: Stephen G. Ritterbush

The three-story, red brick. Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block has a flat roof. It stands on the northwest 
comer of Elm and Mechanic Streets and shares a common wall with the Curtis Block to the west. The 
Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block was built at the same time as the Curtis Block, and the architects and 
builders worked closely together to nr^ke the buildings appear to be one. The buiklings are of the same 
mottled red brick and have a uniform, straight, flat, roof line. Corbeled bricks form a wide comice under 
the eaves with corbeled dentils under the cornice across the front facade of both buildings. The cornice 
and dentils continue around the comer, across the east facade, facing Mechanic Street Four brick 
pilasters run up the front facade of the two buildings dividing the second and third stories into three, 
nearly equal, wide bays: two bays of two windows each on the Curtis Block, and one bay of three 
windows on the Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block. The brick pilaster that runs up the facade where the two 
buPdings join is slightfy wider than the others. A projecting brick belt course between the second and 
third stories runs across the facades of both buildings and, with the pilasters, forms six large rectangles. 
The three windows on each upper story have granite sills and flat topped segmental arches of yellow 
bricks.

The original cast iron storefront on the first story has been replaced with plate glass windows 
surrounded by narrow aluminum frames, sitting on low brick walls, with glass double doors recessed in 
the center of the storefront. A wide, ornately carved, wooden sign covers the entire width of the front 
facade above the storefront and contains the logo of French & Brawn.

The remodeled storefront window wraps around the comer onto the Mechanic Street side for one 
narrow bay. The Mechanic Street side of the Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block has five brick pilasters 
running up the second and third stories, dividing the upper stories of the facade into four unequal bays: 
a narrow bay containing one window on each end, and two wide bays containing three windows in the 
middle. A belt course of projecting bricks mns along the facade between the second and third stories.
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The double-hung windows are topped with buff bricks forming a flat topped segmental arch. With the 
corbeled cornice and dentils, the brick pilasters, and the yellow flat topped segmental arches above the 
windows, the upper stories on the east side of the building resemble the upper stories on the south 
side.

On the ground floor of the east side of the Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block, the remodeled storefront 
window on the comer is followed by a wide expanse of blank brick wall, and then a wide expanse of 
glass blocks, divided into three sections by four cast iron pilasters which support a long cast iron lintel. 
The glass blocks and the new brick walls below them replaced a cast iron storefront with an entrance in 
its middle section. Following the glass blocks, a doorway to the second floor is recessed under an 
archway articulated with buff bricks.

The landmark grocery store on the comer of Elm and Mechanic began operation as Cleveland and 
Simonton in 1868. It was purchased by Carleton. Norwood & Co. the following year. The great firm of 
Carleton, Norwood & Co., with headquarters in Rockport, was owned and operated by three 
generations of Carletons and Norwoods, including several brothers of each, and was involved in lime 
manufacturing, shipping, shipbuilding, and ship-provisioning. Their fine grocery store in Camden 
catered especially to sea captains and yacht owners. In 1882 one of the Carletons went into partnership 
with William H. Pascal to operate the grocery store. After the Great Fire, Carleton, Norwood & Co. 
rebuilt the grocery store, named Carleton. Pascal & Co. Carleton, Pascal & Co. sold fine groceries, 
confections and cigars on the first floor and crockery and woodenware on the second floor. Alton 
French went to work for Carleton, Pascal & Co, in 1899, and in 1927 the grocery store became 
Carleton, French &. Co. William Brawn became a partner of Alton French in 1954, and the name 
changed to French & Brawn. Brawn's son, Jeff, became the manager in 1979, and Todd Anderson 
became Jeff Brawn's partner in 1995. They still have the finest groceries around and cater especially to 
yacht owners and summer people.®

On the north side, the Carleton. Pascal & Co. Block shares a common wall with the old Fairyland 
Theater. The theater was built in 1904, converted into a bakery in 1913, and totally remodeled in 
1993 when a second story was added and the common wall removed to make it part of the French & 
Brawn grocery store in the Carleton. Pascal & Co. Block. This new addition to the building is not 
included in the district.

7. B. F. Adams Block, 10 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Second Empire
Architect/Contractor; H. C. Small Masons; Hopkins & Washburn

The two-and-a-half-story. Second Empire B. F. Adams Block is the most dramatic building in the 
Camden Business District. It stands on the comer where Elm and Mechanic and Main Streets come 
together, and it is shaped like a trapezoid, with elevations facing Mechanic Street, the large intersection, 
and Main Street. The B. F. Adams Block shares a common wall with the Cleveland Block to the north.
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The tall Mansard roof gives the building the appearance of being three stories high. The hipped top 
of the Mansard roof is of asphalt shingles, and the sides of the Mansard roof are of decorative, 
patterned, slate shingles. The break between the top and the sides of the roof is articulated with a curb 
of sharp, triangular, slate shingles. Two dormers with pedimented gables project on the Mechanic 
Street side, and two similar dormers with pedimented gables project on the Main Street side. A large, 
arched dormer, with a small, pedimented gable roof over the center, fills the end of the Mansard roof 
overlooking the intersection and contains a large, nearly circular window.

There is a decorative comice of dentils and ridges made of corbeled and sawtooth bricks under the 
eaves on the three elevations that face the streets. The cornice is similar to that on the Cleveland Block 
(#8), next door. A cast iron belt course separates the first and second stories. The second story on 
Mechanic Street contains three bays of large, double-hung windows, and the second story on Main 
Street contains three bays of large, double-hung windows. The second story on the end of the building 
that faces the intersection contains two bays with a large, double-hung window on either side of a plain, 
granite plaque in the center that reads ‘B F Adams 1893". All of the windows on the second story have 
granite sills and granite lintels and each lintel has a granite spear-point keystone above its center, 
similar to those on the adjacent Cleveland Block (#8) and the Arau Block (#22) across the street.

On the Mechanic Street side, the first floor of the Adams Block contains a recessed door on the far 
left, an expanse of brick wall in the center, and a large storefront window in an aluminum frame on the 
right. On the end of the building that faces the intersection, the first floor contains a recessed door on 
the left, a brick wall in the center, and a storefront window in a narrow aluminum frame on the right- 
hand comer. On the Main Street side, the entire first floor is a large cast iron storefront with the 
entrance recessed in the center.

The Adams Block was built by Benjamin F. Adams on the site where his shoe store had burned in 
the great fire. Adams signed a ten year lease with Charles I. Wiley and Ephriam G. Wiley for a grocery 
and provisions store on die first floor and in the basement. Charles Wiley helped to choose the modem 
meat freezer and refrigeration units. The second floor contains offices and, at first, the third floor was 
used as the headquarters for an organization raising money to erect a monument to Union soldiers at 
Monument Square (the intersection of Main, Mountain, and High Streets). The grocery store became 
Brown’s Market in the 1920s, and Ora Brown was still there in 1947. Clarence Waterman and Charlie 
Mitchell took over Brown’s Market about the same time that Sam Haskell and Harold Corthell bought 
the building in the 1940s. Haskell and Corthell expanded their clothing store into the first floor shop in 
the 1960s. Today the building is owned by the Dickey family, grandchildren of Harold Corthell, and Bill 
Dickey operates the Camden Embroidery Shop on the first floor.®

8. H. H. Cleveland Block, 16 Main Street, 1893. Contributing. 
Renaissance Revival
Architect/Contractor: H. C. Small Mason: Fred Andrews, Rockport
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The three-story, red brick Cleveland Block has a flat roof and shares a common wall with the 
Adams Block to the south, and a common wall with the Huse Block to the north. It has a wide cornice of 
decorative brickwork across the front under the eaves.

A different number of bays occurs on each story. The third story contains four bays of double-hung 
windows. The second story also contains four double-hung windows, but they are arranged in three 
bays: a bay on each end under the bay above it, and one wide bay in the center with two windows close 
together under one lintel. All of the second- and third-story windows have granite sills and granite lintels 
with a granite spear-point keystone above the center of each lintel, similar to those on the B. F. Adams 
Block (# 7) and the Arau Block (# 22). The light colored sills, lintels, and spear-points provide a rich 
contrast to the red brick on this Renaissance Revival facade.

The first story contains a door to the upper stories recessed under the first bay of windows on the 
left. The rest of the first story contains a cast iron storefront with the entrance recessed in the center of 
the storefront. An awning runs across the entire Main Street facade, just above the storefront A wide 
wooden panel, containing a smaller sign that reads “The Foreside Company," ains across the entire 
facade, just above the awning. It covers the granite sills of the windows on the second story. Originally, 
the Cleveland Block also fronted on Mechanic Street, but because of alterations to the storefront on 
Mechanic Street that facade does not contribute to the district, and it is not included In the district.

Harvey H. Cleveland was a native of Camden, bom in 1816. He spent his early life on a farm and 
teaching school. In 1854 he established the Union Store at this location. His sons. James S. and 
George H. became his partners in 1868. After a fire in 1887, he immediately built a fine wooden block at 
this location. He died in 1889. After the Great Fire of 1892, Cleveland's estate built this three-story, 
brick building. The first story was occupied by A. L. Worthing, a milliner, and J. B. Williamson, a jeweler. 
The secortd floor contained W. P. Weymouth’s restaurant, and the third floor was a hall, used for many 
well-attended dances. In 1894, E. D. Crockett operated a billiards and pool room on the second floor 
and sold choice cigars and tobacco.

The Megunticook Fruit Company occupied the first floor in 1927, the Woman’s Shop occupied it in 
1936, and by 1947 Stevenson’s Candy Shop was located at 6 Main Street, For many years this was 
Haskell and Corthell’s Men's Shop. Today it is occupied by the Foreside Company, selling home 
decorating items.’®

9. Jonathan Huse Block, [16] Main Street, 1903. Contributing.
Architect/Contractor. Cyrus P. Brown

The two-and-a-half-story, red brick, vernacular Huse Block is the newest and most plain building on 
the west side of Main Street. It has a flat roof and shares a common wall with the Cleveland Block to the 
south, and a common wall with the Russell Block to the north. A simple cornice defined by a pattern in 
the brickwork runs across the front facade under the eaves. Old photographs indicate that the simple
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comice replaced a deeper, more decorative comice of corbeled bricks. With its original comice, the 
Huse Block referenced the Renaissance Revival style found throughout the district. The changes to the 
cornice modernized the building in the Commercial style of architecture with its light masonry and its 
minimal details.

The second story contains four bays of double-hung windows with granite sills and flat arches. In 
the deep brick wall above the windows, two carved granite plaques read ‘HUSE” and ”1903." On the 
first story the original cast iron storefront has been replaced with mottled brick wails which support 
shorter storefront windows in narrow aluminum frames with an entrance recessed in the center of the 
storefront, and a doonway to the second story recessed on the right. Above the storefront wirxJows, a 
wide wooden panel with decorative trim runs across the entire front facade and across the entire facade 
of the Russell Block to the north. The large “Planet" logo fills the center of the long wooden panel. The 
Planet toy store occupies the first floor of both buildings.

Dr. Jonathan Huse was born in Warren, Maine, in 1811, and he graduated from the Warren 
Academy. He studied medicine with his uncle. Dr. Joseph Huse, of Camden, and he attended the 
Maine Medical School at Bowdoin College. He was a well-loved doctor in Camden for over fifty years, 
advocating the outdoor life, ventilation, and diet. His son. Dr. Benjamin D. Huse, was also a physician. 
Thus, for over 110 years there was always a Dr. Huse in Camden. Dr. Jonathan Huse died in 1883, and 
twenty years later his estate built this two-story, brick building. The lot had been vacant for ten years. 
Sam Haskell opened a men's clothing store on the first floor as soon as the building was ready. The 
sign above his door read: ‘Outfitter S. B. Haskell Clothier.” Harold Corthell became HaskeH's head 
salesman in 1913, and his partner in 1923. Hakell & Corthell was so successful that they expianded into 
four of the brick buildings on the west side of Main Street, selling men's clothing, women's clothing, and 
shoes. Haskdl & Corthell did not go out of business until the 1990s. Today, the building is owned by the 
Dickey family, grandchildren of Harold Corthell, and the first floor is occupied by the Planet toy store."

10. Franklin E. Russell Block, 20 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Romanesque/Renaissance Revival
Architect: Henry Bailey Alden Contractor Cyrus P. Brown

The small, two-story, mottled light brown brick Russell Block has a flat roof and shares common 
walls with the Huse Block to the south and with the Masonic Temple to the north. The Russell Block 
contains Renaissance Revival details in the brickwork on the second story. The bricks are corbeled to 
form a bracket on each corner under the eaves, while a deep cornice runs across the front facade 
under the eaves. The cornice consists of two straight rows of corbeled bricks and two rows of bricks 
corbeled in a scallop pattern below the straight rows. The second story contains three bays of double- 
hung windows with granite sills and hooded arches. Each arch is articulated with corbeled bricks that 
form a hood over the arch, and each hood rests on capitals, although there are rK) columns below the 
capitals. The capitals are connected to each other by dentils, and the bricks form a recessed panel 
between the windows.
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On the first story, the cast iron storefront has been replaced with mottled red brick walls that support 
storefront windows in narrow aluminum frames with the entrance recessed in the center. The present 
storefront is wider than the original storefront, and the doorway to the second floor which used to be to 
the left of the storefront has been eliminated. Now, access to the second floor is through ttie doonivay in 
the Huse Block to the south. A wide wooden panel with decorative trim fills the space between the 
storefront and the second story window sills across the entire front facade and across the facade of the 
Huse Block to the south. The large Planet logo fills the center of the long wooden panel. The Planet toy 
store occupies the first floor of both buildings.

Franklin Russell hailed from Boston, and before the fire he owned a large wooden block at this 
location, where he and his sisters operated The Boston Store. After the fire he built this two-story brick 
block and again called his shop The Boston Store. It was known for its beautiful brass chand^iers and 
its fency dry goods. The Boston Store was managed by Frank Russell's sisters. Misses Emma and 
Carrie Russell. The local young ladies enjoyed clerking at the Boston Store because they admired the 
Russell sisters. By 1927 Ezra B. Clark, Clothing, occupied 20 Maine Street, and by 1936 it was 
Warren’s Pharmacy. In 1947 it was Libby’s Pharmacy. For many years it was part of Haskell & CortheH, 
and today it is part of the Ranet toy store.

11. Masonic Temple Block, 26 Main Street, 1893. Non-contributing.
Architect: Edwin E. Lewis (Gardiner) Masons: Hopkins & Washburn
(Contractor Stephen G. Ritterbush

The large, four-story, red brick Masonic Temple Block is non-contributing because the two, original, 
huge, central arches and other Richardson Romanesque details were removed when the building was 
remodeled and converted into a hotel in 1984. The building has a flat roof and shares comnxm walls 
with the Russell Block to the south, and the Fletcher Block to the north. The second and third stories of 
the flont facade overlooking Main Street contain six bays of sliding glass doors recessed to form small 
balconies with a Tuscan column on each side of each balcony, white wooden railings across the front, 
and bright blue awnings. The fourth story was added to replace a lower half-story, and its front facade 
of frame clapboards is set back to allow six bays of large windows with glass doors in the center of 
each, opening on to roof-top balconies with clapboard or brick partitions between them. The end walls 
on the fourth story are of brick.

The four cast iron storefronts on the first story were replaced with a white terra cotta brick wall that 
contains four storefronts with large windows set in narrow metal frames and an entrance recessed in 
the middle of each. An entrance to the Lord Camden Inn is recessed under a large, bright blue, semi- 
spherical awning on the left-center of the front facade, between the second and third storefronts.

The Camden Masons lost their beautiful hall in the Great Fire of 1892, and the brethren 
Immediately raise $50,000 and built their magnificent Richardson Romanesque Masonic Temple on the 
old site and on the lot next to theirs that had belonged to George L. Follansbee. Follansbee had



NPSFOMMI0-90CM
IMS)

t<a4-oot$

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 

Continuation Sheet
CAMDEN GREAT FIRE HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Section number 7 Page 15

KNOX COUNTY. MAINE

operated Follansbee & Co.. Dry Goods, with his brother Charles since the 1850s. After the Great Fire 
Follansbee & Co. relocated in one of the larger shops in the Masonic Temple. George Follansbee died 
soon after the new business opened, and Charles continued the business under the name of 
Fonansbee & Wood, Dry Goods. The other large shop on the first floor was occupied by George W. 
Achom, Dry Goods. Also on the first floor were two smaller shops: Fred Lewis’s Jewelry Store and 
News Stand, and Colson & Staples, Milliners. The second story contained a tailor, a doctor, a 
dressmaker, and a barber. The top two floors were occupied by the masons. The third floor included a 
banquet hall. In1927 the first floor was occupied by George W. Achorn Department Store and Fred W. 
Ellwell, Dry Goods. In 1936 It was Achom’s Department Store and Walter 0. Hall, Dry Goods. In 1947 
the first floor was mostly Achom's Department Store. In 1984 the building was renrKxleled to 
accommodate the Lord Camden Inn on the second, third, and fourth floors, and the first floor is 
occupied by Etienne's Jewelry, Wild Rufus Music Store, and Rockport Blueprint, selling art suppNes.'^

12. Edwin C. Fletcher Block, 30 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Renaissance Revival
Architect/Contractor: Stephen G. Ritterbush Masons: Hopkins & Washburn

The striking Renaissance Revival details of the two-and-a-half-story Fletcher Block stand out 
because the front facade is of both red and buff brick used to emphasize the decorative details. The 
first story has red brick walls on the comers. On the left, an entrance to the second story is recessed 
under an arch articulated with buff bricks. Above the arch a dark red terra cotta plaque reads: "Fletcher 
1893 Building.” A storefront with glass windows set in metal frames fills the rest of the first story facade 
and has a glass door recessed In the middle of the windows. Above the storefront windows, an old 
wooden sign reads "BOYNTON MCKAY."

The second story has a buff brick wall and contains four bays: a blank bay of buff brick and three 
bays of double-hung windows with granite sills and flat topped segmental arches containing a red brick 
keystone in the center. The buff brick wall of the upper stories is framed with projecting red bricks on 
the comers and projecting red brick bands that run up the wall between the first and second bay and 
another projecting band of red bricks that runs across the entire facade above the second story. A deep 
oxnice of corbeled red and buff bricks makes a pattern across the building under the eaves. The 
Retcher Block has a flat roof and shares a common wall with the Masonic Temple Block to the soufli.
On the north facade the Fletcher Block has three bays of double hung windows on the second story and 
a tall, narrow, cast iron storefront window, at the front, on the first story.

Edwin C. Fletcher, Camden pharmacist, retired two years before the Great Fire and sold his 
business to Elkanah E. Boynton from Rockland. After the fire. Fletcher built this unusual, multi-colored, 
brick building for the Boynton Pharmacy and soda fountain, and F. P. French’s Cafe, upstairs. Fletcher 
became the president of the Knox Woolen Mill.
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Thomas McKay became a partner of E. E. Boynton and then operated the Boynton McKay 
Pharmacy after Boynton died in 1929. Boynton Mi^a/s pharmacy and soda fountain were a popular 
gathering place until the pharmacy closed in the late 1990s. Today Boynton McKay is a lunchroom that 
goes by the name of the old pharmacy.'^

13. Fletcher Building, 32 Main Street, 1893, altered 1950s and c. 1970. Contributing.
Colonial Revival

The small, one-and-a-half-story, white, frame vernacular Fletcher Building is built on wooden pilings 
over the Megunticook River. Originally this small, deep building had a simple, front-facing gable and a 
large glass window on either side of the front door which opened onto the sidewalk. There was a 
window in the gable, above the front door. The facade was shingled and the windows and door had 
dark trim. The south wall nearly abutted the Edwin C. Fletcher Block, as it does today. Around 1970, a 
cross gable addition with a slightly taller gable roof was added toward the front of the building. Today, 
the wails are white clapboards. The front facade contains a large apothecary window on either side of a 
glass door that is recessed in the center under a tall, deep arch which has an oversized wrought iron 
lantern hanging in the archway over the door. A modest, wooden "House of Logan" sign hangs above 
each of the front windows.

On the north elevation, over the river, a bay window with narrow shutters is cantilevered out under 
the center of the cross gable and there is a small, double-hung window with shutters over the bay 
window In the center of the gable. The west end of the north elevation, beyond the cross gable contains 
a trio of double-hung windows, with narrow shutters on each end. On the rear (west) elevation, over the 
water, the first story contains a wide window in the center with a double-hung window on either end. 
Above It. there Is a small, double-hung window with shutters in the gable.

E. C. Fletcher built this small, vernacular building with apothecary windows right after the Great 
Fire. Because it is built over the Megunticook River, it is built of wood. In the 1894 Camden Directory It 
is listed as: "Page's Confectionery, selling fresh candy, soda, fruit, and cigars, on Main SL on the 
Bridge. L. A. Page, proprietor." By 1899 it was Frank Hoffses’ Fruit and Confectionery. In 1905 it was 
Kennedy’s Fruit and Confectionery on Main St. on the Bridge, also selling cigars and tobacco.’*

For some years this little building was a pool room. Then in 1961, The House of Logan, an 
exclusive women's dress shop, moved to this location. The original House of Logan is still selling 
women’s clothes in Boothbay Harbor. In 1970, architect Walter Skinner changed the front facade, so 
that the door is recessed under a tall, deep archway. The House of Logan has been at this location for 
over 45 years.’*
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EAST SIDE.

14. Herbert J. Potter Studio, 41 Main Street, ca. 1898/1919. Contributing.

The small, frame, one-and-a-half-story, vernacular building that has been known as The Smiling 
Cow since 1941, was moved to this location in 1919 from just west of the Village Green. It has a front­
facing gable, and It is painted white with dark red trim. On the right it has a large wooden storefront 
window with a window box underneath. There is a door in the center, and on the left three hinged 
panels with windows in the top push completely to the left and create a large opening when the store is 
open in the summer. There is a large red and white striped awning above the paneled opening and the 
door on the left, and a smaller red and white striped awning over the storefront window on the right. 
There is a smalt double-hung window above the door in the center of the gable. The wide eaves are 
supported by large wooden brackets. The narrow spaces between the building on the left and the 
building on the right are closed off with wood panels that are used as bulletin boards.

The deep rear of the building stands on steel pilings in the catch basin of the Megunticook River 
falls. A two-story, frame addition with a gable roof has been cantilevered out over the water. There is a 
deck, surrounded by a picket fence, projecting on both stories. In the center of the first story, a large 
double door opens onto the deck, and there is a large picture window on either side of the doors. The 
second story has a door opening onto the deck in the center and double picture windows on either side 
of the door.

Herbert J. Potter had a photography studio on Elm St, across from the Camden Opera House, as 
early as 1898. In his History of Camden and Rockport, Maine, Reuel Robinson says that Potter's Studio 
was built by William V. Lane, another photographer, in 1883. In 1919 Potter moved his studio (the entire 
little frame building) down Main Street and set it on pilings over the Megunticook River catch basin. He 
continued to operate his photograph studio there until he moved to Chestnut Street, some time after 
1903. In the 1930s, the little building served as Lenfesfs Automotive Service. In 1941, Henry W. Rsher 
purchased the building and opened The Smiling Cow gift shop. Today, the Smiling Cow is a Camden 
landmark and is owned and operated by Henry Fisher’s daughter, Meg Quijano.'^

15. Rockland, Thomaston & Camden Street Railway Waiting Room, 39 Main Street, 1915. 
Contributing.

This two-story, frame vernacular building has a flat parapet roof with a moulded, overhanging 
cornices and a wide frieze. Small Italianate brackets are located at the comers of the buildin.

The first story has a door to the second floor on the right, and the rest of the front facade Is filled 
large storefront windows In wooden frames with a glass door in the center. The wall of the firet-story is
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wood paneling articulated with wood strips and painted a dark purple to contrast with the brown of the 
panels and the clapboards. The second story is faced with clapboards and contains three bays of 
double>hung windows. The narrow spaces between the building and those on either side are dosed off 
with wood panels.

The back of the building stands on wooden pilings in the catch basin of the Meguntkxwk River falls. 
On the second story, the plain clapboard walls contain two wide bays of picture windows with casement 
windows on each end of each window. On the first story, double glass doors open onto a deck on the 
left, and there is a wide picture window with casement windows on each end on the right.

In August of 1915 the Rockland, Thomaston & Camden Street Railway built a waiting station at the 
end of the streetcar line by the bridge on Main Street. The first floor was also a place where customers 
could pay their electric bills and purchase small electrical appliances. The second floor was a tenement 
(apartment) The trolley had begun operation in 1892 and ceased operationin 1931. By then the 
property belonged to the Central Maine Power Company, and customers continued to pay their electric 
bills at this building until it was sold to Henry Fisher in 1959. This building was thought to have be«n 
Elweil's Garage, but Elwelfs Garage was north of the bridge over the Megunticook River, and was tom 
down in 1929 to make way for Harbor Park. Today, the first floor is occupied by Surroundings, a gift 
shop.’®

16. Fred F. Thomas Building, 37 Main Street, 1905, altered 1999. Contributing.

This two-story, frame, vernacular building has a flat roof and white clapboard siding. The large 
storefront windows in wood frames that fill the first story have a glass door recessed in the center, and 
there are transoms above the storefront windows and the door. The second story, which was added in 
1999, contains four bays of double-hung windows. It has a simple cornice and a frieze board under the 
eaves. Although the change altered the historic facade, in massing, set back, proportions, and 
materials, it compliments the adjacent properties and does not disrupt the overall character of the 
district The narrow space between the building and those on either side are closed off by wooden 
panels.

The rear of the building extends out over the catch basin of the Megunticook River falls on wood 
pilings. The first story has an unusual pattern of clustered casement windows, almost Palladian in 
shape. There is a tall picture window on each end, then a pair of tall, narrow casement windows on 
either side of a large picture window in the center. Six small, square casement windows open across 
ttie bottom of the center casement and picture windows, and three horizontal windows lie directly above 
the center of the window pattern. The second story contains seven sliding glass doors that open onto a 
wide deck. There are small windows above the sliding glass doors.
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Fred F. Thomas owned a lunchroom on Elm Street for many years. He also operated a merry-go- 
round in the summers at Union and Park. In 1905 he built a humble, one-story restaurant hero, at the 
end of the streetcar line, named the Two by Twice,” possibly because it was his second restaurant. In 
1920 Thomas converted the little restaurant into a cash grocery. In 1928 Fred Thomas’s Grocery Store 
became an A & P grocery store, and Thomas opened an antiques shop next door in the old grist mill 
store. In 1928 there were two A & P grocery stores In the business district, for there was also one at 37 
Elm Street. This building was Nash’s Market In the 1950s and 1960s, owned by Hal Nash. It is now the 
Camden Deli, serving lunch and supper. The Camden Deii added a second story in 1999. The second 
story addition compliments the vernacular style of the Rockland, Thomaston & Camden Street Railway 
Waiting Room to the north.’®

17. Camden Grist Mill Store, 35 Main Street, 1892. Contributing.
Greek Revival

The Camden Grist Mill Store is a two-and-a-half-story, frame vernacular building with a front facing 
gable roof and clapboard siding. The clapboards are painted dark red and the trim is cream colored.
The first story consists of three bays: a recessed door In the center between two large glass windows. 
The second story consists of three bays of double-hung windows. There is a smaller, double-hung 
window in the center of the gable, under the eaves. The contrast in colors between the clapboard walls 
and the trim highlight some simple Greek Revival details that were popular in Maine from the 1820s 
until well after the Civil War. for instance: the front-facing gable with an entablature under the eaves, the 
returns at the comers of the eaves that suggest a pediment, the contrasting comer boards that suggest 
pilasters, the decorative, flat, window crowns, and the hint of a pediment over the door.

The grist mill store is connected to the grist mill on the south by a tall, narrow, two-story 
passageway with a flat roof. The frame passageway is one bay wide. On the first story a door opens 
onto the stairway that leads to the second floor, and the second story has a small, double-hung window. 
The facade of the passageway Is shingled, and it has an entablature under the eaves of the flat roof. At 
the back of the grist mill store, the first story extends out over the Megunticook River dam and spillway, 
supported on wood pilings. The first story contains seven narrow bays: a window, a door onto the dedc, 
a window, a double window, another door, and a window. The second story does not extend as far over 
the water as the first. It has a door onto the first story’s flat roof and a sliding glass door. Above the 
second story there is a double casement window in the center of the gable under the eaves.

Samuel G. Adams and Samuel 0. Carieton were early owners of the Camden Grist Mill and 
provided a very important service to local farmers and farmers from the back country. After the Great 
Fire of 1892, the Camden Grist Mill had to be rebuilt right away so that farmers would have a place to 
bring their winter wheat. After the fire, the millstones were located in the basement of the actual mill to 
the south, and this building was used as the Grist Mill Store, selling flour and grain to the public.
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As flour became readily available in grocery stores, this separate store was no longer needed. Fred 
F. Thomas opened an antiques shop in this building in 1928, and, when the miniature golf fad swept the 
country in 1930, he constructed a small course inside his shop. In the early 1940s this was The 
Sandwich Shop and a Western Union telegraph office. Today it is Marriner’s Restaurant, and it 
advertises “On the waterfall since 1942."”

18. Camden Grist Mill, 31 Main Street, 1892. Contributing.
Greek Revival

The Camden Grist Mill was rebuilt immediately after the fire so farmers would have a place to grind 
their grain. Because it is built over the Megunticook River catch basin, it is built of wood. The two-and-a- 
half-story, frame vernacular building has clapboard siding and a hint of Greek Revival in its details. The 
Greek Revival details on this building include: the front-facing gable, the perfect symmetry, the 
architrave trim under the eaves arrd around the windows, the returns at the comers of the eaves which 
suggest a pediment, the contrasting comer boards which suggest pilasters, and the de<x>rative window 
crowns.

The first story consists of three bays. The center bay contains a large, recessed door surrounded by 
pilasters, an entablature, and a broken pediment containing an urn above the entablature. (The 
pediment was a later addition.) The bays on either side of the door each contain a large, square, 
storefront window with a decorative, carved wooden fan above each window. Historic photographs 
suggest that originally the first story had more simple details such as flat window crowns but, as with the 
Fletcher Building, the storefront received a Colonial Revival update, probably in the 1950s.

The second story consists of three bays. Each bay contains a double-hung window with a flat 
window crown projecting above it and louvered shutters. One double-hung window with a flat window 
crown projecting above it and louvered shutters occupies the center of the half-story under the gable. 
The grist mill is connected to the grist mill store on the north by a tall, narrow, two-story passageway 
with a flat roof. The front of the passageway is shingled, and the single bay contains a door on the first 
story: a small, double-hung window on the second story; and an architrave and entablature under the 
eaves. Inside, the passageway contains a stairway to the second floor of the grist mill store on the 
north. The basement of the grist mill is of stone. It contains the old mill wheels, and the water of the 
Megunticook River pours through it.

The back of the grist mill projects on a rock foundation further than the other buildings built over the 
Megunticook River spillway. On the first story, a door and a window on the left open onto a deck across 
the back, and there are three bays of double, double-hung windows. The deck is connected to the deck 
on the back of the grist mill store. On the left side of the second story, a large picture window has a 
double-hung window on either end; and there is a separate double-hung window on the right side of the 
second story.
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Samuel G. Adams and Samuel D. Carleton were early owners of the Camden Grist Mill and 
provided a very important service to local farmers and farmers from the back country. After the Great 
Fire of 1892, the Camden Grist Mill had to be rebuilt right away so that farmers would have a place to 
bring their winter wheat. After the fire, the millstones were located in the basement of this building, the 
actual mill, and the building to the north was used as the Grist Mill Store, selling flour and grain to the 
public. Captain Isaac W. Sherman, a former sea captain for Carleton, Nonfood & Co., was a part owner 
and manager of the grist mill from 1890 until his death in 1901. The mill closed in the 1940s. and the 
building became Lenfest’s Automotive Service, selling Studebaker automobiles and Tydol gasoline. 
From the 1950s through the 1970s this was the Tweed Shop, a ladies’ dress shop, and it was featured 
in the movie Peyton Place. Today it is the Planet Emporium, a ladies dress shop.^’

19. George H. Cleveland Building, 25 Main Street, 1892 /1909. Contributing.
Commercial Style

The two-story, frame vernacular George H. Cleveland Building was constructed as a single story 
building immediately after the fire. The addition of the second story in 1909 and the use of light stuox) 
on Oie facade of ttiis very rectilinear building suggest the more modem Commercial style of 
architecture. The south wall of the Cleveland Building has been extended and tied into the Hodgman 
Block on the south, and the front stucco wall abuts the Hodgman Block on the right. On the left, the tiny 
storefront and the stucco panel above it were extended to abut the south wall of ftie Camden Grist Mill 
Building, but the second-story wall of the Cleveland Building does not abut the grist mill because of the 
wide, overhanging eaves and return on the grist mill.

The first story consists of a storefront (one bay) on the left, a large storefront (five bays) In the 
center, and a door to the second floor (one bay) on ttie right. The large storefront in the center consists 
of two large plate glass windows in wooden frames with wood panels below, on either side of a 
recessed double door in the center. The space for the third plate glass window on the left has become a 
small storefront with a glass door and a narrow plate glass window, and the space for the third plate 
glass window on the right has become a wood panel used as a bulletin board by the Alien Agency real 
estate company on the second floor. The exposed half timbers articulate seven bays on the second 
story: three bays of double, double-hung windows and four bays of solid stucco on either end and 
between the window bays.

The back of the Cleveland Building is four stories tall. The lower two stories are actually below Main 
Street. The falls of the Megunticook River divide in the spillway to the north, and a branch of the fails 
crosses and falls behind the grist mill, into a channel that runs out to the harbor behind the Cleveland 
Building. A small, wooden walkway on wood pilings crosses the back of the Cleveland Building at the 
lowest basement level. On the first story (above the basement) there are four, small, square, casement 
windows offset to the right. On the second story, there is a tall, double-hung window on the left and six, 
small, square casement windows on the right. The third story contains three wide picture windows with 
casement windows on either side of each. A wrought iron fire escape descends on the left side of the
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back with a landing on the second and third stories.

George H. Cleveland was a son of Harvey H. Cleveland who owned the Union Store on the west 
side of Main Street. George Cleveland was a great believer in Camden as a summer resort, and he built 
the Lake City Inn on Lake Megunticook in 1892. The inn burned to the ground in 1895. but the idea of a 
summer resort at Lake City had caught on. and summer cottages continued to be built all around ttie 
shore of Lake Megunticook.

George Cleveland operated a general store, selling groceries, flour, grain, fruit, fish, seafood, meat, 
provisions, candy, crockery, china, glassware, cutlery, tinware, woodenware, hardware, sporting goods, 
toys, games, and musical merchandise in his lofty, wooden building at this location. It was in his general 
store that the great fire began on the night of November 1.1892. Because so many people depended 
on him for his large variety of merchandise, Cleveland felt a special urgency about reopening his store. 
He quickly built a temporary, one story, fieme building at this location and was open before Christmas 
of 1892. He intended to replace his temporary building, but the Panic of 1893 forced him to just patch 
and expand. In 1896 Clev^and had contractor Spencer Meno raise the building to street le\^ which 

had been raised after the building was constructed. Mero also put a new front on the store. In 1909 
Cleveland added a second story and moved his hardware department upstairs. In 1910, he changed 
the name of his store to The Village Shop, and in 1914 he sold The Village Shop to Jessie Hosmer who 
had worked for him since she graduated from high school in 1904. Miss Hosmer installed large plate 
glass windows on the front in 1914. She and her bookkeeper-partner, Bertha Clason, pioneered in the 
gift shop business. They were the first to sell gifts, stationery, china, books, Maine crafts, children’s 
toys, and penny candy. The Village Shop is still popular, over 100 years later.”

20. George Hodgman Block, 21 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Colonial Revival
Architect/Contractor: Cyrus P. Brown Mason: Willard S. Giles

The two-story, red brick hlodgman Block shares a common wail with the Burd Block to the south. 
The two buildings were built at the same time, and the owners used the same architect/contractor, and 
the buildings look like they are one 5-bay building. They have a flat roof and a decorative cornice of 
corbeled bricks running under the eaves of both buildings and also across the facade of the Arau Block 
to the south of the Burd Block. Below the comice, the bricks on the Hodgman and Burd Blocks are 
recessed slightly to create the impression of a projecting brick frame running up the north edge of the 
Hodgman Block, across the top of both blocks, and down the south edge of the Burd Block. Thus, the 
Arau Block appears to project slightly. The north side of the Hodgman Block abuts the wooden 
Cleveland Building on the north.

The second story of the Hodgman Block contains three bays: two bays of double-hung windows, 
with a similar window which has been bricked in on the right. The windows are the same as those on 
the Burd Block. They all have granite sills and a flat topped segmental arch above. On the first story of
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the Hodgman Block, a cast iron storefront on the left has its entrance recessed in the center of the 
storefront, and a doorway to the second floor is recessed on the right. A wide cast iron lintel runs across 
the entire facade of both the Hodgman and Burd Blocks, just above the storefronts. A large wooden 
sign for “Maine Gathering” covers the cast iron lintel on the Hodgman Block.

At the back of the Hodgman Block, one sees that it is the first building built entirely on land, with the 
Megunticook River falls to the north. The Hodgman and Burd Blocks appear to be one building, and 
they project farther than any of the other buildings. On the back side, because of the slope of the land 
and the exposed basements, they appear to be three stories tall with a flat roof. Both buildings have 
three bays of double-hung windows with granite sills and segmental arches on the upper floors. The 
windows on the Hodgman Block have been reduced to accommodate windows with flat tops. On the 
basement level, the center bay contains a door opening onto a wooden deck that runs across the back 
of both buildings. A fire escape landing from the fliird floor right window connects to the fire escape that 
descends on the left side of the Cleveland Building.

George T. Hodgman was bom in Camden in 1860 and began his clothing busiriess in the 18^. A 
photograph of Hodgman & Co. when it was located in the frame building next to the original Camden 
National Bank, shows that Hodgman advertised; ‘Gents’ Furnishing Goods," “Clothing, Hats and Caps,” 
and “Rubber Clothing" for fishermen. Hodgman served as a selectman, a collector of customs, a 
postmaster, and a representative to the state legislature. After the Great Fire, Hodgman buHt a two- 
story, brick block on the east side of Main Street, just south of the wooden buildings built over the 
Megunticook River falls. He used the same architect and builder as George Burd used for his two-story 
brick block next door, and it appears that the two buildings are one. But an article about the rebuilding in 
the Camden Herald on December 15.1893, stated: “Although this block was built In company, it is by 
no means a company building. Mr. Burd owns the southerty half, and Mr. Hodgman that on the northerly 
side." The second floor of the Hodgman Block was originally occupied by J. B. Swan & Son, 
undertakers and casket salesmen.

The Camden Directory for 1899 lists: “Hodgman & Co., Main St., swell suits, natty overcoats. hats.“ 
Hodgman also sold children’s clothing. His brother, J. Hale Hodgman, was his partner, and eventually 
Maurice Payson, a long-time employee, bought the business. George Hodgman died in 1926, but 
Hodgman Clothing continued to sell men’s clothing until the early 1970s. Today the Hodgman Block is 
occupied by Maine Gathering, selling fine Maine crafts and candy.^

21 .George Burd Building, 17 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Colonial Revival
Architect/Contractor: Cyrus P. Brown Mason: Willard S. Giles

The two-story, red brick Burd Block shares a comnrton wall with the Hodgman Block on the north. 
The two buildings were built at the same time, and the owners used the same architect/contractor, and
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they look like they are one 5-bay building. They have a flat roof and a decorative cornice of corbeled 
bricks under their eaves which runs across the entire facade of both buildings and the facade of the 
Arau Block, to the south of the Burd Block. The Burd Block shares a common wall with the Arau Block. 
Below the cornice, the bricks on the Hodgman and Burd Blocks are recessed slightly to create the 
impression of a projecting brick frame running up the north edge of the Hodgman Block, across the tops 
of both blocks, and down the south edge of the Burd Block. It also creates the impression that the Arau 
Block on the south projects slightly.

The second story of the Burd Block contains two bays of double-hung windows, identical to the 
three bays of windows on the second story of the Hodgman Block. They have granite sills and flat 
topped segmental arches.

The first story of the Burd Block contains a cast iron storefront with its entrance recessed in the 
center. A wide, cast iron lintel runs across the entire facade of both the Hodgman and Burd Blocks, just 
above their storefronts. A small wooden sign for Starbird Antiques covers the lintel directly above the 
entrance to the storefront.

On the back, it appears that the Burd and Hodgman Blocks are one. They project fertherthan any 
of the other buildings, and because of the slope of the land and their exposed basemente, they appear 
to be three stories tall with a flat roof. Both buildings have three bays of double-hung windows with 
granite sills and segmental arches. On the Burd Block the windows have been reduced to 
accomnK>date windows with flat tops. On the basement level, a door on the right opens onto the 
wooden deck that runs across the back of both buildings. A wrought iron fire escape runs down the left 
side of the back of the Burd Block.

Since the Burd Block projects farther than the Arau Block to the south, there is room for a storefront 
on the south wall of the basement level. The basement storefront consists of two large plate glass 
windows with granite sills and segmental arches with a glass door in between them. A wooden sign 
above the storefront reads “Camden Falls Gallery." The brick wall on the upper two stories Is blank.

Geoige Burd was bom in Camden in 1833. Beginning around 1861, Burd sold boots and shoes on 
Main Street. After the Great Fire, Burd built a two-story brick block using the same architect and builder 
as George Hodgman used for his block next door. It appears that the two buildings are one, however an 
article in the Camden Herald on December 15,1893, noted that “Mr. Burd owns the southerly half, and 
Mr. Hodgman that on the northerly side."

In the earliest photographs, the sign above the door says, "Burd & Hosmer.“ Nathan Hosmer was 
George Burd’s partner, but Hosmer died in 1896 at the age of 37, and Burd changed the name of his 
business to George Burd Shoe Company. In 1910 Burd sold his shoe business to the A. H. Berry Shoe 
Company of Portland, and the business continued under the name of George Burd Shoe Company with 
Nell Fuller continuing as clerk. Burd died in 1915, but the George Burd Shoe Company continued to sell 
shoes until after World War II. Today the Burd Block is occupied by Star Bird Antiques.^^
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22. Sylvester Arau Block, 13 Main Street, 1893. Contributing.
Renaissance Revival
Architect/Contractor; H. C. Small Mason: Crockett. Rockland

The Sylvester Arau Block is a two-story, red brick vernacular building with a flat roof and a few 
details that hint of the Renaissance Revival style of architecture. The Arau Block was built at the same 
time as the Burd Block to the north. It shares a common wall with the Burd Block, and ft appears that 
the architects of the two buildings worked closely together, for the wide comice of corbeled bricks with a 
pattern of dentils and vertical bricks stretches across the entire front of the Arau, Burd, and Hodgman 
Blocks, making them look, at first, like one building. The Arau Block also shares a common wall with 
the taller W. B. Groves Block on the south.

On the second story, the front facade of the Arau Block contains three bays of double-hung 
windows with granite sills and granite lintels with a granite spear-point keystone, similar to those found 
on the B.F. Adams Block (#7) and the H.H. Cleveland Block (# 8), above the center of each lintel. A 
granite plaque above the center window reads: “ARAU 1893." On the first floor, the front facade 
contains a cast iron storefront under a wide cast iron lintel that runs across the entire Arau Block. Under 
the lintel, the storefront fills the left and center with two large plate glass windows and an entrance 
recessed in the center. The storefront windows and door have transoms above them. On the right, a 
door to the second floor is recessed under the lintel.

On the back, the Arau Block does rwt project as far as the Burd and Hodgman Blocks. It contains 
three bays of double-hung windows with granite sills and granite lintels on the two upper stories. The 
basement level has a storefront cut into the brick foundation. The storefront has a large window on the 
left with narrow casement windows on either side and a glass door on the right.

Sylvester Arau always told the story of being descended from Italian royalty. His mother was the 
Countess Lucina, and his father was wealthy. But his father was one of the heroes of ttie failed Revolt 
of 1848, and his property was confiscated. Sylvester Arau himself fought with Garibaldi in the Sicilian 
Revolt of 1860. He received two saber wounds and two bullet wounds. He emigrated to New York in 
1868 and came to Camden in 1871 and opened a barbershop.

After the Great Fire of 1892, Arau bought this lot from the Alden family who owned the Camden 
Anchor Works where the Public Landing is today. Arau had his builder design a two-story, brick building 
that would compliment the Burd Block next to it on the north. The first floor and the basement were 
occupied by F. O. Clark, groceries and meat market. Sylvester and his brother, Leo. had their 
barbershop upstairs, and old photographs show that they had a miniature barber pole on either side of 
each of the three windows on the second story, a very tall barber pole on the curb, and both sides of 
their door frame were painted to look like barber poles.

Sylvester Arau retired in 1924, and the 1927 Camden Directory indicates that George Morrison was 
operating the barbershop, and George Lewis had a restaurant on the first floor. Arau died in 1931, at
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the age of 90. His daughter, Teresa, sold the Arau Block to Harold Corthell in 1945. At that time there 
was a watch and clock shop on the first floor. A children’s clothing store opened on the first floor In the 
1960s, and there is a children’s clothing store there still.“

23. Travelers’ Inn (Groves Block), 11 Main Street. 1899. Contributing.
Queen Anne/Commercial Style
Architect/Contractor: Stephen G. Ritterbush Mason: Willard S. Giles

This narrow, four-story, red brick building with a flat roof is the tallest building on this side of Main 
Street. Its two bays of distinctive oriel windows with flared hip roofs running up the second, third, and 
fourth stories, are cantilevered over the first-story storefront and suggest Queen Anne exuberance. The 
first-story storefront has been remodeled so that it has an entrance on the left and a large plate glass 
window on the right, both set into a bronze colored metal frame. The bronze colored transom panel 
above the storefront window contains a sign for Camden Pottery. A long, narrow, window box runs 
across the front.

The south side of the building overlooks the pedestrian walkway down to the Public Landing. It 
contains four bays on each story. On the second, third, and fourth stories there are three bay^ of 
double-hung windows with granite sills and segmental arches and one blank bay. On the first story 
there is a bay containing a storefront window on the comer and two bays of double-hung windows with 
granite sills and segmental arches. A wrought iron fire escape descends along the back bay of 
windows. There are two small windows at the basement level with segmental arches. On the back, a 
two-story, red brick addition with a flat roof projects on the basement and first-story level. It contains two 
bays of picture windows on both levels. The bottom left bay also contains the entrance to a small shop. 
The second, third, and fourth stories on the back of the Groves Block each contain one wide bay of 
picture windows and one narrow bay of casement windows. The Groves Block shares a common wail 
with the Arau Block on the north.

In 1899 Walter B. Groves purchased this lot from Henry L. Alden who owned the Camden Anchor 
Works where the Public Landing is today. Groves hired Stephen Ritterbush of Camden to design and 
build his four-story Traveler’s Inn, with distinctive bay windows on the upper stories. Groves operated 
the Traveler’s Inn and a restaurant on the first floor until 1919, when he sold the building to George E. 
Allen. The building has housed the Allen Agency, selling insurance and real estate, ever since.
Camden Pottery occupies the first floor today.“
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Maik *x* in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying foe property 
for National Register listing.)

■ A Proper^ is associated with events that have made 
a siwificant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
hi^ artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark V in all foa boxes that apply.)

Property is:

□ A owned by a religious institution or used for 
religious purposes.

□ B removed from its original location.

□ C a birthplaoe or a grave.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from Instructions)

ARCHITECTURE

COMMERCE

COMMUNITY PLANNING

SOCIAL HISTORY

Period of Significance 

1892 -1956

Significant Dates 

1892. 1893. 1898/! 

1903,1905_____

1915. 1919

Significant Person
(Complete H Crilenon B Is marked above)

□ D a cemetery.

□ E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

Cultural Affiliation

□ F a commemorative property.

□ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain foe slgnlflcanoe of foe property on one or more continuation sheets.)

ArchItsct/BuildM-

Multlole: see continuation sheet

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography
(Ote foe books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more oonOnuatton sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):
□ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 
_ CFR 67) has been requested

previously listed in the National Register 
previously determined eligibie by the National Register 
designate a National Hi»oric Landmark 
r^rded by Historic American Buildings Survey
recorded by Historic Amencan Engineering 
Record#

□□□□

Primary location of additional data: 
B Stale Historic Preservation Office 
□ Other State agency

□ Federal agency
□ Local government
□ University
□ Other
Name of repository:
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ARCHITECT / BUILDER

Architects: Thomas, Elmer I. (1863-1896) 
Lee, James S. (b. 1870)
Lewis, Edwin E. (b. 1846)
Alden, Henry Bailey (1841-1919)'

Architect/Contractor
Brown. Cyrus P. (1862-1949) 
Ritterbush, Stephen G. (1863-1927) 
Schwartz, William E. (1858-1918)

Contractors: Libby, W.A. & Co. (Lewiston, Maine) 
Small, H.C. (Camden, Maine)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Statement of Significance

The Camden Great Fire District, in the heart of the town of Camden, in Knox County, on the coast 
of Maine, is locally significant under National Register Crtteria A and C, in the areas of Commerce, 
Community Planning, Architecture, and Social History. The district is significant in the area of 
Commerce, because it retains the scale and density of a typical, prosperous, 19"* century New Ervgland, 
seaside commercial district The district is significant in the area of Community Planning because 18 of 
the 22 buildings were constructed in 1893, immediately following a disastrous fire. The town selectmen 
passed an ordinance requiring permanent buildings in the district to be constructed of brick, thus many 
of the new buildings represent a tremendous investment and spirit of cooperation. The seven small 
wooden buildings in the district were exempt from the ordinance because they were built over the catch 
basin and spillway of the Megunticook River, and were considered temporary. The district is significant 
in the area of Architecture, because the buildings reflect architectural styles and materials that were 
popular in smail New England towns at the end of the 19"’ century. The fifteen large brick buildings were 
all designed by architects: four local architect/builders from Camden: Cyrus P. Brown, Stephen G. 
Ritterbush, W. E. Schwartz, and H. C. Small; and four architects from other parts of New England,
Edwin E. Lewis from Gardiner. Elmer I. Thomas from Lewiston, and Henry B. Alden and James S. Lee 
from Boston. The district is significant in the area of Social History because It reflects the impact of 
tourism on New England and especially the Maine Coast. Beginning in the 1880s, wealthy families from 
Boston. Philadelphia, New York. Chicago, and Washington, D. C.. came by steamboat or by train and 
built summer cottages. They brought tourism to Camden and provided employment for
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caretakers, carpenters, gardeners, innkeepers, restauranteurs, boatyards, and gift shops, as other 
Industries died: shipping after the Civil War, the lime industry after the turn of the century, and 
shipbuilding, the anchor works, the foundry, and the woolen mills after World War II. Through all these 
major economic changes, the Camden Great Fire Historic District has kept its late IQ®* century 
appearance while remaining commercially viable. It is a small, New England commercial district serving 
a seaside town and adapting to the needs of tourists. The period of significance is 1892-1956, which 
indudes the 27 years during which the buildings were built and the district acquired its pichjresque 
appearance, as well as the period during which the town cultivated and maintained its classic New 
England small town image. The Camden Great Fire Historic District contains 21 contributing resources 
and one non-contributing resource.

The Setting: Economics and Commerce

The natural beauty of the Camden Hills, where the mountains meet the sea. first attracted James 
Richards and his family to the area in 1769. In 1771 a center of commerce was bom when William 
Minot established a grist mill and a saw mill where the Megunticook River fails into Camden Harbor.
The Megunticook River is unique along the coast, because the height of its great falls allows its waters 
to remain fresh, unaffected by the saltwater tides, all the way to the harbor.^^

The village of Camden incorporated in 1791, and Captain William McGlathry launched the 
shipbuilding industry at the harbor in 1792. The residents established a school and a post office in 
1794, and a meetinghouse in 1799. The harbor and the mills made Camden a market for all the back 
country. Prosperity came from shipping fish and timber to Great Britain and France until the Napoleonic 
Wars ^d embargoes brought a temporary end to shipping and drove some seamen to privateering and 
piracy.28

Six mills grew up along the Megunticook River during the first half of the 19"’ century producing 
grain, lumber, wool, oakum, plugs, and blasting powder. A water-powered foundry at Knowiton Street 
produced capstans, winches, windlasses, blocks, and pumps. Shipyards were ac^e throughout the 
century. Steamboats traveled between Boston and Camden, and between Portland and Camden. A 
lighthouse was built on Negro Island (called Curtis Island today) in 1835, and Camden served as a port 
of entry from 1849 to 1888, with a Customs House on Main Street.”

By the 1850s the lime industry was flourishing. Lime was mined at the Jacobs Quarries on Union 
Street and at Simonton’s Comer, and then burned in the lime kilns on the west side of the CanrKlen 
Harbor. It was shipped all over the world to be used for plaster, mortar, putty, soap, talcum powder, 
chicken grit, and in the manufacture of paper, rubber, and dyes.”

For this small, industrious. New England seaside village, the one block of Main Street and the 
adjacent block of Elm Street bustled with grocers, provisioners, pharmacists, doctors, dentists, barbers.
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dry goods, clothing stores, milliners, jewelers, tailors, the grist mill, the Customs House, a book store, 
shoe stores, and an old hotel. The two-and-a-half-story, wooden, commercial buildings with front-facing 
gables lined the board sidewalks and the wide, dirt road.^'

Milling and manufacturing prospered. Horatio Alden and Albert Johnson began producing the first 
endless felts for drying newspapers in 1863, and they changed the name of their mill to the Knox 
Woolen Mill in 1872. In 1866 Horatio Alden and his brother, William, founded the water powered 
Camden Anchor Works. It became the largest plant of its kind in the country, supplying anchors for 
ships all over the world.” To serve the social and civic needs of its residents, in 1876 the village of 
Camden built Megunticook Hall on Elm Street. It was a large, three-story, frame Italianate building with 
a decorative belfry, and it provided the police courtroom, the jail, and a large space for meetings and 
entertainment for the residents of Camden.”

In the 1880s wealthy families from Bangor, Boston, Philadelphia, New York. Chicago, and 
Washington, D. C. began coming to Camden for the summer. They stayed at the Bay View Hotel, 
Ocean House, and Mrs. Hosmeris Boarding House; and they built large summer cottages. They came 
because of the scenery; they came because Camden Harbor was accessible for their large yachts; and 
they came because writers like Sarah Orne Jewett and William Dean Howells romanticized the 
decaying wharves and the beautiful old sea captains' houses that were the essence of a glorious New 
England past. The commercial district on Elm Street and Main Street served the needs of the summer 
people. They paid little attention to the manufacturing districts along Mechanic Street. Bay View Street, 
or Commercial Street.^

In 1891. one hundred years after incorporation, the town of Camden separated from the village of 
Rockport. Camden was larger, more commercial, and its residents felt it bore an unfair financial burden 
compared to the smaller, residential community of Rockport. In 1892 the Rockland, Thomaston, & 
Camden Street Railway began running along Union Street, linking Camden and Rockport once again.”

The Great Fire

The Great Fire of 1892 began at 1 am, on the night of November 10“*, in the lofty, four-story 
wooden building belonging to George H. Cleveland on the east side of Main Street, where the Village 
Shop (# 19) Is today. The flames spread to other buildings on the east side of Main Street and then, 
driven by a fierce easterly wind off the bay, leapt over to the west side of Main Street. The flames 
quickly destroyed the old frame buildings on the west side of Main Street and those behind on 
Mechanic Street, and then crossed Mechanic Street to devour everything within the block bounded by 
Mechanic Street on the north and east, by Washington Street on the west, and by Elm Street on the 
south. The fire was a grand spectacle, with flames soaring high Into the night sky. The gale carried 
pieces of burning tar paper and burning shingles as far as Simonton’s Corner, two miles to the 
southeast. The fire consumed Megunticook Hall, the municipal opera house on Elm where the Camden
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Opera House is today. It destroyed the Estabrook house, next door, and was finally subdued In the old 
Jones house, owned by Dr. Tibbetts, with the help of the steam fire engine from Rockland. A snow 
squall covered the roofs of buildings to the west with snow, preventing a greater loss.

When the fire was over the next day, the following buildings had been destroyed: the Cleveland 
building, the grist mill and the grist mill store, the Burd building, the Hodgman building, the Arau 
building, and the AWen building on the east side of Main Street; the whole block on the west side of 
Main Street through to Mechanic Street, containing ten commercial buildings and one home; the section 
on the north side of Mechanic Street between it and the Megunticook River containing five shops; the 
whole block bounded by Mechanic Street on the north and east, Washington Street on the west, and 
Elm Street on the south containing eight commercial buildings, one house, the Methodist Church, and 
the firehouse; and Megunticook Hall and the Estabrook house on Elm Street. The Jones house, owned 
by Dr. Tibbetts, was partially destroyed, but later rebuilt.

The fire took eighteen homes and forty commercial buildings which had housed sixty businesses 
and ten organizations, including the Masonic Temple, the Odd Fellows’ Hall and the office of the 
Businessmen’s Association. No large manufacturing establishments were destroyed. Only one small 
building was without insurance.^

Rebuilding: Community Spirit and Community Planning

Several town meetings were called immediately after the fire to consider what to do. The principal 
results were the adoption of a law forbidding the erection of permanent wooden buildings within the 
center of the business district and the purchase of an excellent steam fire engine. The grist mill and the 
grist mill store had to be rebuilt immediately so that farmers would have a place to bring their grain. 
They were built of wood because they were built over the Megunticook River falls. George Cleveland’s 
store had sold groceries and provisions, and he felt an urgent obligation to his customers. He built a 
temporary frame building over the Megunticook River spillway, and he was open for business before 
Christmas, 1892.’^

In spite of the economic Panic of 1893, the businessmen of Camden took inspiration from each 
other, and rebuilt a business district finer than the collection of old wooden buildings that had turned to 
ashes. The Camden Herald of December 15,1893, wrote:

That a village which had lost from $300,000 to $400,000 in buildings could be rebuilt with fine 
looking substantial brick blocks within a year, and during a year of scarcity of money, is a credit 
to its pluck and energy. Camden stands higher in public estimation today than she did before 
her destructive ftre. No town of its size in Maine or even New England has shown such 
persistent courage and indomitable energy. While other towns have been gloomy and 
despondent on account of the hard times, Camden has been too busy rebuilding to think of the 
depression of business. The reputation for energy and public spirit virhich she has won is worth 
all it has cost."
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As businessmen rebuilt their buildings with special deeds for comnKsn walls and utility easements, 
they were able, in some cases, to make several buildings look like one by using the same color bricks 
and having the same roof line and a common cornice. They also formed the Camden Masonic Temple 
Association and raised $50,000 to build the impressive four-story, Richardson Romanesque Masonic 
Temple Block in the middle of the west side of Main Street. And the Camden Village Corporation voted 
to build the magnificent, Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera House and town offices on the site 
of the former Megunticook Hall on Elm Street. It was necessary to amend the charter of the Camden 
Village Corporation to authorize it to issue bonds in the amount of $30,000. Some conservative citizens 
of Camden opposed the amendment to the charter, but the State Legislature allowed the amendment, 
and the Camden Opera House was built in 1893, during the first year of enthusiastic, energetic, 
community spirit.”

The Architects, the Architecture, and the Builders

In some small New England villages at the end of the 19“* century, commercial buildings were 
vernacular, modest staictures, using common, regional forms and materials and mixing traditional and 
contemporary architectural styles. Yet other towns looked to architects to design stylish, (if not 
necessarily ‘in a style') commercial structures. The post-fire Camden streetscape draws on both of 
these forces. For example, the modest, frame, grist mill (#s 17 & 18) was built in a hurry, but it was 
given a few Greek Revival details which had been popular and ubiquitous through out Maine from the 
1820s until well after the Civil War.^ In the post fire atmosphere of 1893, the people of Camden sei:^ 
the opportunity to rebuild the entire business district at one time, each block more imposing and 
elaborate than it might have been if the buildings had been built one at a time.^' Yet, as with many 
commercial areas built at the end of the nineteenth-century the structures were often a mixture of 
eclectic styles, drawing detaiis from the Queen Anne, Colonial Revival, Italianate, Renaissance Revival, 
Romanesque Revival and others. This tendency is evident in Camden. Only the Opera House (#1), the 
French Block (#2) and the Adams Block (#7) were designed within the parameters of a specific style. 
However, a common vocabulary seemed to emerge along Elm and Main Streets. This vocabulary 
contains repeated elements, materials or motifs, including built-up and corbeled cornices, flat topped 
segmental arches, and subtle classical or Renaissance details such as pilasters and arches. Texture 
and color are evident in many of the brick buildings as the builders made use of contrasting cx>lored 
bricks or stone in cornices, headers and pilasters; punched up the visual contrast with colored mortar, 
or added terra cotta elements to the facade. The visual, stylistic, and artistic links between many of 
these buildings may reflect the sharing of ideas between architect, craftsmen and suppliers during the 
initial re-building effort.

The Renaissance Revival style was popular for commercial buildings from 1840 to 1890, and the 
architects working in Camden applied Renaissance Revival details such as: prominent cornices, low 
roof lines, belt courses, and articulated windows to nine of the brick buildings in the district.^
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The exuberant, decorative Queen Anne style of architecture was popular in America in the 1880s 
and 1890s, after the British introduced it at the Philadelphia Centennial exposition in 1876. Distinctive 
Queen Anne oriel windows and decorative textures are seen in three of the brick buildings in the 
district.'*^

It is a surprise to find a grand Second Empire building in the center of the district, and even more 
surprising that it was designed and built by a little known local architect, H. C. Small. Second Empire 
architecture, with its distinctive Mansard roof, was popular in America from 1860 to 1890. The Boston 
City Hall and the Philadelphia City Hall, built after the Civil War, are fine examples of the Second 
Empire style.^

The last major architectural style of the late 19‘^ century to be found in the Great Fire District is 
Richardson Romanesque. Named for its creator, Henry Hobson Richardson, one of America's greatest 
19“* century architects. Richardson Romanesque architecture was popular for courthouses, libraries, 
railroad stations, universities, and churches from 1870 to 1900. The two buildings In the Great Fire 
District that employed this massive, masculine style with its wide arches were the two publicly financed 
buildings: the Camden Opera House (#1) designed by E. I. Thomas of Lewiston, Maine and the 
Masonic Temple (#11), designed by E. E. Lewis of Gardiner. Maine.'*^

As was common in the construction of brick commercial buildings in late 19"' century Maine 
architects were engaged to design all of the brick blocks. In spite of the fact that the Economic Panic of 
1893 caused money to be tight, the architects and builders gave their buildings details that suggest 
significant architectural styles. And the publicity given to the rebuilding of the business district provides 
the names of some of the masons and carpenters, thus affording us the opportunity to study the work of 
kr>own craftsmen of the day.

The architects begin with Cyrus Porter Brown who was bom in South Boston in 1862. His father 
was a builder in Boston and Camden, and Cyrus received his education in Camden. After working as a 
builder in Rhode Island, Cyrus Brown came back to Camden in 1888 as the period of summer cottage 
construction was beginning. After the Great Fire of 1892, Brown designed and built the Hodgman Block 
(# 20), the Burd Block (#21), and the Bisbee Block (#4), and he was the contractor for the Russell 
Block (#10), designed by architect H. B. Alden of Boston. Brown later designed and built the Huse 
Block (#9) in 1903. Brown went on to build many Shingle Style summer cottages in the area for 
summer people from Philadelphia. Chicago. New York, and Washington D.C. He also built the Shingle 
Style Camden Yacht Club, designed by John Calvin Stevens of Portland.'*®

Stephen G. Ritterbush was bom in Johnson, Vermont in 1863, and received his education there. He 
came to Camden as a builder in 1889, and after the fire he built five of the large brick buildings in the 
Great Fire District. He designed and built the Carleton, Pascal & Co. Block (#6) and the E. C. Fletcher 
Block, (#12) both with multi-colored brickwork. He was also the contractor for foe Richardson 
Romanesque Masonic Temple (#11) and the Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera House (#1). In
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1899 he designed and built the Travelers Inn (#23) with its distinctive Queen Anne oriel windows for W. 
B. Groves. He built large summer cottages in the Shingle Style, the Queen Anne Style, and the Arts and 
Crafts Style, for summer people from Chicago and New Haven, and he built the vernacular shirt factory 
for the Storey Manufacturing Co. (known today as the Brewster Building) and the Craftsman Style 
Camden YMCA. Ritterbush was also a civil engineer and worked on bridges, dams and the 
waterworks.^^

William E. Schwartz was bom and educated in Waldoboro. He began vi^rk as an architect and 
contractor in 1882, and after the Great Fire, he moved his office to the new Camden Opera House In 
1893. After the fire, Schwartz was the contractor for the Curtis Block (#5), the French Block (#2), and 
the Gill Block (#3). Schwartz built large summer cottages at Melvin Heights and on Beauchamp Point, 
and he acted as the rental agent for the cottages on Beauchamp Point. He also built the Colonial 
Revival Camden High School and the Shingle Style Megunticook Golf Club.^

Little is known of the Camden architect and contractor H. C. Small, except that he often worked with 
W. E. Schwartz. Together they were the contractors for the French Block (#2) and the Curtis Block 
(#5). After the fire. Small also designed and built the Cleveland Block (# 8) and the Arau Block (#22), 
and he designed and built the very dramatic Second Empire Adams Block (#7).^

Edwin E. Lewis was born in Cornish. New Hampshire in 1846. After fighting in the Civil War, he 
moved to Gardiner, Maine, in 1875 when he was appointed chief engineer and superintendent of 
constructx3n at the National Soldiers' Home at Togus. He began his career as an architect in 1884, and 
designed many homes, churches and commercial buildings in central Maine. He favored the fancy 
Queen Anne style of architecture, and his most noted building was the huge Queen Anne style Gardiner 
Coliseum, built in 1884. After the Great Fire of 1892, Lewis designed the Gill Block (#3) and the Curtis 
Block (#5). He also designed the Richardson Romanesque Masonic Temple (#11), which was altered 
beyond recognition in 1970.”

Elmer I. Thomas was born in Lewiston, Maine in 1863. He attended Wesleyan University and took 
classes in architecture at MIT. He opened an office in Auburn and then moved back across the river to 
Lewiston. He designed Shingle Style houses and churches, a Romanesque Revival school, and 
Renaissance Revival commercial buildings. After the Great Fire, he designed the magnificent 
Richardson Romanesque Camden Opera House (#1). He died of typhoid fever at the age of 33, at the 
height of his career.*’

Henry Bailey Alden, a prominent Boston architect for over 50 years, was bom in Somerville, 
Massachusetts, in 1841, and studied architecture at MIT. He designed numerous fine homes In Greater 
Boston, Brookline, and Beverley, Massachusetts. He favored Colonial Revival architecture, and he 
designed significant Craftsman Style homes before his death in 1919. He was especially noted for his 
commercial buildings. After the fire in Camden, Alden designed a building with Renaissance Revival 
details for Franklin Russell (#10).”
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James Stearns Lee was bom in Lawrence, Massachusetts in 1870, and became a leading Boston 
architect. He designed many of the summer estates on Cape Cod. After the Great Fire, Lee designed 
the French Block (#2) for a syndicate of businessmen led by William A. French of Boston. Lee was only 
23 years old at the time.®^

The local craftsmen were written up in a special issue of the Camden Herald on December 15, 
1893, and in the Rockland Courier Gazette of Juno 15,1901. The Courier Gazette described Willard S. 
Giles as an experienced mason who did all kinds of stone and brick work, including that on the French 
Block(#2), the Bisbee Block (M). the Curtis Block (#5), the Hodgeman Block (#20), the Burd Block 
(#21), and the Travelers’ Inn (#23). The Camden Herald named Hopkins and Washburn as the masons 
for the Adams Block (#7), the Masonic Temple (#11, and the Fletcher Block (#12). Fred Andrews of 
Rockport did the masonry work on the Cleveland Block (#8). Libby and Josselyn of Lewiston were the 
masons for the Gill Block (#3), and W. A. Libby of Lewiston was the contractor and mason for the 
Camden Opera House (#1). Crockett of Rockland was the mason for the Arau Block (#22).

Joiners, carpenters, finishers, plumbers, electricians, painters, and those who did tinting and filling 
were also listed, but their work is not so strikingly visible t(^ay.

Social History — The Impact of Tourism

Mark Twain described the end of the 19"* century arxl the beginning of the 20** century as the 
Glided Age, for the Industrial Revolution and the railroads had created great wealth. During the 
economic Panic of 1893,74 railroads went Into receivership, 600 banks closed, and 15,000 businesses 
collapsed. However, tourism was already well established in Maine.®^

In Inventing New England: Regional Tourism in the Nineteenth Century, author Dona Brown 
describes the development of American tourism beginning in the 1820s. While European tourists were 
visiting our big cities to discover American culture, American tourists sought to escape the cities in the 
summer in search of scenic landscapes: Niagara Falls, Mount Holyoke, Saratoga Springs and the White 
Mountains of New Hampshire. They came to New England by steamboat, by railroad, and by 
stagecoach at just the right time, as farming became unprofitable, as lumber was exhausted, and as 
whale fisheries were depleted.®®

In the 1830s and 1840s, tourism was driven by the sentimentalization of New England expressed in 
literature and guide books: the pastoral beauty, the rural independence, the virtuous simplicity, and the 
Ck>lonial history. Scenic tourist locations attracted artists like Thomas Cole and writers like Nathaniel 
Hawthorne, who felt a patriotic duty to romanticize the scenery. By the 1850s, the artists and writers had 
shifted the emphasis in tourism from the scenic to the fashionable.®® During the 1860s and 1870s 
members of the upper middle class spent their vacations at religious camps or cottages, for week long 
revivals and rustication, at places like Chatauqua, New York, at Oak Bluffs on Martha’s Vineyard, and at 
BayskJe, Maine.®^
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By the 1880s the railroads were promoting tourism by building elegant resort hotels like the 
Samoset in Rockland, Maine, and the Poland Spring House in Poland Springs, Maine. But the truly 
wealthy wanted to find places that were free of excurskjnists and day-trippers. And so they discovered 
the
Maine Ck>ast, most of which was accessible only by steamboat or private yacht. Wealthy families from 
Boston, Philadelphia, Chicago, New York, and Washington, D. C. came and built elaborate summer 
cottages overlooking Penobscot Bay, on Dillingham’s Point, on Beauchamp Point, on Bay View Street, 
on High Street (the Belfast Road), and at Melvin Heights.”

The impact of the summer people was beneficial to the economy of Camden, for they provided 
employment for many former sea captains and shipbuilders, as caretakers, carpenters, gardeners, 
innkeepers, restauranteurs, yacht repairmen and provisioners, and gift shop owners. As the lime 
Industry moved to Rockland at the turn of the century, as the Knowiton foundry dosed around 1921, 
and as the Camden Anchor Rockland Machine Co. dosed in 1925, tourism became more and more 
important to the small business district at Elm and Main. Shops changed their stock slightly, to please 
the tourists, and it was important to the summer people that the business district look the same, with a 
scale and density that implied the romantic history that they sought and an intimacy that implied the 
convenience of store credit.”

The mills and the shipyards prospered and provided employment through the Great Depression and 
through two world wars. The summer people contributed much to the town of Camden; J. C.
Strawbridge macadamized Mechanic Street to his cottage on Melvin Heights in 1908; Edward Bok built 
the new o)ncrete Bog Bridge to get to his camp on Lake Megunticook in 1913; Cyrus Curtis built the 
CanfKien Yacht Club in 1912; Mary Bok donated land for the Public Library and Amphitheater In 1916; 
she donated Harbor Park in 1926 and landscaped it in 1929; Cyrus Curtis, Mary Bok, Chauncey Keep, 
and John Gobble donated the Village Green in 1926; Mary Bok donated the Public Landing in 1938; 
and she brought musicians from the Curtis Institute of Music to spend the summer and give public 
performances beginning in 1931. All of these gifts made Camden more picturesque and attractive to 
tourists.”

During the second half of the twentieth century the mills gradually closed and the shipyards became 
boatyards, repairing and selling fancy yachts. Captain Frank Swift began restoring old windjammers and 
offering day-long or week-long sailing voyages for tourists in 1936. In the 1950s artists moved to 
Camden and established the Maine Coast Artists gallery. Writers helped to establish Down East 
magazine in 1954.°’

In 1957 Twentieth Century Fox filmed Peyton Place in Camden. Producer Jerry Wald chose 
Camden for the movie’s location because the beautiful, quaint, old town looked like an American icon, a 
charming, historic New England town of simple virtues, a perfect foil for the scandals that smoldered 
below the surface in the story. The movie made its debut at the Camden Theater on Mechanic Street 
and went on to become a box office sensation, earning nine Academy Award nominations.”
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In the 1970s people began retiring to Camden and opening bed and breakfast inns: former doctors, 
businessmen, and many retirees from the Foreign Service and the CIA. They came because they had 
once sailed into Camden Harbor and fallen in love with the mountains, just as James Richards had in 
1769.“

Today, the economy of Camden depends on retirees and summer people. And, thus far, Camden 
has retained its appearance as a charming, nostalgic remnant of a romantic past, a place that feels like 
the essence of New England, the essence of America. When Russ Tamblyn, one of the stars of Peyton 
Place, returned to Camden for a film festival, almost fifty years after filming the movie, he said that 
Camden had not changed a bit.“
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UTM*S. continued

5. 19/ 494669 4894899
6. 19/ 494753 4894944

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary of the Camden Great Fire Historic District is shown as the solid, dark line on the 
accompanying map entitled ‘Camden Great Fire Historic District”.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundary of the Camden Great Fire Historic District have been drawn to include all of those 
resources rebuilt after the fire of 1892 that retain overall integrity of design, materials, workmanship, 
location, association, setting and feeling from the period of significance. Areas that were destroyed in 
the fire but have lost integrity, including properties on the south side of the Megunticook River along 
Mechanic and Washington Streets, were not included within the district, nor were properties that pre­
date the fire but were not affected by the conflagration (#1 and #5 Main Street, and areas of Bay View 
Street). The property immediately to the north of the Smiling Cow (# 14, map 120 lot 280) was 
destroyed by the fire, however an extensive ground-up renovation in 1999 compromised the historic 
integrity of the structure to the extent that it was excluded from the district. The district boundary, as 
depicted on the map entitled "Camden Great Fire Historic District” have been drawn to exdude ^e 

Mechanic Street storefront that is induded as a portion of Tax Map 120 lot 162, as well as the Mechanic 
Street storefront to the northwest of the Carieton, Pascal & Co. Block, which is a portion of Tax Map 
120 lot 160.
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PHOTOGRAPHS

Photograph 1 of 6.
Ann Morris
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
Northwest side of Elm Street, facing North.
From left to right, the photograph depicts inventory numbers 1.2,3,4,5,6, 21. 22, and 23.

Photograph 2 of 6.
Ann Morris
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
East side of Main Street, facing northeast.
From right to left the photograph depicts the Viliage Restaurant (not in district), and then inventory 
numbers 23,22,21.19.18.17.16.15. and 14.

Photograph 3 of 6.
Ann Morris
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
William F. Bisbee Block, 11 Elm Street (Inventory #4); facing northwest.

Photograph 4 of 6.
Ann Morris
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
B.F. Adams Block, 10 Main Street (Inventory #7, on left) and H.H. Cleveland Block, 16 Main Street 
(Inventory #8. on right); facing northwest.

Photograph 5 of 6.
Ann Moms
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
Edwin C. Fletcher Block, 30 Main Street (Inventory # 12); facing west.

Photograph 6 of 6.
Ann Morris
Maine Historic Preservation Commission 
June 2006
Camden Grist Mill Store, 35 Main St. (Inventory # 17, on left), Camden Grist Mill, 31 Main St. (inventory 
# 18. center) and George H. Cleveland Building, 25 Main St. (Inventory # 19. on right); facing east.
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United States Department of the Interior
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE
Maine Ecological Services Field Office

P. O. Box A
East Orland, ME 04431

Phone: (207) 469-7300 Fax: (207) 902-1588

In Reply Refer To: 
Project Code: 2025-0098024 
Project Name: 39 Main Street Camden
 
Subject: List of threatened and endangered species that may occur in your proposed project 

location or may be affected by your proposed project

To Whom It May Concern:

The enclosed species list identifies threatened, endangered, proposed and candidate species, as 
well as proposed and final designated critical habitat, that may occur within the boundary of your 
proposed project and/or may be affected by your proposed project. The species list fulfills the 
requirements of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) under section 7(c) of the 
Endangered Species Act (Act) of 1973, as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.).

New information based on updated surveys, changes in the abundance and distribution of 
species, changed habitat conditions, or other factors could change this list. Please feel free to 
contact us if you need more current information or assistance regarding the potential impacts to 
federally proposed, listed, and candidate species and federally designated and proposed critical 
habitat. Please note that under 50 CFR 402.12(e) of the regulations implementing section 7 of the 
Act, the accuracy of this species list should be verified after 90 days. This verification can be 
completed formally or informally as desired. The Service recommends that verification be 
completed by visiting the IPaC website at regular intervals during project planning and 
implementation for updates to species lists and information. An updated list may be requested 
through the IPaC system by completing the same process used to receive the enclosed list.

The purpose of the Act is to provide a means whereby threatened and endangered species and the 
ecosystems upon which they depend may be conserved. Under sections 7(a)(1) and 7(a)(2) of the 
Act and its implementing regulations (50 CFR 402 et seq.), Federal agencies are required to 
utilize their authorities to carry out programs for the conservation of threatened and endangered 
species and to determine whether projects may affect threatened and endangered species and/or 
designated critical habitat.

A Biological Assessment is required for construction projects (or other undertakings having 
similar physical impacts) that are major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the 
human environment as defined in the National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. 4332(2) 
(c)). For projects other than major construction activities, the Service suggests that a biological 
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evaluation similar to a Biological Assessment be prepared to determine whether the project may 
affect listed or proposed species and/or designated or proposed critical habitat. Recommended 
contents of a Biological Assessment are described at 50 CFR 402.12.

If a Federal agency determines, based on the Biological Assessment or biological evaluation, that 
listed species and/or designated critical habitat may be affected by the proposed project, the 
agency is required to consult with the Service pursuant to 50 CFR 402. In addition, the Service 
recommends that candidate species, proposed species and proposed critical habitat be addressed 
within the consultation. More information on the regulations and procedures for section 7 
consultation, including the role of permit or license applicants, can be found in the "Endangered 
Species Consultation Handbook" at:

https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/endangered-species-consultation- 
handbook.pdf

Migratory Birds: In addition to responsibilities to protect threatened and endangered species 
under the Endangered Species Act (ESA), there are additional responsibilities under the 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) to 
protect native birds from project-related impacts. Any activity, intentional or unintentional, 
resulting in take of migratory birds, including eagles, is prohibited unless otherwise permitted by 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)). For more 
information regarding these Acts, see https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-bird-permit/what- 
we-do.

The MBTA has no provision for allowing take of migratory birds that may be unintentionally 
killed or injured by otherwise lawful activities. It is the responsibility of the project proponent to 
comply with these Acts by identifying potential impacts to migratory birds and eagles within 
applicable NEPA documents (when there is a federal nexus) or a Bird/Eagle Conservation Plan 
(when there is no federal nexus). Proponents should implement conservation measures to avoid 
or minimize the production of project-related stressors or minimize the exposure of birds and 
their resources to the project-related stressors. For more information on avian stressors and 
recommended conservation measures, see https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/threats-birds.

In addition to MBTA and BGEPA, Executive Order 13186: Responsibilities of Federal Agencies 
to Protect Migratory Birds, obligates all Federal agencies that engage in or authorize activities 
that might affect migratory birds, to minimize those effects and encourage conservation measures 
that will improve bird populations. Executive Order 13186 provides for the protection of both 
migratory birds and migratory bird habitat. For information regarding the implementation of 
Executive For information regarding the implementation of Executive Order 13186, please visit 
https://www.fws.gov/partner/council-conservation-migratory-birds.

We appreciate your concern for threatened and endangered species. The Service encourages 
Federal agencies to include conservation of threatened and endangered species into their project 
planning to further the purposes of the Act. Please include the Consultation Code in the header of 
this letter with any request for consultation or correspondence about your project that you submit 
to our office.
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Attachment(s):

Official Species List
USFWS National Wildlife Refuges and Fish Hatcheries
Bald & Golden Eagles
Migratory Birds
Wetlands

OFFICIAL SPECIES LIST
This list is provided pursuant to Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, and fulfills the 
requirement for Federal agencies to "request of the Secretary of the Interior information whether 
any species which is listed or proposed to be listed may be present in the area of a proposed 
action".

This species list is provided by:

Maine Ecological Services Field Office
P. O. Box A
East Orland, ME 04431
(207) 469-7300
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PROJECT SUMMARY
Project Code: 2025-0098024
Project Name: 39 Main Street Camden
Project Type: Determination Key (DKey) Administration
Project Description: Pier Improvements
Project Location:

The approximate location of the project can be viewed in Google Maps: https:// 
www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z

Counties: Knox County, Maine

https://www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z
https://www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z
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1.

ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT SPECIES
There is a total of 4 threatened, endangered, or candidate species on this species list.

Species on this list should be considered in an effects analysis for your project and could include 
species that exist in another geographic area. For example, certain fish may appear on the species 
list because a project could affect downstream species.

IPaC does not display listed species or critical habitats under the sole jurisdiction of NOAA 
Fisheries , as USFWS does not have the authority to speak on behalf of NOAA and the 
Department of Commerce.

See the "Critical habitats" section below for those critical habitats that lie wholly or partially 
within your project area under this office's jurisdiction. Please contact the designated FWS office 
if you have questions.

NOAA Fisheries, also known as the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), is an 
office of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration within the Department of 
Commerce.

1

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/
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MAMMALS
NAME STATUS

Northern Long-eared Bat Myotis septentrionalis
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9045

Endangered

Tricolored Bat Perimyotis subflavus
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/10515

Proposed 
Endangered

FISHES
NAME STATUS

Atlantic Salmon Salmo salar
Population: Gulf of Maine DPS
There is final critical habitat for this species. Your location does not overlap the critical habitat.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/2097

Endangered

INSECTS
NAME STATUS

Monarch Butterfly Danaus plexippus
There is proposed critical habitat for this species. Your location does not overlap the critical 
habitat.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743

Proposed 
Threatened

CRITICAL HABITATS
THERE ARE NO CRITICAL HABITATS WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA UNDER THIS OFFICE'S 
JURISDICTION.

YOU ARE STILL REQUIRED TO DETERMINE IF YOUR PROJECT(S) MAY HAVE EFFECTS ON ALL 
ABOVE LISTED SPECIES.

USFWS NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE LANDS 
AND FISH HATCHERIES
Any activity proposed on lands managed by the National Wildlife Refuge system must undergo a 
'Compatibility Determination' conducted by the Refuge. Please contact the individual Refuges to 
discuss any questions or concerns.

THERE ARE NO REFUGE LANDS OR FISH HATCHERIES WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9045
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/10515
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/2097
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743
http://www.fws.gov/refuges/
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1.
2.
3.

1.
2.
3.

BALD & GOLDEN EAGLES
Bald and Golden Eagles are protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act  and the 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) . Any person or organization who plans or conducts 
activities that may result in impacts to Bald or Golden Eagles, or their habitats, should follow 
appropriate regulations and consider implementing appropriate avoidance and minimization 
measures, as described in the various links on this page.

The Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940.
The Migratory Birds Treaty Act of 1918.
50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)

BALD & GOLDEN EAGLES INFORMATION WAS NOT AVAILABLE WHEN THIS SPECIES LIST WAS 
GENERATED. PLEASE CONTACT THE FIELD OFFICE FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

MIGRATORY BIRDS
The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA)  prohibits the take (including killing, capturing, selling, 
trading, and transport) of protected migratory bird species without prior authorization by the 
Department of Interior U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service). The incidental take of migratory 
birds is the injury or death of birds that results from, but is not the purpose, of an activity. The 
Service interprets the MBTA to prohibit incidental take.

The Migratory Birds Treaty Act of 1918.
The Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940.
50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)

MIGRATORY BIRD INFORMATION WAS NOT AVAILABLE WHEN THIS SPECIES LIST WAS GENERATED. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE FIELD OFFICE FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

WETLANDS
Impacts to NWI wetlands and other aquatic habitats may be subject to regulation under Section 
404 of the Clean Water Act, or other State/Federal statutes.

For more information please contact the Regulatory Program of the local U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers District.

Please note that the NWI data being shown may be out of date. We are currently working to 
update our NWI data set. We recommend you verify these results with a site visit to determine 
the actual extent of wetlands on site.

2
1

1

https://www.fws.gov/law/bald-and-golden-eagle-protection-act
https://www.fws.gov/law/migratory-bird-treaty-act-1918
https://www.fws.gov/law/migratory-bird-treaty-act-1918
https://www.fws.gov/law/bald-and-golden-eagle-protection-act
http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
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IPAC USER CONTACT INFORMATION
Agency: Private Entity
Name: Joe Scala
Address: 75 John Roberts Rd., Suite 4A
City: South Portland
State: ME
Zip: 04106
Email jscala@sebagotechnics.com
Phone: 2074826337
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United States Department of the Interior
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE
Maine Ecological Services Field Office

P. O. Box A
East Orland, ME 04431

Phone: (207) 469-7300 Fax: (207) 902-1588

In Reply Refer To: 
Project code: 2025-0098024 
Project Name: 39 Main Street Camden 
 
Federal Nexus: no  
Federal Action Agency (if applicable):  
 
Subject: Record of project representative’s no effect determination for '39 Main Street 

Camden'
 
Dear Joe Scala:

This letter records your determination using the Information for Planning and Consultation 
(IPaC) system provided to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) on May 16, 2025, for '39 
Main Street Camden' (here forward, Project). This project has been assigned Project Code 
2025-0098024 and all future correspondence should clearly reference this number. Please 
carefully review this letter.

Ensuring Accurate Determinations When Using IPaC

The Service developed the IPaC system and associated species’ determination keys in accordance 
with the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (ESA; 87 Stat. 884, as amended; 16 U.S.C. 1531 et 
seq.) and based on a standing analysis. All information submitted by the Project proponent into 
IPaC must accurately represent the full scope and details of the Project.

Failure to accurately represent or implement the Project as detailed in IPaC or the Northern 
Long-eared Bat and Tricolored Bat Range-wide Determination Key (Dkey), invalidates this 
letter. Answers to certain questions in the DKey commit the project proponent to 
implementation of conservation measures that must be followed for the ESA determination to 
remain valid.

Determination for the Northern Long-Eared Bat and/or Tricolored Bat

Based upon your IPaC submission and a standing analysis, your project has reached the 
following effect determinations:

Species Listing Status Determination
Northern Long-eared Bat (Myotis septentrionalis) Endangered No effect
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Tricolored Bat (Perimyotis subflavus) Proposed 
Endangered

No effect

 
Federal agencies must consult with U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service under section 7(a)(2) of the 
Endangered Species Act (ESA) when an action may affect a listed species. Tricolored bat is 
proposed for listing as endangered under the ESA, but not yet listed. For actions that may affect a 
proposed species, agencies cannot consult, but they can confer under the authority of section 7(a) 
(4) of the ESA. Such conferences can follow the procedures for a consultation and be adopted as 
such if and when the proposed species is listed. Should the tricolored bat be listed, agencies must 
review projects that are not yet complete, or projects with ongoing effects within the tricolored 
bat range that previously received a NE or NLAA determination from the key to confirm that the 
determination is still accurate.

To make a no effect determination, the full scope of the proposed project implementation (action) 
should not have any effects (either positive or negative), to a federally listed species or 
designated critical habitat. Effects of the action are all consequences to listed species or critical 
habitat that are caused by the proposed action, including the consequences of other activities that 
are caused by the proposed action. A consequence is caused by the proposed action if it would 
not occur but for the proposed action and it is reasonably certain to occur. Effects of the action 
may occur later in time and may include consequences occurring outside the immediate area 
involved in the action. (See § 402.17).

Under Section 7 of the ESA, if a federal action agency makes a no effect determination, no 
consultation with the Service is required (ESA §7). If a proposed Federal action may affect a 
listed species or designated critical habitat, formal consultation is required except when the 
Service concurs, in writing, that a proposed action "is not likely to adversely affect" listed species 
or designated critical habitat [50 CFR §402.02, 50 CFR§402.13].

Other Species and Critical Habitat that May be Present in the Action Area

The IPaC-assisted determination key for the northern long-eared bat and tricolored bat does not 
apply to the following ESA-protected species and/or critical habitat that also may occur in your 
Action area:

Atlantic Salmon Salmo salar Endangered
Monarch Butterfly Danaus plexippus Proposed Threatened

 
You may coordinate with our Office to determine whether the Action may affect the animal 
species listed above and, if so, how they may be affected.

 
Next Steps

If there are no updates on listed species, no further consultation/coordination for this project is 
required with respect to the species covered by this key. However, the Service recommends that 
project proponents re-evaluate the Project in IPaC if: 1) the scope, timing, duration, or location 
of the Project changes (includes any project changes or amendments); 2) new information reveals 
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the Project may impact (positively or negatively) federally listed species or designated critical 
habitat; or 3) a new species is listed, or critical habitat designated. If any of the above conditions 
occurs, additional coordination with the Service should take place to ensure compliance with the 
Act.

If you have any questions regarding this letter or need further assistance, please contact the 
Maine Ecological Services Field Office and reference Project Code 2025-0098024 associated 
with this Project.
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Action Description
You provided to IPaC the following name and description for the subject Action.

1. Name

39 Main Street Camden

2. Description

The following description was provided for the project '39 Main Street Camden':

Pier Improvements

The approximate location of the project can be viewed in Google Maps: https:// 
www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z

https://www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z
https://www.google.com/maps/@44.21059545,-69.06456870790744,14z
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1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

DETERMINATION KEY RESULT
Based on the information you provided, you have determined that the Proposed Action will have 
no effect on the species covered by this determination key. Therefore, no consultation with the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service pursuant to Section 7(a)(2) of the Endangered Species Act of 
1973 (87 Stat. 884, as amended 16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.) is required for those species.

QUALIFICATION INTERVIEW
Does the proposed project include, or is it reasonably certain to cause, intentional take of 
listed bats or any other listed species? 
 
Note: Intentional take is defined as take that is the intended result of a project. Intentional take could refer to 
research, direct species management, surveys, and/or studies that include intentional handling/encountering, 
harassment, collection, or capturing of any individual of a federally listed threatened, endangered or proposed 
species?

No
Is the action area wholly within Zone 2 of the year-round active area for northern long- 
eared bat and/or tricolored bat?
Automatically answered
No
Does the action area intersect Zone 1 of the year-round active area for northern long-eared 
bat and/or tricolored bat?
Automatically answered
No
Does any component of the action involve leasing, construction or operation of wind 
turbines? Answer 'yes' if the activities considered are conducted with the intention of 
gathering survey information to inform the leasing, construction, or operation of wind 
turbines. 
 
Note: For federal actions, answer ‘yes’ if the construction or operation of wind power facilities is either (1) part 
of the federal action or (2) would not occur but for a federal agency action (federal permit, funding, etc.).

No
Is the proposed action authorized, permitted, licensed, funded, or being carried out by a 
Federal agency in whole or in part?
No
[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.5 miles of a known bat hibernaculum? Note: 
The map queried for this question contains proprietary information and cannot be 
displayed. If you need additional information, please contact your State wildlife agency.
Automatically answered
No
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7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

Does the action area contain any winter roosts or caves (or associated sinkholes, fissures, 
or other karst features), mines, rocky outcroppings, or tunnels that could provide habitat 
for hibernating bats?
No
Does the action area contain (1) talus or (2) anthropogenic or naturally formed rock 
shelters or crevices in rocky outcrops, rock faces or cliffs?
No
Will the action cause effects to a bridge? 
 
Note: Covered bridges should be considered as bridges in this question.

No
Will the action result in effects to a culvert or tunnel at any time of year?
No
Are trees present within 1000 feet of the action area? 
 
Note: If there are trees within the action area that are of a sufficient size to be potential roosts for bats answer 
"Yes". If unsure, additional information defining suitable summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat and 
tricolored bat can be found in Appendix A of the USFWS’ Range-wide Indiana Bat and Northern long-eared bat 
Survey Guidelines at: https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey- 
guidelines.

Yes
Does the action include the intentional exclusion of bats from a building or structure? 
 
Note: Exclusion is conducted to deny bats’ entry or reentry into a building. To be effective and to avoid harming 
bats, it should be done according to established standards. If your action includes bat exclusion and you are 
unsure whether northern long-eared bats or tricolored bats are present, answer “Yes.” Answer “No” if there are no 
signs of bat use in the building/structure. If unsure, contact your local Ecological Services Field Office to help 
assess whether northern long-eared bats or tricolored bats may be present. Contact a Nuisance Wildlife Control 
Operator (NWCO) for help in how to exclude bats from a structure safely without causing harm to the bats (to 
find a NWCO certified in bat standards, search the Internet using the search term “National Wildlife Control 
Operators Association bats”). Also see the White-Nose Syndrome Response Team's guide for bat control in 
structures.

No
Does the action involve removal, modification, or maintenance of a human-made structure 
(barn, house, or other building) known or suspected to contain roosting bats?
No

https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

Will the action cause construction of one or more new roads open to the public? 
 
For federal actions, answer ‘yes’ when the construction or operation of these facilities is 
either (1) part of the federal action or (2) would not occur but for an action taken by a 
federal agency (federal permit, funding, etc.).
No
Will the action include or cause any construction or other activity that is reasonably certain 
to increase average night-time traffic permanently or temporarily on one or more existing 
roads? Note: For federal actions, answer ‘yes’ when the construction or operation of these facilities is either (1) 
part of the federal action or (2) would not occur but for an action taken by a federal agency (federal permit, 
funding, etc.). .

No
Will the action include or cause any construction or other activity that is reasonably certain 
to increase the number of travel lanes on an existing thoroughfare? 
 
For federal actions, answer ‘yes’ when the construction or operation of these facilities is 
either (1) part of the federal action or (2) would not occur but for an action taken by a 
federal agency (federal permit, funding, etc.).
No
Will the proposed Action involve the creation of a new water-borne contaminant source 
(e.g., leachate pond, pits containing chemicals that are not NSF/ANSI 60 compliant)? 
 
Note: For information regarding NSF/ANSI 60 please visit https://www.nsf.org/knowledge-library/nsf-ansi- 
standard-60-drinking-water-treatment-chemicals-health-effects

No
Will the proposed action involve the creation of a new point source discharge from a 
facility other than a water treatment plant or storm water system?
No
Will the action include drilling or blasting?
No
Will the action involve military training (e.g., smoke operations, obscurant operations, 
exploding munitions, artillery fire, range use, helicopter or fixed wing aircraft use)?
No
Will the proposed action involve the use of herbicides or other pesticides other than 
herbicides (e.g., fungicides, insecticides, or rodenticides)?
No

https://www.nsf.org/knowledge-library/nsf-ansi-standard-60-drinking-water-treatment-chemicals-health-effects
https://www.nsf.org/knowledge-library/nsf-ansi-standard-60-drinking-water-treatment-chemicals-health-effects
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22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

Will the action include or cause activities that are reasonably certain to cause chronic or 
intense nighttime noise (above current levels of ambient noise in the area) in suitable 
summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat or tricolored bat during the active season? 
 
Chronic noise is noise that is continuous or occurs repeatedly again and again for a long 
time. Sources of chronic or intense noise that could cause adverse effects to bats may 
include, but are not limited to: road traffic; trains; aircraft; industrial activities; gas 
compressor stations; loud music; crowds; oil and gas extraction; construction; and mining. 
 
Note: Additional information defining suitable summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat and tricolored bat 
can be found in Appendix A of the USFWS’ Range-wide Indiana Bat and Northern long-eared bat Survey 
Guidelines at: https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey- 
guidelines.

No
Does the action include, or is it reasonably certain to cause, the use of permanent or 
temporary artificial lighting within 1000 feet of suitable northern long-eared bat or 
tricolored bat roosting habitat? 
 
Note: Additional information defining suitable summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat and tricolored bat 
can be found in Appendix A of the USFWS’ Range-wide Indiana Bat and Northern long-eared bat Survey 
Guidelines at: https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey- 
guidelines.

No
Will the action include tree cutting or other means of knocking down or bringing down 
trees, tree topping, or tree trimming?
No
Will the proposed action result in the use of prescribed fire?  
 
Note: If the prescribed fire action includes other activities than application of fire (e.g., tree cutting, fire line 
preparation) please consider impacts from those activities within the previous representative questions in the key. 
This set of questions only considers impacts from flame and smoke.

No
Does the action area intersect the northern long-eared bat species list area?
Automatically answered
Yes
[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.5 miles of radius of an entrance/opening to 
any known NLEB hibernacula? Note: The map queried for this question contains 
proprietary information and cannot be displayed. If you need additional information, 
please contact your State wildlife agency.
Automatically answered
No

https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
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28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.25 miles of a culvert that is known to be 
occupied by northern long-eared or tricolored bats? Note: The map queried for this question 
contains proprietary information and cannot be displayed. If you need additional information, please contact your 
State wildlife agency.

Automatically answered
No
[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.25 miles of a culvert that is known to be 
occupied by northern long-eared or tricolored bats?
Automatically answered
No
[Semantic] Is the action area located within 150 feet of a documented northern long-eared 
bat roost site? 
 
Note: The map queried for this question contains proprietary information and cannot be 
displayed. If you need additional information, please contact your State wildlife 
agency.Have you contacted the appropriate agency to determine if your action is within 
150 feet of any documented northern long-eared bat roosts? 
 
Note: A document with links to Natural Heritage Inventory databases and other state- 
specific sources of information on the locations of northern long-eared bat roosts is 
available here. Location information for northern long-eared bat roosts is generally kept in 
state natural heritage inventory databases – the availability of this data varies by state. 
Many states provide online access to their data, either directly by providing maps or by 
providing the opportunity to make a data request. In some cases, to protect those resources, 
access to the information may be limited.  
Automatically answered
No
Is suitable summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat present within 1000 feet of 
project activities? 
If unsure, answer "Yes." 
 
Note: Additional information defining suitable summer habitat for the northern long-eared bat and tricolored bat 
can be found in Appendix A of the USFWS’ Range-wide Indiana Bat and Northern long-eared bat Survey 
Guidelines at: https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey- 
guidelines.

No
Does the action area intersect the tricolored bat species list area?
Automatically answered
Yes

https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
https://www.fws.gov/media/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
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33.

34.

35.

36.

[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.5 miles of radius of an entrance/opening to 
any known tricolored bat hibernacula? Note: The map queried for this question contains 
proprietary information and cannot be displayed. If you need additional information, 
please contact your State wildlife agency.
Automatically answered
No
[Semantic] Is the action area located within 0.25 miles of a culvert that is known to be 
occupied by northern long-eared or tricolored bats? Note: The map queried for this question 
contains proprietary information and cannot be displayed. If you need additional information, please contact your 
State wildlife agency.

Automatically answered
No
Is suitable summer habitat for the tricolored bat present within 1000 feet of project 
activities? 
(If unsure, answer ""Yes."") 
 
Note: If there are trees within the action area that may provide potential roosts for tricolored bats (e.g., clusters of 
leaves in live and dead deciduous trees, Spanish moss (Tillandsia usneoides), clusters of dead pine needles of 
large live pines) answer ""Yes."" For a complete definition of suitable summer habitat for the tricolored bat, 
please see Appendix A in the Service's Range-wide Indiana Bat and Northern long-eared Bat Survey Guidelines.

No
Do you have any documents that you want to include with this submission?
No

https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/range-wide-indiana-bat-and-northern-long-eared-bat-survey-guidelines
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PROJECT QUESTIONNAIRE
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IPAC USER CONTACT INFORMATION
Agency: Private Entity
Name: Joe Scala
Address: 75 John Roberts Rd., Suite 4A
City: South Portland
State: ME
Zip: 04106
Email jscala@sebagotechnics.com
Phone: 2074826337





















































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14 York Street | Portland ME 04101 | T 207.245.6060 | www.ThorntonTomasetti.com  

 

Via email: amlacouture@icloud.com 

 

May 27, 2025 (Revised) 

 

Amy LaCouture 

c/o 39 Main Street 

Camden, Maine 

 

RE: TEMPORARY STABILIZATION, 39 MAIN STREET, CAMDEN, MAINE 

Thornton Tomasetti Project No. 25014925 

 

Dear Amy, 

 

We have discussed a temporary stabilization scheme with you contractor, Higgins & Sons, 

LLC (Higgins) which includes installing 6x6 posts on either side of the failed column.  

Attachment A includes a photo markup and sketch of the temporary stabilization as 

discussed with Higgins. 

 

This temporary stabilization is intended to provide an alternate load path for the structure 

and is not intended to be a permanent repair.  The temporary stabilization shall remain in 

place while final repair documents are prepared and will be replaced with a permanent 

structural repair thereafter.   

 

The temporary stabilization is necessary because several prior reports prepared by 

engineers retained by the Town of Camden, and the Town’s 10-4-2024 Notice of Violation 

sent to the prior owner of 39 Main Street, have expressly identified the failure of this support 

column as “hazardous” and directed the owners of 39 Main Street to take: “PROMPT and 

immediate action” to “temporarily stabilize” 39 Main Street.   

 

Specifically, the assessment of the structural condition of 39 Main Street in Table A1 of the 

12-12-2018 Gartley & Dorsky (“G&D”) Report, prepared as part of an engineering 

assessment by Carmen Bombeke, P.E., regarding the possible impacts of removal or breach 

of the Montgomery Dam on 16 existing structures, includes a statement that: 

 

5.  Steel pipe column at northeast corner is severely deteriorated at splice location: 

condition is hazardous [bold and underlining in original report].   

 



 

 

 

Mrs. Amy LaCouture   

RE: TEMPORARY STABILIZATION, 39 MAIN STREET, CAMDEN, MAINE 

TT Project No. 25014925 

Date Page 2 of 2 

 

 
More recently, a picture of the failed column was included in the 10-4-2024 Notice of 

Violation (“NOV”), issued by the Town of Camden (See, image above).   

 

Indeed, the 10-4-2024 NOV expressly referenced this failed column as a basis for the Town 

declaring 39 Main Street a “Dangerous Building” pursuant to 17 M.R.S. 2851, and states in 

relevant part that: “Actions must be taken to immediately stabilize the building to make 

it safe and to ensure that the building and the equipment are no longer unsafe and 

dangerous, as determined by the Code Enforcement Officer(s).” (10-4-2024 NOV at p. 5 

(emphasis supplied)). 

 

Similar statements and photos of this failed column were also included in the 12-18-2024 

WBRC “Dangerous Building Evaluation” by Joshua Crofton-Macdonald, P.E.  

 

Accordingly, Thornton Tomasetti, Inc. prepared a signed and sealed plan for immediately 

undertaking the temporary stabilization of this failed column, which was provided to officials 

for the Town of Camden on May 1, 2025.   

 

Very truly yours, 

 

THORNTON TOMASETTI, INC. 

 

 

 

 

 

Ethan A. Rhile, P.E.  

Associate Principal 

 

Attachments [Attachment A] 

 

P:\ME1\Projects\25014925.01 - 39 Main St\02 Comm\2.1 Corresp\39 Main St - TT Temporary Stabilization Letter.docx 
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